FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

(Provisional Liquidators Appointed)

EREmMBMEEZERAER2F
(BEEREIEEA)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(RHEERETMRIZBRATR)

HK Stock Code &ER MR 279

(Since 1988) (H1988%F)

2020/2021
Annual Report

F iR



Corporate Information

Management Discussion and Analysis
Biographical Details of Directors

Corporate Governance Report
Environmental, Social and Governance Report
Directors’ Report

Independent Auditor’s Report

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Financial Statements

Five Year Financial Summary

NEER
BB LT
EXEEFB

NN
/B

il

R

St

*x

BRE -HEMERME

ExEHS

BB RE

SRR T

hFHHHRE

Contents

B &

Page
N

20
24
36
46
55
62
63
64
66
68
71

200

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)

1



2

Corporate Information

REEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Choi Wai Hong, Clifford (appointed on 19 November 2020)
Mr. Lau Fu Wing, Eddie* (appointed on 30 June 2021)

Mr. Yau Pak Yue (appointed on 1 July 2020)

Mr. Yang Haoying (resigned on 1 July 2020)

Mr. Ye Ye (resigned on 1 July 2020)

Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Ang Mei Lee Mary (appointed on 17 December 2020)
Mr. Chung Wai Man (appointed on 17 December 2020)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. An Dong

Mr. Fung Tze Wa

Mr. Wu Keli

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. An Dong

Mr. Fung Tze Wa#

Mr. Wu Keli

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. An Dong*

Mr. Fung Tze Wa

Mr. Wu Keli

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. An Dong*

Mr. Fung Tze Wa

Mr. Wu Keli

COMPANY SECRETARY
NIL

AUDITOR

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
9/F Leighton Centre

77 Leighton Road
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

* Appointed as the Chief Executive Officer with effect from 1 June 2021
# Chairman of the relevant Board Committee

EEe

BITES

RERELE (R-F_FF+—ATLAEZE)
ERELE (RCE_—FNA=THEZE)
BlEBwEE (R-BE_FEF+H—HEZE)
BERAEE (R-ZF_FF+LA—HEHE)
HERE (R-FE_FFLH—HEFET)

FHITES
AEF R (RZF_FF+ AT LAEZE)
BHERAE (R _ZE_ZFF+_A1++tHEZF)

NHBITES
RRELE
BJFERE
M Hsest

BERERE
REAE
BT
3e 5ot

FHERE
REL L
BT L
K32 156

REZR®
RERS L
BT L
52 1% A

NCES
Eiid

£ B il
BB (BB
MRS
EIEETTH
I LB

SETENEKMER QA

* B-ZE-—F XA -BHREZER/THAH
# HHEEZBGZERE

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



LEGAL COUNSELS
Hong Kong

Winston & Strawn LLP
42nd Floor

Bank of China Tower

1 Garden Road

Hong Kong

Cayman Islands

Conyers Dill & Pearman

29th Floor, One Exchange Square
8 Connaught Place

Central, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman

KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
13/F, Fortis Tower

77-79 Gloucester Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Tricor Secretaries Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

WEBSITE

http://www.freeman279.com

TRADING OF SHARES

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(Stock Code: 279)

Corporate Information

DNAEHR

BB
e

Winston & Strawn LLP
B

TEEE 5%

FIRAE

4212

HERS

Conyers Dill & Pearman
HFRPIR

[ 44 [& 15 8517

R 5B H — E291E

EBRERBTT
B LSELRTAERAT

i EE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman

KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

FEEXRMES
BB ET
ETITET77-795
ERAE13E

FEERMBRERSE

PFEMERBERAA
BB
SRANER183%

& e 0542

Mk

http://www.freeman279.com

BinEE
BEABARZIER AR
(R fr 5% : 279)

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)



Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEEN R DN

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
BUSINESS REVIEW

Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited (the “Company”) is an investment
holding company whose subsidiaries are principally engaged in the
provision of financial services in Hong Kong. As at the date of this
annual report, the Group continues to carry out, amongst others, (i)
provision of securities and futures brokerage services; (ii) provision of
margin financing services; (i) provision of placing and underwriting
services; (iv) provision of insurance brokerage and financial planning
services; and (v) provision of asset management and advisory services.

The consolidated net loss for the year ended 31 March 2021 (the
“Period”) of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) was HK$702 million (2020: HK$3,839 million). The
consolidated net liabilities of the Group increased from HK$2,331
million as at 31 March 2020 to HK$2,975 million as at 31 March
2021. The consolidated net loss was mainly attributable to finance
costs of HK$636 million.

APPOINTMENT OF THE JOINT AND SEVERAL
PROVISIONAL LIQUIDATORS AND WINDING-UP
OF THE COMPANY

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
14 May 2019, 27 February 2020, 28 February 2020, 6 April 2020,
27 May 2020, 27 August 2020, 27 November 2020, 1 December
2020, 9 April 2021 and the circular of the Company dated 26 May
2021 (the “Circular”).

On 10 May 2019, the Petitioner filed the Petition against the
Company with the High Court of Hong Kong.

On 27 February 2020, the Company received a Summons taken out
by the Petitioner for the appointment of the joint and several
provisional liquidators of the Company. At the direction of the High
Court, the Summons was fixed for hearing before the High Court on
28 February 2020.

On 28 February 2020, the High Court ordered that Messrs. Lai Kar
Yan (Derek) and Ho Kwok Leung Glen of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
be appointed as provisional liquidators (the “Provisional Liquidators”)
of the Company with power to act jointly and severally until the
determination of the Petition (or further order of the High Court).
Pursuant to the Provisional Liquidators Appointment Order, the
Provisional Liquidators are empowered to, amongst others, take
possession and control of assets of the Group, ascertain and
investigate the affairs of the Group, and to carry on/close/cease the
Group's business operations (in so far for the purpose of protecting
the assets).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

APPOINTMENT OF THE JOINT AND SEVERAL
PROVISIONAL LIQUIDATORS AND WINDING-UP

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

On 26 March 2020, upon application made by the Provisional
Liquidators, the High Court granted an order to extend the
Provisional Liquidators’ power such that the Provisional Liquidators
are empowered, inter alia, to consider and, if thought to be in the
best interests of creditors of the Company, to enter into discussions
and/or negotiations for and on behalf of the Company, for the
purpose of, but not limited to, restructuring of the Company's
business and operations, and/or restructuring or rescheduling the
Company’s indebtedness, or for the sale of its assets, provided that
any such proposed restructuring, rescheduling or sale shall not be
binding on the Company unless and until approved by the High
Court.

On 4 November 2020, upon application made by the Provisional
Liquidators, the Grand Court issued an order, which, among other
things, recognised the Provisional Liquidators Appointment Order
and the Provisional Liquidators presenting and prosecuting a petition
in the Grand Court in respect of the Scheme in furtherance of the
proposed rescue and restructuring of the Company and its debts.

On 1 April 2021, the Provisional Liquidators and the Petitioner jointly
applied to the High Court requesting to vacate the next adjourned
hearing of the Petition to be held on 19 April 2021 and to adjourn it
to a date to be fixed no earlier than August 2021. On 7 April 2021,
the High Court approved the next adjourned hearing of the Petition
will be held on a date to be fixed no earlier than August 2021.

RESTRUCTURING OF THE COMPANY

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
19 March 2020, 13 August 2020, 27 August 2020, 17 November
2020, 23 November 2020, 27 November 2020, 30 December 2020,
22 January 2021, 5 February 2021, 26 February 2021, 27 May 2021,
17 June 2021 and 24 June 2021 and the Circular dated 26 May
2021.

Suspension of trading in shares of the Company

Trading in the shares of the Company on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) has been suspended
with effect from 1:12 p.m. on 28 February 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEEN R DN

RESTRUCTURING OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Resumption Guidance

On 19 March 2020, the Company received a letter from the Stock
Exchange, in which, inter alia, the Stock Exchange set out the
following Resumption Guidance for the Company:

1. demonstrate the Company’s compliance with Rule 13.24 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the "Listing Rules”);

2. have the winding-up petition(s) withdrawn or dismissed and the
joint and several provisional liquidators discharged; and

3. inform the market of all material information for the
Company'’s shareholders and other investors to appraise the
Group's position.

On 30 June 2020, the Company received a letter from the Stock
Exchange, in which the Stock Exchange set out the following
additional resumption guidance for the Company:

4. publish all outstanding financial results and address any audit
modification(s).

Under Rule 6.01A(1) of the Listing Rules, it may cancel the listing of
any securities that have been suspended from trading for a
continuous period of 18 months. In the case of the Company, the
18-month period expires on 27 August 2021 (the “Deadline”). The
Stock Exchange advised that if the Company fails to remedy the
issues causing its trading suspension, fulfil the resumption guidance
and fully comply with the Listing Rules to the Stock Exchange’s
satisfaction, the Listing Division will recommend the Listing
Committee to proceed with the cancellation of the Company's
listing. Under Rules 6.01 and 6.10 of the Listing Rules, the Stock
Exchange also has the right to impose a shorter specific remedial
period, where appropriate.

The Company will take appropriate steps to fully comply with the
Listing Rules to the Stock Exchange's satisfaction in order to have
trading in the Company’s shares resumed. The Company will keep
the public informed of developments in this regard by making
further announcements as and when appropriate.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

RESTRUCTURING OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Proposed Restructuring of the Group

On 13 August 2020, the Company, the Provisional Liquidators and
Radiant Alliance Limited (the “Investor”) entered into the Term
Sheet, setting out the key commercial terms of the proposed
restructuring of the Company.

On 2 September 2020, the Provisional Liquidators obtained the
sanction from the High Court for entering into, among others, the
Term Sheet and all requisite agreements arising therefrom in order to
implement the proposed Restructuring.

On 10 September 2020, the Company, the Provisional Liquidators
and the Investor entered into the Restructuring Deed, pursuant to
which the Company, the Provisional Liquidators and the Investor
agreed on the principal terms of the Restructuring which shall
include, among others, (a) the provision of the First Loan and the
Second Loan by the Investor; (b) the Subscription; (c) the Share
Premium Cancellation; (d) the Resumption; (e) if the Resumption is
not approved by the Stock Exchange, the Acquisition; and (f) the
Schemes.

The Investor is a limited liability company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands, which is wholly-owned by Divine Artemis Limited and
is in turn wholly-owned by Dr. Cheng Chi-Kong, Adrian. Dr. Cheng is
the executive vice-chairman and chief executive officer of New World
Development Company Limited; executive director of NWS Holdings
Limited, and Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited; and a non-
executive director of New World Department Store China Limited,
Giordano International Limited and New Century Healthcare Holding
Co. Limited, all being listed public companies in Hong Kong.

Pursuant to the First Loan Agreement, the Investor has paid
HK$161,174,982, being an amount equivalent to the LC Agreed
Consideration, to the Designated Account for the purpose of
repayment to the LC Secured Lender upon all relevant conditions set
out therein being satisfied.

On 21 October 2020, the Securities and Futures Commission of
Hong Kong (the “SFC") has approved the Investor to become a
substantial shareholder of the Licensed Corporations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEEN R DN

RESTRUCTURING OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Proposed Restructuring of the Group (Continued)

As part of the Schemes, the Group will undergo a group
reorganisation pursuant to which the Company will transfer all its
right, title and interest in and to the Excluded Subsidiaries to a
nominee of the Scheme Administrators at a nominal value. After
such transfer, proceeds from the realisation of any existing assets of
the Excluded Subsidiaries will be distributed for the benefit of the
Scheme Creditors. Upon completion of the proposed Restructuring
(subject to a number of conditions precedent being fulfilled or
waived), the Retained Subsidiaries, namely Freeman Securities
Limited (“FSL"”), Freeman Commodities Limited (“FCL"), Freeman
Corporate Finance Limited, Freeman Prestige Wealth Management
Limited, People Securities Company Limited, Freeman Trustee
Limited, the Turnbridge Companies, Freeman Technology Limited and
Freeman FullNode Limited and any other investment holding
companies incorporated solely for the purpose of holding any of the
Retained Subsidiaries will remain in the Retained Group.

On 24 December 2020, upon application made by the Provisional
Liquidators, the Grand Court and the High Court have approved the
convening of the Scheme Meetings.

On 22 January 2021, the resolution to approve the Scheme was duly
passed at the Scheme Meetings.

On 2 February 2021 (Hong Kong time) and 3 February 2021
(Cayman Islands time), the High Court and the Grand Court have
sanctioned without modification the Hong Kong ListCo Scheme
under Hong Kong law and the Grand Court has sanctioned without
modification the Cayman Islands ListCo Scheme under the Laws of
Cayman Islands, respectively.

On 10 March 2021, the Company submitted the Resumption
Proposal to the Stock Exchange. On 4 May 2021 and 17 June 2021,
the Company submitted to the Stock Exchange the latest revised
Resumption Proposal (the “Revised Resumption Proposal”)
addressing comments from the Stock Exchange. As at the date of
this annual report, the Company is in the course of addressing
comments from the Stock Exchange on the Revised Resumption
Proposal.

On 26 May 2021, the Company despatched the Circular to the
Shareholders, containing, among others, details of (i) the
Restructuring Deed; (ii) the Specific Mandate; (iii) the Whitewash
Waiver; (iv) the Special Deals; (v) the letter from the independent
financial adviser to the Independent Shareholders; and (vi) a notice
of the EGM.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

RESTRUCTURING OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Proposed Restructuring of the Group (Continued)

On 17 June 2021, all the resolutions contemplated under the
Restructuring Deed were duly passed by the Shareholders or the
Independent Shareholders (as the case may be) by way of poll at the
EGM of the Company.

On 17 June 2021, all Conditions Precedent have been fulfilled for
the release of the proceeds of the First Loan from the Designated
Account to the ListCo Account for repayment to the LC Secured
Lender.

Accordingly, on 24 June 2021:

(iii)

the proceeds of the First Loan (less the Retention Money) was
released from the Designated Account to the ListCo Account,
and subsequently paid to the LC Secured Lender;

the LC Secured Lender, FFIC, Freeman Corporation, AUL, FUIL,
the Company and the Provisional Liquidators entered into a
consent deed, pursuant to which the LC Secured Lender,
among others, granted the Consent to the effect and intent
that none of the Retained Subsidiaries shall be held by any
company (whether directly or indirectly) the shares of which (i)
have been mortgaged to the LC Secured Lender or (ii) are
subject to any form of encumbrances whether created under or
otherwise resulting from the Facility Agreement and/or the
Share Mortgage;

FSL as assignor and the LC Secured Lender as assignee entered
into a deed of assignment, pursuant to which all the right,
title, benefits and interest in and arising from or in respect of
the residue sum that is left after FSL completes the SSCL
Disposal and uses the proceeds generated therefrom to repay
to the SSCL Secured Creditor to settle all outstanding liabilities
owing to the SSCL Secured Creditor was assigned by FSL to the
LC Secured Lender; and

FSL, FCL, FPWML, FCFL(HK), People and FTL, each as an assignor,
and DUL, HFSL, FCFL(BVI), FU Securities and Freeman Agency
Services Limited, each as an assignee, entered into a deed of
assignment, pursuant to which the Assets were assigned by the
assignors to the assignees to the effect that such Assets were
assigned to companies the shares of which have been (directly or
indirectly) mortgaged to the LC Secured Lender.

Upon Resumption, if so approved by the Stock Exchange, the
Investor shall hold approximately 75% of the enlarged issued share
capital of the Company upon completion of the First Loan
Conversion, the Subscription, the issue of the Scheme Shares, the
Placing Down and the Second Loan Conversion.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEEN R DN

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group held investments in associates with
no value as the financial information of all the associates for the
year ended 31 March 2021 is not available to the Group,
representing (i) 31.74% (2020: 31.74%) effective shareholding
interests in Imagination Holding Limited (“Imagination”), (ii) 28.13%
(2020: 36.17%) shareholding interests in Jocasta Ventures Ltd
("Jocasta”), and (iii) 17.61% (2020: 31.38%) shareholding interests
in FreeOpt Holdings Limited (“FreeOpt”).

Imagination is a company incorporated in the Republic of the
Marshall Islands and an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the provision of money lending service and
investment holding.

Jocasta is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and an
investment holding Company. Its subsidiary is principally engaged in
the provision of money lending service.

FreeOpt is a company incorporated in the Republic of the Marshall
Islands and an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the provision of money lending service.

The Group accounted for the investments in associates using the
equity method.

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group recorded non-current other
financial assets of HK$745 million (2020: HK$686 million),
representing (i) an unlisted equity investment with 12.17% (2020:
12.17%) equity interest in Shengang Securities Company Limited
(the "Securities Company”), a full-licensed securities company in
China (Shanghai) Pilot Free Trade Zone of the Closer Economic
Partnership Arrangement between Mainland China and Hong Kong
of HK$722 million (2020: HK$660 million) (with an original
investment cost of Renminbi (“RMB"”) 525 million as at the end of
both reporting periods), representing 50.9% (2020: 58.9%) of the
total assets of the Group of HK$1,418 million (2020: HK$1,120
million); and (ii) listed securities of The Philippine Stock Exchange,
Inc. ("PSE”, whose shares are listed on The Philippine Stock
Exchange, Inc., symbol: PSE) with a carrying amount of HK$23
million (2020: HK$26 million) (with an original investment cost of
Philippines Peso (“PHP"”) 252 million as at the end of both reporting
periods), representing 1.6% (2020: 2.3%) of the total assets of the
Group, representing 1.2% (2020: 1.2%) of PSE’s total issued shares.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

Securities Company

The Securities Company is principally engaged in securities
brokerage, securities underwriting and sponsoring, securities
trading and securities asset management related businesses in
China. Based on the audited financial statements of the
Securities Company for the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Securities Company recorded revenue of RMB1,422 million
(equivalent to HK$1,599 million) (2019: RMB785 million
(equivalent to HK$890 million)), net profit for the year of
RMB331 million (equivalent to HK$372 million) (2019: RMB75
million (equivalent to HK$82 million)), total assets of RMB9,535
million (equivalent to HK$10,719 million) (2019: RMB9,475
million (equivalent to HK$10,587 million)) and net assets of
RMB4,407 million (equivalent to HK$4,954 million) (2019:
RMB4,076 million (equivalent to HK$4,555 million)).

References are made to the announcements of the Company
dated 17 November 2020 and 10 February 2021. On 10
November 2020, FSL, the Provisional Liquidators, Jiangsu
Shagang Group Company Limited* CTEAHMERMBRAF)
(the "SSCL Purchaser”) and Cheery Plus Limited (the “SSCL
Secured Creditor”) entered into a term sheet, pursuant to
which FSL conditionally agreed to sell, and the SSCL Purchaser
conditionally agreed to acquire, 12.17% of shareholding
interest in the Securities Company at the consideration of
RMB600 million.

On 9 February 2021, FSL, the Provisional Liquidators, the SSCL
Purchaser and the SSCL Secured Creditor entered into the SSCL
Disposal Supplemental Term Sheet, pursuant to which the
parties agreed to amend and supplement the terms of the SSCL
Disposal Term Sheet. On the same date, FSL, the Provisional
Liquidators and the SSCL Purchaser entered into the SSCL
Share Transfer Agreement, pursuant to which FSL conditionally
agreed to sell, and the SSCL Purchaser conditionally agreed to
acquire, the SSCL Interest at the consideration of RMB600
million.

The SSCL Purchaser has paid RMB90 million to the Provisional
Liquidators as deposit. As at the date of this annual report, the
Securities Company did not have material impact on the
earnings of the Group.

* for identification purpose only
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EEENRR DN

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

PSE

PSE and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision
of trading, clearing, depository and information services for the
equity market in the Philippines. The stock price of the listed
securities of PSE as at 31 March 2021 amounted to PHP142.8
(equivalent to HK$23) per share (2020: PHP169 (equivalent to
HK$26) per share). Based on the annual report of PSE for the
financial year ended 31 December 2020, PSE and its
subsidiaries recorded revenue of PHP1,314 million (equivalent
to HK$205 million) (2019: PHP1,291 million (equivalent to
HK$196 million)), profit for the year of PHP657 million
(equivalent to HK$103 million) (2019: PHP679 million
(equivalent to HK$103 million)), total assets of PHP6,806
million (equivalent to HK$1,097 million) (2019: PHP6,289
million (equivalent to HK$966 million)) and net assets of
PHP5,465 million (equivalent to HK$881 million) (2019:
PHP4,817 million (equivalent to HK$740 million)). As at the
date of this annual report, PSE did not have material impact on
the earnings of the Group.

Entity A

At the end of the Period, the Company had an unlisted equity
investment with 15.20% (2020: 19.06%) equity interest in an
investment holding Company (“Entity A”), with an original
investment cost of HK$600 million. Due to the non-
cooperation of the management of Entity A, the directors of
the Company (the “Directors”) had been unable to obtain and
access to the books and records and no sufficient financial
information of Entity A as at and for the years ended 31 March
2021 and 2020 is available to the Directors. There was a fair
value loss of investment in Entity A of HK$842 million recorded
for the year ended 31 March 2020 and there were no carrying
amount of Entity A as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS

Investment at fair value through profit or loss carries value less than
5% of the Group’s net assets as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

The Group recorded net unrealised gains of investments at fair value
through profit or loss of HK$99 million (2020: net losses of HK$20
million) for the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS (continued)

The Group realised its investments in listed securities with a carrying
value of HK$4 million (2020: HK$63,000) for aggregate gross
proceeds of HK$15 million (2020: HK$15,000), resulting net realised
gains of investments at fair value through profit or loss of HK$11
million (2020: net losses of HK$48,000) for the current year.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
DECONSOLIDATION OF COMPANIES LOST
CONTROL

Since the books and records of some of the Company’s subsidiaries
(i.,e. Wins Finance and its subsidiaries) are not available to the
Provisional Liquidators and the Directors, the Directors cannot
ascertain the financial position of those subsidiaries after 31 March
2019. Together with the fact that the Company has lost control over
those subsidiaries, the Directors are of the view that those
subsidiaries should be deconsolidated from the Group with effect
from 1 April 2019.

REVENUE AND PROFIT

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group’s consolidated
turnover was HK$26 million (2020: HK$69 million), consolidated net
loss was HK$702 million (2020: HK$3,839 million). The consolidated
net loss was mainly attributable to finance costs of HK$636 million.

Income from securities and futures brokerage, placing, underwriting
and margin financing services was HK$13 million, representing a
significant decrease of 73.5% as compared to HK$49 million in 2020
due to adverse publicity surrounding the Group. Insurance brokerage
income significantly decreased by 71.4% to HK$2 million as
compared to HK$7 million in 2020 due to the outbreak of COVID-19
and travel restrictions. The Group had no interest income from
provision of finance for the Period as compared to HK$13 million in
2020 as the Group had not engaged into new loan contracts for the
Period. There were no corporate finance advisory fee and factoring
interest income for the both reporting periods ended 31 March 2021
and 2020.
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REVENUE AND PROFIT (continued)

The Group recorded an allowance for expected credit losses as
provision for impairment loss of accounts receivable of HK$650,000
for the Period for its accounts receivable balance arising mainly from
the margin clients of the Group at the end of the Period. The Group
had made no provision for impairment losses for loans receivable
and factoring receivables for the Period (2020: HK$266 million and
HK$298 million, respectively) based on the ageing of the overdue
balances, borrowers’ creditworthiness and historical write-off
experience, and represented the allowance provided for the
estimated loss arising from the inability of third party borrowers to
make required repayments to the Group as at 31 March 2021. The
Group continued to follow up with other third party borrowers
including convening litigations and arranging settlements.

The accumulated provision for impairment loss of loans receivable of
HK$1,792 million represented the allowance provided for the
estimated loss in relation to certain third party borrowers that the
Group believes that will not be able to fully collect the overdue
balances.

The accumulated provision for impairment loss of factoring
receivables of HK$313 million represented the allowance provided
for the estimated loss in relation to certain third parties that the
Group has not received any repayment of the overdue factoring
receivables.

Finance costs of HK$636 million for the Period (2020: HK$696
million) were mainly due to interest accrued due to default and
cross-default on certain loans.

Other income and gains substantially increased to HK$13 million for
the Period (2020: HK$3 million). During the Period, the Group
obtained government grants in Hong Kong of HK$2 million under
Employment Support Scheme and financial support in PRC of RMB2
million (equivalent to HK$2 million) under Special Fund for Financial
Services Development in Sino-Singapore Tianjin Eco-city* (A ¥ K)#
FRBSBRGEXRERERES) (2020: Ni).

The Group recorded net unrealised gains on investments at fair value
through profit or loss of HK$99 million for the Period (2020: net
losses of HK$20 million). No result has been shared from associates
for the both reporting periods ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 as
there is no sufficient financial information of the associates available
to the Group.

* for identification purpose only
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Management Discussion and Analysis

REVENUE AND PROFIT (continued)

Cost saving is a continuous aim in monitoring daily operations by the
Group. This Period, general and administrative expenses amounted
to HK$66 million, representing a decrease of 44.1% as compared to
HK$118 million in 2020 which was mainly due to a decrease in staff
costs and legal and professional fees. Total employee benefit
expenses (excluding directors’ remuneration) amounted to HK$31
million for the Period (2020: HK$43 million). Legal and professional
fees amounted to HK$3 million (2020: HK$18 million) were incurred
for the Period mainly for the Petition with details as stated under the
paragraphs headed “Contingent Liabilities” and for the legal
proceedings against certain borrowers and margin clients with
overdue balances.

Net loss attributable to shareholders of the Company
("Shareholders”) for the Period was HK$702 million (2020:
HK$3,839 million). Basic and diluted loss per share was HK$0.38
(2020: HK$2.18).

FINAL DIVIDEND
No dividend was declared during the year ended 31 March 2021
(2020: Nil).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had total assets of HK$1,418
million (2020: HK$1,120 million) and total liabilities of HK$4,393
million (2020: HK$3,451 million). The net liabilities of the Group as
at 31 March 2021 were HK$2,975 million (2020: HK$2,331 million).
As at 31 March 2021, net current liabilities of the Group amounted
to HK$3,714 million (2020: HK$3,019 million) with cash and bank
balances of HK$399 million (2020: HK$150 million) and the current
ratio (current assets/current liabilities) was 0.15 (2020: 0.12). The
Group had secured borrowings of HK$2,683 million (2020:
HK$2,683 million) and unsecured borrowings of HK$358 million
(2020: HK$73 million). Gearing ratio, calculated on the basis of the
Group’s borrowings divided by the equity attributable to the ordinary
equity holders of the Company at 31 March 2021 and 2020 were
not available as the Group had deficit in its equities. The borrowings
of the Group carried floating interest rates calculated by reference to
the Hong Kong Dollar Prime Rate or lender’s costs of funds were
made in Hong Kong dollar and United States (“US"”) dollar. The
Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to Hong Kong dollar and
US dollar. As Hong Kong dollar is pegged to US dollar, the foreign
exchange risk exposures are considered limited. The Group did not
have any financial instruments used for hedging purpose.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE (Continued)

In August 2019, the Company raised net proceeds from issue of
300,000,000 new shares of approximately HK$44 million in which
the majority of the net proceeds had been utilised as intended as
repayment of interest under the notes and convertible notes of
approximately HK$28 million and the general working capital of the
Group of approximately HK$3 million. The remaining proceeds of
approximately HK$13 million have been remained in the Company
and controlled by the Provisional Liquidators pursuant to the
Appointment Order.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had net deficiencies in assets of
HK$2,975 million (31 March 2020: HK$2,331 million).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2021, US$90 million (equivalent to HK$702 million)
of borrowings were secured by the shares in the capital of certain
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, 20% equity interest of
Wins Finance held by the Group, and personal guarantees given by
Mr. Zhang Yongdong (“Mr. Zhang”, a substantial shareholder of the
Company) and his spouse.

As at 31 March 2021, US$76 million (equivalent to HK$593 million)
and HK$185 million of borrowings were secured by certain shares in
the capital of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 17.26%
equity interest of Wins Finance held by the Group, certain shares of
Pak Wing Group (Holdings) Limited (currently known as Quantong
Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 8316), certain shares held by Mr.
Zhang and personal guarantees given by Mr. Zhang and his spouse.

As at 31 March 2021, US$99 million (equivalent to HK$772 million)
of borrowings were secured by 30% equity interest of Wins Finance
held by the Group.

As at 31 March 2021, HK$429 million of borrowings were secured
by 12.17% equity interest of the Securities Company held by the
Group.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Proposed restructuring

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
26 May 2021, 17 June 2021 and 24 June 2021 and the Circular
dated 26 May 2021.

On 26 May 2021, the Circular containing, among others, details of
(i) the Restructuring Deed; (ii) the Specific Mandate; (iii) the
Whitewash Waiver; (iv) the Special Deals; (v) the letter from the
independent financial adviser to the Independent Shareholders; and
(vi) a notice of the EGM has been despatched to the Shareholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD (Continued)
Proposed restructuring (Continued)

On 17 June 2021, the Company held an EGM for the purpose of
considering and passing the special and ordinary resolutions of the
Company and all the resolutions contemplated under the
Restructuring Deed were duly passed by the Shareholders or the
Independent Shareholders (as the case may be) by way of poll at the

EGM.

On 17 June 2021, all Conditions Precedent have been fulfilled for
the release of the proceeds of the First Loan from the Designated
Account to the ListCo Account for repayment to the LC Secured
Lender.

Accordingly, on 24 June 2021:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

the proceeds of the First Loan (less the Retention Money) was
released from the Designated Account to the ListCo Account,
and subsequently paid to the LC Secured Lender;

the LC Secured Lender, FFIC, Freeman Corporation, AUL, FUIL,
the Company and the Provisional Liquidators entered into a
consent deed, pursuant to which the LC Secured Lender,
among others, granted the Consent to the effect and intent
that none of the Retained Subsidiaries shall be held by any
company (whether directly or indirectly) the shares of which (i)
have been mortgaged to the LC Secured Lender or (ii) are
subject to any form of encumbrances whether created under or
otherwise resulting from the Facility Agreement and/or the
Share Mortgage;

FSL as assignor and the LC Secured Lender as assignee entered
into a deed of assignment, pursuant to which all the right,
title, benefits and interest in and arising from or in respect of
the residue sum that is left after FSL completes the SSCL
Disposal and uses the proceeds generated therefrom to repay
to the SSCL Secured Creditor to settle all outstanding liabilities
owing to the SSCL Secured Creditor was assigned by FSL to the
LC Secured Lender; and

FSL, FCL, FPWML, FCFL(HK), People and FTL, each as an
assignor; and DUL, HFSL, FCFL(BVI), FU Securities and Freeman
Agency Services Limited, each as an assignee, entered into a
deed of assignment, pursuant to which the Assets were
assigned by the assignors to the assignees to the effect that
such Assets were assigned to companies the shares of which
have been (directly or indirectly) mortgaged to the LC Secured
Lender.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEEN R DN

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS/DISPOSALS

Save as mentioned in this annual report, the Group did not have any
significant investments nor did it make any material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries and associates throughout the year ended
31 March 2021.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had no capital commitments (2020:
Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On 1 April 2021, the Provisional Liquidators and the Petitioner jointly
applied to the High Court requesting to adjourn the hearing of the
Petition to a date to be fixed no earlier than August 2021. On 7
April 2021, the High Court approved the next adjourned hearing of
the Petition will be held on a date to be fixed no earlier than August
2021. As of the date of this annual report, the amount of total loss
is uncertain.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, the Group is not
aware of other material contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2021.

EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION POLICY AND

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

As at 31 March 2021, the Group employed 67 staff members
including the Executive Directors of the Company (2020: 58 staff
members). Staff costs incurred for the year, including directors’
remuneration, were HK$38 million (2020: HK$60 million). The
Company has adopted a share option scheme and the Group
operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefits scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for its employees. During the Period, no share
options were granted or exercised, and all outstanding 115,895,632
share options lapsed.

PROSPECTS

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
17 November 2020, 23 November 2020, 27 November 2020 and the
Circular date 26 May 2021.

The Company has entered into a Restructuring Deed with the Investor
where the principal terms of the Restructuring which shall include,
among others, (a) the provision of the First Loan and the Second Loan
by the Investor; (b) the Subscription; (c) the Share Premium
Cancellation; (d) the Resumption; (e) if the Resumption is not approved
by the Stock Exchange, the Acquisition; and (f) the Schemes.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PROSPECTS (continued)

Upon completion of the proposed Restructuring (subject to a number
of conditions precedent being fulfilled or waived), the Company’s
right, title and interest in and to the Excluded Subsidiaries will be
transferred to a nominee of the Scheme Administrators and the
Excluded Subsidiaries will cease to be subsidiaries of the Company.
All the claims against the Company by the creditors will be
discharged and compromised in full, the financial and liquidity
position of the Retained Group will be substantially improved.

As disclosed in the Circular, the subsidiaries of the Company will (a)
continue to be principally engaged in financial services sector,
including (i) the provision of securities and futures brokerage
services, placing, underwriting and margin financing services; and (ii)
the provision of insurance brokerage and financial planning services;
and (b) develop the businesses in (i) the provision of asset
management and advisory services; and (ii) the provision of
corporate finance advisory services.

The Company will continue to seek new business opportunities to
improve its profitability and business prospects, consolidate or
streamline its existing business, enhance its future business
development and strengthen its revenue base, and may diversify into
other businesses should suitable opportunities arise.

The Directors are confident that upon completion of the proposed
Restructuring, with the support from the Investor, the Retained
Group's business will be improved and the Retained Group will have
sufficient level of operation to maintain its listing status.

APPRECIATION

The Directors would like to take this opportunity express its gratitude
and appreciation to all shareholders, business partners, banks,
professional parties and employees of the Company for their
continuous contributions and support to the Group.

By Order of the Board

Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited
(Provisional Liquidators Appointed)

Lau Fu Wing, Eddie
Chief Executive officer

Hong Kong, 30 June 2021
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEEEFK

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Choi Wai Hong, Clifford (“Mr. Choi”), aged 63, has been
appointed as an Executive Director of the Company in November
2020. He obtained a finance degree in finance and accounting from
The Victoria University of Manchester, United Kingdom, in 1982. Mr.
Choi is a member of (i) The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants; (ii) The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales; (iii) The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants;
and (iv) The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Mr. Choi currently
holds the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
Practising Certificate. Mr. Choi joined Price Waterhouse (currently
known as PricewaterhouseCoopers) in Hong Kong in January 1983
and departed in July 1992 with his last position as manager. He was
subsequently a general manager in DCH MSC (China) Limited, NHK
Distribution Company Limited and Porsche Centre Hangzhou
respectively from July 1992 to June 1999, July 1999 to December
2003 and January 2004 to August 2012. He then joined Princess
Yacht Southern China Limited as a chief executive officer from
September 2012 to November 2012 and later on as a director in the
NHK Yacht Services division of NHK Distribution Company Limited
from 2 December 2012 to August 2017. Mr. Choi then joined Beijing
Glory Star Centre Automotive Sales and Service Company Limited*
(ERBKEERTEHERFEBMRAR) as its general manager from
September 2017 to January 2018. He has re-joined NHK Distribution
Company Limited since February 2018 and currently serves as its
director. Mr. Choi served as an independent non-executive director
of Samson Paper Holdings Limited (Provisional Liquidators
Appointed) (Stock Code: 731) from July 2020 to May 2021 and has
been redesignated as an executive director in May 2021. Mr. Choi is
currently a non-executive director of Xinming China Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 2699) and Silk Road Logistics Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 988) since April 2021 and June 2021, respectively. Mr. Choi is
also an independent non-executive director of South Shore Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 577) since May 2021. He had been an
independent non-executive director of Bolina Holding Co., Ltd (Stock
Code: 1190, the shares of which were delisted from the Stock
Exchange on 10 March 2021) from 13 January 2021 to 10 March
2021.

Mr. Lau Fu Wing, Eddie (“Mr. Lau”), aged 40, has been appointed
as the Chief Executive Officer and an Executive Director of the
Company in June 2021. Mr. Lau has approximately 20 years of
global experience in asset management and brokerage in China and
the United States. Before joining the Company, he held executive
positions with one of the largest Sino-Foreign joint venture fund
management companies in China as a chief investment officer
("CIO") of the international division in Shenzhen, China as well as a
CIO and deputy chief executive officer of its Hong Kong-based
subsidiary. Mr. Lau began his finance career as a convertible bond
trader with UBS in the United States in 2002. He managed absolute-
return portfolios at Elliott Advisors and Merrill Lynch, respectively,
after which he co-founded hedge funds and multi-family offices in
Beijing, China and Hong Kong, China, respectively. Mr. Lau earned a
Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics with Honors from the
University of Chicago in 2002. He is a committee member of the
Hong Kong Football Association. He serves his alma mater as the
President of the UChicago Alumni Club of Hong Kong and as a
board member of the Wah Yan One Family Foundation.

* for identification purposes only
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Yau Pak Yue (“Mr. Yau”), aged 52, was appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company in July 2020. Mr. Yau obtained
his Bachelor of Commerce (majoring in Accountancy) from the
University of Wollongong in Australia. He was the chief knowledge
officer of Guangzhou Chengfa Capital Company Limited, a state-
owned fund management company, from May 2015 to January
2017. Prior to that, he was the chief executive officer of Taiyang
International Cold Chain (Group) Limited from March 2014 to July
2014, and a partner at one of the big four international accounting
firms from June 2005 to November 2012. He has over 23 years of
experience in mergers and acquisitions transaction supports and
financial due diligence. Mr. Yau is currently the executive director of
EWIN Advisory Company Limited. Mr. Yau is also a certified public
accountant in Hong Kong and certified practising accountant in
Australia. Mr. Yau also served as an independent non-executive
director of KEE Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 2011,
currently renamed as China Apex Group Limited) from July 2017 to
November 2019 and Ascent International Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 264, currently renamed as China International Development
Corporation Limited) from September 2017 to August 2018. Mr. Yau
is also currently a non-executive director of Daisho Microline
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 567) since September 2020, an
independent non-executive director of Fullsun International Holdings
Group Co., Limited (Stock Code: 627) since December 2020 and an
independent non-executive director of Hifood Group Holdings Co.,
Ltd (Stock Code: 442) since May 2021.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Ang Mei Lee Mary (“Ms. Ang”), aged 57, has been appointed
as a Non-executive Director of the Company by the joint and several
provisional liquidators of the Company (the “Provisional
Liquidators”) in December 2020. Ms. Ang currently serves as a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Ang graduated
from City Polytechnic of Hong Kong (currently known as City
University of Hong Kong) and holds a Diploma in Accounting. She
has extensive experience in audit, company secretary and corporate
finance. Ms. Ang acted as an executive director of Ocean Grand
Chemicals Holdings Limited (currently known as Hong Kong
Resources Holdings Company Limited) (Stock Code: 2882) from
August 2008 to October 2008 and Ocean Grand Holdings Limited
(currently known as Zhidao International (Holdings) Limited) (Stock
Code: 1220) from September 2008 to January 2012.

Biographical Details of Directors
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Biographical Details of Directors
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Chung Wai Man (“Mr. Chung”), aged 62, has been appointed
as a Non-executive Director by the Provisional Liquidators in
December 2020. Mr. Chung currently serves as a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chung holds a Diploma in Business
Management from the Hong Kong Management Association and a
Certificate of Bank of China Banking Course. He has over 24 years
of experience in finance and business consulting. Mr. Chung started
working in The Kwangtung Provincial Bank in 1976, and his last
position before leaving the bank in 1996 was a manager in charge
of the Tai Po sub-branch. After his departure from The Kwangtung
Provincial Bank, Mr. Chung established Raymond Chung Company in
1996, a finance and business consulting firm for corporations in
Hong Kong. In 2004, he set up another consulting firm, Excel Linker
Capital (Asia) Limited, to provide similar consultancy services. Due to
duplicity of the business nature, Raymond Chung Company was
closed in September 2006. In 2009, Mr. Chung applied to deregister
Excel Linker Capital (Asia) Limited as he decided to quit the
consultancy services market. Mr. Chung acted as an independent
non-executive director of United Gene High-Tech Group Limited
(currently known as Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech Limited)
(Stock Code: 399) from March 2007 to May 2009, Fu Ji Food and
Catering Services Holdings Limited (currently known as Fresh Express
Delivery Holdings Group Co., Limited) (Stock Code: 1175) from June
2011 to July 2013, China Kingstone Mining Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 1380) from February 2013 to July 2015, Fuguiniao Co., Ltd.
(Stock Code: 1819, the shares of which were delisted on 26 August
2019) from September 2017 to May 2018, China Taifeng Beddings
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 873, the shares of which were
delisted on 21 February 2019) from November 2018 to February
2019 and Centron Telecom International Holding Ltd. (Stock Code:
1155, the shares of which were delisted on 1 December 2020) from
April 2018 to February 2020. He acted as an independent non-
executive director from January 2009 to August 2013 and a non-
executive director from August 2013 to September 2014 of U-RIGHT
International Holdings Limited (currently known as Fullsun
International Holdings Group Co., Limited) (Stock Code: 627). Since
June 2017, Mr. Chung an independent non-executive director of
China Huishan Dairy Holdings Company (Stock Code: 6863, the
shares of which were delisted on 23 December 2019). Mr. Chung
has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Hifood Group Holdings Co., Limited (Stock Code: 442) and an
executive director of Silk Road Logistics Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 988) in May 2021 and June 2021 respectively.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVEE DIRECTORS

Mr. An Dong (“Mr. An"), aged 50, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in August
2017. Mr. An holds a Master's degree in Laws from the China
University of Political Science and Law, and has participated in the
Private Equity Investment Program of Peking University HSBC
Business School. Mr. An holds the Lawyer's License of People's
Republic of China, and the Professional Qualifications Certificate
(intermediate level) issued by the China General Chamber of
Commerce. Mr. An has extensive experience in legal affairs in
corporate and banking sector, and he is specialised in asset
restructuring, equity transfer, merger and acquisition, share issuance,
real estate operation and investment, private equity management,
and financial and economic litigation. Mr. An is a partner of a law
firm in China and also a general manager of an investment
management company in China. Mr. An was an independent non-
executive director of Sheng Yuan Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 851)
from November 2019 to June 2020. Mr. An has been appointed as
an independent non-executive director of Hong Da Financial Holding
Limited (currently known as China Wood International Holding Co.,
Limited) (Stock Code: 1822) in March 2020.

Mr. Fung Tze Wa (“Mr. Fung”), aged 64, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in January
2017. Mr. Fung is a certified public accountant and a director of an
accounting firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Fung has many years of
experience in auditing, taxation and company secretarial practice in
Hong Kong. He obtained a master degree in professional accounting
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2000. He is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, The Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong and The Society of Chinese Accountants and
Auditors. Mr. Fung was an independent non-executive director of
HongDa Financial Holding Limited (currently known as China Wood
International Holding Co., Limited) (Stock Code: 1822) from May
2020 to December 2020, an independent non-executive director of
Sheng Yuan Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 851) from May 2018 to
and an independent non-executive director of China Everbright
Technology Limited (currently known as Citychamp Watch &
Jewellery Group Limited) (Stock Code: 256) from April 2004 to
September 2020. He is currently an independent non-executive
director of Imperium Group Global Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
776) since October 2012.

Mr. Wu Keli (“Mr. Wu"), aged 53, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in October
2016. Mr. Wu holds a Master’s degree and a Bachelor’s degree in
Economics from the Capital University of Economics and Business in
China. Mr. Wu has extensive experience in the regulation and
development of the financial services industry in China. Mr. Wu is a
general manager of a supply chain management company in China.

Biographical Details of Directors
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code"”) contained in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its own code on
corporate governance practices. During the reporting period, the
Company appeared to comply, based on the information available to
the directors of the Company (the “Directors”), with the code
provisions as set out in the CG Code, except for the following and
save as otherwise disclosed in this report:

- Section F of the CG Code - Since the Company has no
company secretary from 6 March 2020, the Company was
unable to comply with relevant code provisions under Section F.

- Section J and Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code - The
Company had no Chairman since the resignation of Mr. Ye Ye
("Mr. Ye”) on 1 July 2021 and no Chairman of the Board has
been elected as at the date of this report. The Company had
no Chief Executive Officer (the “CEQ") after the resignation of
Mr. Wong Xiang Hong on 16 March 2020 until Mr. Lau Fu
Wing, Eddie (“Mr. Lau”) has been appointed to fill the casual
vacancy of the position of the CEO with effect from 1 June
2021. Since Mr. Lau’s appointment as the CEO, the relevant
deviation to Code Provision A.2.1 was remediated. During the
absence of a Chairman and a CEO, the Provisional Liquidators
has taken up the roles.

- Section L and Code Provision C.3 of the CG Code - Following
the appointment of the Provisional Liquidators on 28 February
2020, (a) the powers of the Directors have been transferred to
and assumed by the Provisional Liquidators; (b) the Provisional
Liquidators have the power to authorise any Director as they
think fit to assist them in managing the affairs of the Company
and only the current Executive Directors and Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Yau Pak Yue, Mr. Choi Wai Hong, Clifford,
Ms. Ang Mei Lee Mary and Mr. Chung Wai Man (the
“Authorised Directors”) have been so authorised; and (c) no
current Independent Non-executive Directors has been involved
in any affairs of the Company, thus, the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee have not
been maintained.

- Code Provision A.1.1 of the CG Code - Following the
appointment of the Provisional Liquidators on 28 February
2020, the powers of the Directors have been transferred to and
assumed by the Provisional Liquidators. The Provisional
Liquidators authorised the appointments of the Authorised
Directors from 1 July 2020. The Authorised Directors held three
Board meetings during the year ended 31 March 2021.

- Code Provision A.6.7 of the CG Code — Two Independent Non-
executive Directors were unable to attend the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 1 April 2021 as they had
other engagements.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the

“"Model Code”) set

out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiry with all Directors, the Company confirmed that throughout
the reporting period, all Directors have complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1.

Board composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board of Directors of
the Company (the “Board”) comprises three Executive
Directors, namely Mr. Choi Wai Hong, Clifford, Mr. Lau Fu
Wing, Eddie and Mr. Yau Pak Yue, two Non-executive Directors,
namely Ms. Ang Mei Lee Mary and Mr. Chung Wai Man, and
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. An
Dong, Mr. Fung Tze Wa and Mr. Wu Keli. Director’s
biographical details are set out in the Biographical Details of
Directors on pages 20 to 23.

Change in information of Directors

Subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2020, Mr. Ye Ye and
Mr. Yang Haoying resigned as the Executive Directors of the
Company on 1 July 2020. Mr. Yau Pak Yue and Mr. Choi Wai
Hong, Clifford have been appointed as Executive Directors of
the Company on 1 July 2020 and 19 November 2020,
respectively. Ms. Ang Mei Lee Mary and Mr. Chung Wai Man
have been appointed as Non-executive Directors of the
Company on 17 December 2020. Subsequent to the year
ended 31 March 2021, Mr. Lau Fu Wing, Eddie, the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company appointed on 1 June 2021,
has been appointed as an Executive Director of the Company
on 30 June 2021.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors” and as otherwise disclosed in this annual report,
there was no change to any of the information required to be
disclosed in relation to any Director pursuant to the Listing
Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

3. Attendance records of board meetings and other general
meetings
For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Board convened a total
of 3 board meetings. Attendance records of the board
meetings, general meetings and the meetings of the Board
Committees during the year were set out below:

BEE® 2
3. EEReERHEMBRASSIHEDS

B=

T —F=ZRA=+—HLEFE E

ERAHAMRESZEEH -FRN EF
2EH BRASGLEEZBEgEAZY
FIRAESIT

Meetings Attended/Held
e/ BTeE

Annual
General
Meeting

Audit Remuneration  Nomination

Board (Note 1) Committee Committee Committee
RER
BEXE B x40 B2
A (FizE1) ZEg £Eg £8g
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Choi Wai Hong, Clifford ~ ZE&Ext4E (RZF=FF
(appointed on +—A+NBEZA)
19 November 2020) 3/3 171 N/A i@ A N/A i BB N/A 78
Mr. Yau Pak Yue EBiEmEE (RZ25E
(appointed on 1 July 20200 A —RHEZHF) 33 11 N/A T B N/A 73 FB N/A 73 FB
Mr. Yang Haoying BEREE (RZ2ZEE
(resigned on 1 July 2020) +A—HEE) - 000  NATER N/A 73 FB N/A 73 FB
Mr. Ye Ye HELE (RZZZZF
(resigned on 1 July 2020) +A—HEE) - 000  NATERE N/A 73 FB N/A 73 FB
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Ang Mei Lee Mary EEFZLT (RZEZE
(appointed on +TZATtHEZE)
17 December 2020) 3/3 11 N/A NEHA N/A T EF N/A 7~
Mr. Chung Wai Man (appointed EER %4 (RZ2=F
on 17 December 2020) TZAt+BEZA) 33 1 N/A iR NATER  NATER
Independent Non-executive BYEHTES
Directors
Mr. An Dong ZREL (Note 2) (Note 2) (Note 2)
13 01 (M&E2) (MzE2) (B5E2)
Mr. Fung Tze Wa BFELE (Note 2) (Note 2) (Note 2)
13 11 (ff3E2) (F3E2) (P3E2)
Mr. Wu Keli R4 (Note 2) (Note 2) (Note 2)
03 0/1 (M&E2) (M&E2) (B5E2)
Notes: Bt 5
1. The Annual General Meeting of the Company was held on 1 1. ARARERBEFRENR_-_ZT_—FMNA—
April 2021. A&7
2. Following the appointment of the Provisional Liquidators on 28 2. RIZE-TF-_A-T N\HBLZEBRFREER

February 2020, the operation of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee was not
maintained. Therefore, no meeting was held during the year
ended 31 March 2021.

A& ERZES FHEESRREE
BeUR#EREEFE- At BRE-F——
FZA=ZT - BULFEITEETEHE-
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

4,

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is collectively responsible for the leadership, control
and overall strategic development of the Group, as well as
overseeing internal control, financial performance, overall
management and operations of the Group. The Board has
delegated day-to-day operations to management, who is
responsible for implementing the Group’s business strategies
and managing the daily business operations.

Independence of Directors
To the best knowledge of the Company, the Directors do not
have financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships with each other.

During the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of
this annual report, the Company has complied with the
requirements under the Listing Rules and has appointed three
Independent Non-executive Directors, representing more than
one-third of the number of Directors at the Board, with at least
one of the Independent Non-executive Directors has
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of independence, and the Company
considers that all of the Independent Non-executive Directors
are independent in accordance with the guidelines as set out in
the Listing Rules.

Directors’ professional development

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has also arranged in-house
training for Directors and provided the relevant materials to the
Directors.

All Directors have provided record of training to the Company.

=
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

6. Directors’ professional development (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Directors participated
in the following trainings:

EFEY o)

6. EESHERR(#£)
BE-—T-—#=fA=+-QIEE &
Fo2E T

Name Type of trainings
" A g
Executive Directors 1T

Mr. Choi Wai Hong, Clifford

ﬁﬁfcp%f‘ii(ﬁf\_?_?iJr A+hAE

(appointed on 19 November 2020) BEE) A, B
Mr. Yau Pak Yue (appointed on 1 July 2020) BEBEE (RZTE2FTF LA —H
EEE) A, B
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Ms. Ang Mei Lee Mary HEENLZET (RZZEZEF+ZA++H A, B
(appointed on 17 December 2020) BZEE)
Mr. Chung Wai Man EHREE (R =EF+=-A++tH A, B
(appointed on 17 December 2020) BZT)
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES
Mr. An Dong LZERAELE B
Mr. Fung Tze Wa BFESE B
Mr. Wu Keli Mz 7% 4 B
A: in-house training A AEBIEIN
B:  attending seminars and/or forums and/or reading relevant B: HWEMISR SimEk kHEREM
materials #
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE EFRRITHER
Mr. Ye is the Chairman of the Company during the period until he HEXREARGBEF BEE_T_TF+H—H
resigned with effect from 1 July 2020. During his tenure of services, B fE  IMEBHAMRE - ﬁﬁé?ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%?ﬁﬁ%@

he provided leadership for the Board. One of the major roles of Mr.
Ye was to ensure that the Board worked effectively and discharged
its responsibility properly. Mr. Ye also ensured that good corporate
governance practice was in force from time to time, and all key
issues had been discussed by the Board in a timely manner.
Following the resignation of Mr. Ye, no Chairman of the Board was
elected.

Following the resignation of Mr. Wong Xiang Hong as the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company (the “CEQ") with effect from 16
March 2020, no CEO was appointed for the year ended 31 March
2021. Mr. Lau Fu Wing, Eddie has been appointed as the CEO with
effect from 1 June 2021.

To the best knowledge of the Company, the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer do not have financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other during their service
period.

Following the appointment of the Provisional Liquidators on 28
February 2020, the powers of the Directors have been transferred to
and assumed by the Provisional Liquidators.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Ang Mei Lee Mary and Mr. Chung Wai Man have been
appointed as non-executive directors of the Company by the Joint
and Several Provisional Liquidators of the Company with effect from
17 December 2020. Each of them has no fixed length of service as a
Non-Executive Director and will hold office until retirement by
rotation or the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
at which each of them will be eligible for re-election. Each of their
directorship with the Company will be subject to rotation
requirements and re-election pursuant to the Articles of Association
of the Company.

BOARD COMMITTEES
1. Audit Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee
comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Fung Tze Wa (Chairman), Mr. An Dong and Mr. Wu Keli.

Following the appointment of the Provisional Liquidators on 28
February 2020, (a) the powers of the Directors have been
transferred to and assumed by the Provisional Liquidators; (b)
the Provisional Liquidators have the power to authorise any
Director as they think fit to assist them in managing the affairs
of the Company and only the Authorised Directors have been
so authorised; and (c) no current Independent Non-executive
Directors has been involved in any affairs of the Company,
thus, the operation of the Audit Committee has not been
maintained as required by the Listing Rules and has not
reviewed the annual results. Appropriate personnel will be
appointed as members of Audit Committee before the
resumption of the trading in the shares of the Company on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

2. Remuneration Committee
As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration
Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. An Dong (Chairman), Mr. Fung Tze Wa
and Mr. Wu Keli.

Following the appointment of the Provisional Liquidators on 28
February 2020, (a) the powers of the Directors have been
transferred to and assumed by the Provisional Liquidators; (b)
the Provisional Liquidators have the power to authorise any
Director as they think fit to assist them in managing the affairs
of the Company and only the Authorised Directors have been
so authorised; and (c) no current Independent Non-executive
Directors has been involved in any affairs of the Company,
thus, the operation of the Remuneration Committee has not
been maintained as required by the Listing Rules. Appropriate
personnel will be appointed as members of Remuneration
Committee before the resumption of the trading in the shares
of the Company on the Stock Exchange.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

3.

Nomination Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination
Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. An Dong (Chairman), Mr. Fung Tze Wa
and Mr. Wu Keli.

Following the appointment of the Provisional Liquidators on 28
February 2020, (a) the powers of the Directors have been
transferred to and assumed by the Provisional Liquidators; (b)
the Provisional Liquidators have the power to authorise any
Director as they think fit to assist them in managing the affairs
of the Company and only the Authorised Directors have been
so authorised; and (c) no current Independent Non-executive
Directors has been involved in any affairs of the Company,
thus, the operation of the Nomination Committee has not been
maintained as required by the Listing Rules. Appropriate
personnel will be appointed as members of Nomination
Committee before the resumption of the trading in the shares
of the Company on the Stock Exchange.

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy setting out the
nomination procedures and criteria for selecting and
recommending candidates for directorship.

Nomination Committee would make recommendations to the
Board regarding the appointment and re-appointment of
Directors, with reference to the skills, knowledge, experiences
education background, professional knowledge, personal
integrity of the proposed candidates, and also the Company’s
needs and other relevant statutory requirements and
regulations required for the positions. A candidate who is to be
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director should
also meet the independence criteria as set out in the Listing
Rules. Qualified candidates will then be recommended to the
Board for approval.

Following the appointment of the Provisional Liquidators on 28
February 2020, the powers of the Directors have been
transferred to and assumed by the Provisional Liquidators. The
operation of the Nomination Committee has not been
maintained. The Authorised Directors are responsible for
managing relevant affairs of the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

5.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board established a set of board diversity policy setting out
the terms and approach to achieve diversity on the Board in
order to enhance its effectiveness and to maintain the high
standards of corporate governance. Board diversity has been
considered from a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service, as well as the Company’s business nature and specific
needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee will
review the Board Diversity Policy on a regular basis to ensure
the Board has the appropriate balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives that are required to support the
execution of its business strategy and in order for the Board to
be effective. Board appointments will continue to be made on
a merit and contribution basis and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, with due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board. The current Board consists of
diverse mix of Board members appropriate to the requirement
of the business of the Company.

Following the appointment of the Provisional Liquidators on 28
February 2020, the powers of the Directors have been
transferred to and assumed by the Provisional Liquidators. The
operation of the Nomination Committee has not been
maintained. The Authorised Directors are responsible for
managing relevant affairs of the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

6. Corporate Governance Function
The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties with written terms of reference as below:

e to develop and review an issuer’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

e to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

e to review and monitor the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

e to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
applicable to employees and Directors; and

e to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Board had reviewed the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance.

Following the appointment of the Provisional Liquidators on 28
February 2020, the powers of the Directors have been
transferred to and assumed by the Provisional Liquidators. The
Authorised Directors are responsible for managing relevant
affairs of the Company.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the remuneration paid/payable
to the Company's external auditor in respect of audit services of the
Group amounted to approximately HK$1,216,000. No non-audit
services fee was incurred for the year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Pursuant to Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules, the Company must appoint
an individual as its company secretary. Following the termination of
employment of Mr. Chan Yee Yuk as the Company Secretary of the
Company with effect from 6 March 2020, the Company failed to
satisfy the abovementioned requirement during the period between 6
March 2020 and 31 March 2021. The position of the company
secretary of the Company is vacant as at the date of this report.

Appropriate personnel will be appointed as the company secretary of
the Company before resumption of the trading in the Company’s
shares on the Stock Exchange.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board is responsible for the system of internal controls and risk
management of the Group and to review its effectiveness. The
internal controls of the Group was designed to provide reasonable
assurance that material assets were protected, business risks
attributable to the Group were identified and monitored properly,
material transactions were executed in accordance with proper
authorisation. It aims to provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.

During the year, a review of key internal control procedures had
been conducted to ensure that processes had been properly carried
out as prescribed in making decisions; the internal control policies
had been properly followed; books and records and documents were
properly maintained; and the investment was in compliance with
relevant legislations, regulations or/and other statutory requirements.

Management currently takes the view that there is no immediate
need to set up an internal audit function in light of the size, nature
and complexity of the Group’s business. The need for an internal
audit function will be reviewed from time to time.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

Investment in listed securities and equity investments are the core of
the Group’s investments which were classified as investments at fair
value through profit or loss and other financial assets, respectively in
the consolidated statement of financial position and may expose to
market price risk and foreign exchange risk. The Board has
continuously monitoring these investments with an aim to reduce
such risks.

Following the appointment of the Provisional Liquidators on 28
February 2020, the powers of the Directors have been transferred to
and assumed by the Provisional Liquidators. The Authorised Directors
are responsible for managing relevant affairs of the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

1.

Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, any
two shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”) may
request the Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting
by way of depositing a written requisition at the registered
office of the Company (Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands)
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the

requisitionists.

Procedures for proposing a person for election as a
Director

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, including the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and
the Articles of Association of the Company, the Company may
from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution
elect any person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board.

A Shareholder may propose a person (the “Person”) for election
as a Director by lodging the following documents at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at 13/F,
Fortis Tower, 77-79 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong:

(1) a notice in writing signed by the Shareholder concerned
of his/her/its intention to propose the Person as a Director
with full particulars of the Person including his/her/its full
name and biographical details as required under the
relevant requirement under the Listing Rules; and

(2) a notice in writing signed by the Person of his/her/its
consent to be elected as a Director.

The period for lodgement of such notice shall commence on
(and include) the day after the despatch of the notice of
meeting appointed for such election and end on (and exclude)
the date that is seven (7) days before the date appointed for
the general meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

3. Procedures for Shareholders to put enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Secretaries Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong. Other Shareholders’ enquiries
can be sent by mail to the Company's principal place of
business in Hong Kong at 13/F, Fortis Tower, 77-79 Gloucester
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong for the attention of the Board.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS
1. The Company’s Constitutional Documents
There is no amendment to the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2021.

2. Communication with Investors
The Company’s corporate website (www.freeman279.com)
facilitates effective communications with Shareholders,
investors and other stakeholders, making corporate information
and other relevant financial and non-financial information
available electronically and on a timely basis. This includes
extensive historical information about the Group’s performance
and activities via Interim Report, Annual Report, announcements
and other corporate information.

Shareholder’s meetings, such as annual general meeting and
extraordinary general meetings, provide another channel for
the Board to meet and communicate with Shareholders. All
Shareholders are provided with sufficient notice to attend the
Shareholders’ meeting. The results of the voting by poll are
published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s
website on a timely basis.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
setting out the principle to determine the declaration of dividends or
recommend such payment which shall be subject to all applicable laws
and regulations as well as the Company’s memorandum and articles
of association. The Board will take into account the Company’s
financial performance, current economic conditions, future prospects
and all relevant factors in determining the declaration of dividends or
recommendation on such payment. The Dividend Policy and its
effectiveness shall be reviewed on a regular basis or as required.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of
financial statements of the Group which give a true and fair view of
the financial position of the Group and of its financial performance
and cash flows. The Directors ensure that the financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2021 have been prepared in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. They
will also ensure the publication of which is in a timely manner.
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SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the "ESG
report”) is prepared by Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited
(Provisional Liquidators Appointed) (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries referred to as the “Group”), highlighting its
Environmental, Social and Governance (the “"ESG") performance,
with disclosure reference made to the ESG Reporting Guide as
described in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”).

The Group is principally engaged in the financial services sector,
including the provision of securities and futures brokerage services,
the provision of margin financing services, the provision of placing
and underwriting services, the provision of insurance brokerage and
financial planning services and the provision of asset management
and advisory services, as well as investment holding.

This ESG report covers the overall performance of the Group in two
subject areas, namely environmental and social issues of the business
operations of head office in Hong Kong and an office in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") for the year ended 31 March 2021,
unless otherwise stated. The Group also has a small office space in
Kwun Tong for a small number of staff. Due to the small scale in
which this location operates, it has been considered immaterial in
this reporting.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND
MATERIALITY

In order to identify the most significant aspects for the Group to
report in this ESG report, key stakeholders, which includes investors,
shareholders, and employees have been involved in regular
engagement sessions to discuss and review areas of attention which
enables the Group to understand the reasonable expectations and
interests of the stakeholders, as well as prepare for future
challenges.

STAKEHOLDERS' FEEDBACK

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on our ESG approach
and performance. Please give your suggestions or share your views
with us via email at info@freeman279.com.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ENVIRONMENTAL

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the business operations of
the Group in Hong Kong were office-based. Therefore,
emissions were mainly related to electricity and paper
consumption. Business trips by flights were minimal such that it
is considered immaterial in this report. During the reporting
period, no material non-compliance in relation to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharge into water and land, and
the generation of hazardous and non-hazardous was noted.

1. Emissions
(i) Air emissions
The business operations of the Group did not
generate any significant direct emissions in relation
to gaseous fuel consumption or vehicles, hence no
such information related to air emissions is
presented in this report.

During the reporting period, the Group complied
with relevant applicable air emission related Hong
Kong laws and regulations including but not limited
to the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311).

(iij) Greenhouse gas emissions
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

Emissions (Continued)

1.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Greenhouse gas emissions (Continued)
Notes:

(i) Emission factors were referred to Appendix 27 of the
Listing Rules and their referred documentation as set
out by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”), unless stated otherwise.

(ii) Emission factors for calculation of emission from
purchased electricity in Hong Kong and in the PRC
were referred to the HK Electric Investments
Sustainability Report 2020 and the grid emission
factors for the Southern China, respectively.

(iii)  tCO.e = tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent

During the reporting period, 94.06 tonnes of carbon
dioxide equivalent (tCO,e) of greenhouse gases
(mainly carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide)
were emitted from the business operations, with an
intensity of 0.16 tCO,e/m?. They were contributed
by purchased electricity and paper waste disposal.

Hazardous waste

The business operations of the Group did not
involve the generation of any significant hazardous
waste. Hence, no such information is presented in
this report.

Non-hazardous waste

Office paper was the main contributor of non-
hazardous waste produced by the Group through its
business operations. 617.63 kg of paper were
consumed for daily office operations such as
document printing, contributed to an aggregate
emission of 2.96 tCO,e.

Measures to mitigate emissions

The business operations of the Group did not
involve any significant forms of direct emissions in
relation to gaseous fuel consumption or vehicles,
hence, no such information is presented in this
report. Mitigation measures for electricity
consumption is described in section 2(iii).

A. BE #)

1.

BB (&)
(i) BEREHK (&)
B & -

(iii)

(iv)

v)

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)

iy KERAEEFIN PFRRBTIE
2Z PR ETREE
BEXZMARAR (B
Frl) T B2 E SRR -

(iy FEEELTEBEENE
SRR D H2E
BEENRENAHEER
#HE2020 % F BTN E
2o

(i) WA SELHRE 8 =M — Atk

L =
B2

%

WMEHN  AEBEBLEED
BEREEHEREZ £94.06M — &
ftmEE (E2H -2 F
MEEREMLTER) BREARFTFH
KOTGME—ELiRE S - 258
EREBHNMEREFABEECZE
NFERENES -

>

EEEREY
REBEBRENS RELEME
MBEABEERY AEARE
RRENZEE -

EEEEY

MAERERAEFEFBHE
BEEEENESEEYNE
BRR - BEMHAEEE (15
ENSC ) JH#E617.63 A T 4% 0 E
£2.96M — AL BHEME

= °

B 15 2 4B Y 7 B
ARBEBEETSRBERR
BRI EWMOEMERX
BEHEN AEABREFRET
R - BNHE ZEMRERD
FA2(iii) & i it o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

1. Emissions (Continued)

(vi) Waste handling and reduction initiatives

The Group continues to practise paper saving
initiatives. Employees are encouraged to print on
both sides of paper and utilise recycled sheets for
draft work purposes. However, documents that
contain confidential information are first shredded
before being disposed at a landfill for security
purposes. Generally, paper is collected by the
property management office for proper recycling
and disposal. With continuous efforts from the
Group, the use of paper in the office decreased,
which accounted for a 65% reduction of paper
consumption compared to the last reporting period.

Office supplies were reused to minimise any
potential waste. Used printer cartridges were
returned to the responsible suppliers for proper
recycling. Reusable dishes and utensils were
provided at pantry for further waste reduction.

During the reporting period, the Group complied
with relevant applicable waste related Hong Kong
laws and regulations including but not limited to the
Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354).

2. Use of resources

(i)

(ii)

Energy consumption

During the reporting period, the offices of the
Group consumed 128,303 kWh of electricity, with
an intensity of 217.46 kWh/m?.

Water consumption

Water supply and discharge of the Group were
managed by the building management office.
Therefore, the costs of usage were included in the
management fees. The Group did not consume
significant amount of water through business
activities and the water consumption was
considered minimal during the reporting period.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

2. Use of resources (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Energy use efficiency initiatives

Since the Group operates in an office setting,
electricity consumed for daily use was the most
significant source of emission. Therefore, employees
are constantly reminded to switch off all lights, air
conditioners, computers, monitors, and equipment
before leaving work, and whenever not in use.
Energy efficient electrical appliances, such as
refrigerators with Grade 1 energy label under the
Mandatory Energy Efficiency Labelling Scheme by
the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department,
are prioritised during the purchasing process.
Damaged or waste electrical and electronic
equipment are sent to recyclers for proper
processing.

Water use efficiency initiatives

The business operations of the Group did not
involve any significant use of water. Hence, no such
information is presented in this report.

Packaging materials

No packaging materials were used for the business
operations of the Group. Hence, no such
information is presented in this report.

3. The environment and natural resources
The business operations of the Group had no significant
impact on the environment. Nevertheless, the Group
commits to continue making effort to minimise the use of
resources and related impacts to the natural environment,
as well as complying with relevant laws and regulations.
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B. SOCIAL
1.  Employment and labour practices
(i) Employment

The Group set out policies in relation to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunities, diversity and anti-discrimination for
the business operations of the Group. The Group
strictly complies with relevant applicable laws and
regulations of Hong Kong and the PRC regarding
employment and labour rights. During the reporting
period, no material non-compliance in relation to
employment was noted.

As of 31 March 2021, the Group had 67 employees
who were all working full time. The Group provides
a competitive remuneration package to reward and
retain the employees. Employees are entitled to all
public holidays in Hong Kong or the PRC, in
addition to paid annual leaves, maternity leaves,
group medical insurance, mandatory provident fund,
and standard working hours as set out in each
employee’s employment contract. An individual
performance appraisal system has been established
for providing reviews on employees’” work progress,
potential talent, and contribution towards the future
goals of the Group.

The Group is committed to developing and
supporting equality and diversity in employment
including age, race, colour, nationality, and any
other status, as protected by relevant legislations
and ordinances.

During the reporting period, the Group complied
with relevant applicable employment and labour
related Hong Kong laws and regulations including
but not limited to the Employment Ordinance (Cap.
57), the Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608) and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Cap. 485).

Workforce by age group
(in percentage)

BEREISMETI (BOL) 18-255%

Aged 18-25 Aged 26-35 Aged 36-45 Aged 46-55
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERRSE

B. SOCIAL (continued)

Employment and labour practices (Continued)

1.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Employee health and safety

The Group is committed to complying with relevant
applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong and
the PRC. The Group sets out policies in relation to
providing safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards. During the
reporting period, no non-compliance in relation to
health and safety laws and regulations was noted.

The Group has occupational health and safety
measures in place to ensure a healthy and safe
working environment for employees. The medical
insurance plan that are enjoyed by employees covers
various protections and benefits for medical care.
The Group is dedicated to maintaining a safe,
hygienic, and productive workplace by minimising
the potential risk of work-related accidents and
injuries.

During the reporting period, the Group complied
with relevant applicable employees’ health and
safety related Hong Kong laws and regulations
including the Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance (Cap. 509).

Development and training

The Group organises orientation training for new
employees to ensure that they understand their
rights, welfare, and the human resources system of
the Group. Training programmes are developed
based on the business needs and development goals
of employees. The Group will explore further
training opportunities to equip employees with
knowledge and skills needed to grow with the
business.

Labour standards

During the reporting period, there was no child nor
forced labour in the business operations of the
Group. In terms of employment management, the
Human Resources Department conducts background
checks for new employees to ensure compliance
with relevant applicable laws and regulations in the
relevant jurisdiction regarding child labour and
labour standards. The Group inspects all new
employees’ identity documents or working visas in
prevention of illegal employment. During the
reporting period, no non-compliance in relation to
labour standards as required by related laws and
regulations was noted.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B. SOCIAL (continued)

1. Employment and labour practices (Continued)

(iv) Labour standards (Continued)

The Group complied with relevant applicable labour
standards related Hong Kong laws and regulations
including but not limited to the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57).

2. Operating practices

(i)

(i)

Supply chain management

The Group has standard procedures and policies on
engaging suppliers and contractors related to its
business operations. Suppliers are screened carefully
to ensure that their quality, price, and capability
meets the expectations and standards of the Group.
For the year ended 31 March 2021, there were no
major changes in policies in relation to managing
the environmental and social risks of the supply
chain.

Product responsibility

For the year ended 31 March 2021, there were no
major changes in policies regarding product
responsibility. During the reporting period, no non-
compliance relation to health and safety,
advertising, labelling, and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided as required by
related laws and regulations was noted.

During the reporting period, the Group complied
with relevant applicable laws related to the products
of the Group provided including but not limited to
the Insurance Ordinance (Cap. 41), the Money
Lenders Ordinance (Cap. 163), the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) and the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486).
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERRSE

B. SOCIAL (continued)
2. Operating practices (Continued)

(ii)

Product responsibility (Continued)

Product labelling and quality assurance

The Group provides a high standard of service to
satisfy the investment and financial needs of its
customers. It follows the internal policies and
regulatory requirements when delivering its services,
and regularly reviews the service quality and seeks
customer feedback to identify areas of
improvement. It explains to customers the
underlying risks derived from the financial products
to facilitate their financial decision-making process.
The Group ensures that the information and
marketing materials it provides do not contain any
misleading content, and perform preventive
measures, including the implementation of the
“Know-Your-Customers” procedure to protect
customers’ interests more effectively. Furthermore,
the respective subsidiaries performing relevant
financial services are licensed and regulated under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")
(Cap. 571). Apart from complying with the SFO in
relation to custody of customer assets, the Group
protects its clients’ assets by adopting adequate
controls such as maintaining designated trust
accounts to manage customers’ funds, which are
audited reqgularly by independent accountants.

Customer data protection

The Group acknowledges the importance of
protecting the privacy and confidentiality of its
customers’ information. The Group developed an
internal policy to govern the collection, handling,
and disclosure of clients’ data. Pursuant to the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486), the
Group has prohibited the use of any personal
information of clients by other parties for direct
marketing purposes if unlawful or without both
explicit and implicit consent of the client.

In addition, department leaders safeguard the
confidentiality of customers’ information and
prevent data breaches and information leakages.
Only users with authorised access privileges can
access the sensitive information in the servers. The
Information Technology Department continuously
monitors the use of server and constantly updates
the antivirus software.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B. SOCIAL (continued)
2. Operating practices (Continued)
(iiij) Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to managing all businesses
without undue influence and has regarded honesty,
integrity, and fairness as its core values. The Group
complies with relevant applicable laws and
regulations of Hong Kong and the PRC on
prohibiting bribery and corruption, which include
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201). All
directors of the Company and employees of the
Group are required to strictly follow the policy of
the Group to prevent potential bribery, extortion,
fraud, and money laundering. During the reporting
period, no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its
employees were noted.

3. Community investment

The Group cares for the development of the society and
encourages its employees to participate in charitable
events, and to make contributions by both financial and
non-financial means. The Group has not participated in
any community engagement activities in the reporting
period and will consider potential focus areas and
resources for community contribution in the coming
years.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The Company is an investment holding company. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1
to the financial statements.

Details of the analysis of the Group's revenue and results for the year by
operating segments are set out in note 4 to the financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of the Group’s business review and
prospects can be found in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” section of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2021 and the
financial position of the Group at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 62 to 65. The Directors do not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements and restated/
reclassified/re-presented as appropriate, is set out on page 200. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in the share capital and share options of the
Company during the year are set out in notes 30 and 31 to the
financial statements respectively.

From 1 April 2020 to 30 November 2020, 34,363,522 share options
lapsed, and 81,532,110 share options were outstanding as at 30
November 2020. In December 2020, notices were given to each
existing share option holder according to the terms of the share
option scheme (adopted by the resolution of the Company’s
shareholders on 31 August 2012) to exercise their share options until
close of business on 15 January 2021. As at close of business on 15
January 2021, no share options were exercised and thus all share
options granted under the share option scheme have lapsed and are
not exercisable.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, no share option was granted
or exercised, and all outstanding 115,895,632 share options lapsed
under the 2012 Scheme. As at 31 March 2021, the Company had no
(2020: 115,895,632) shares issuable under outstanding options
granted under 2012 Scheme.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the listed securities of the
Company.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 66 to 67 and note 32 to the financial statements.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, dividends
shall be payable out of the profits or other reserves of the Company.
The Company’s reserves available for distribution to the Company’s
shareholders comprise share premium, capital redemption reserve,
contributed surplus, convertible instruments equity reserve,
distributable reserve, shareholder’s contribution, share option reserve
and accumulated losses. As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, there were
no reserves available for distribution to the equity holders of the
Company under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made no charitable contributions (2020:
Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate revenue attributable to the Group's
five largest customers represents approximately 39% of the Group's
total revenue (excluding the Group's dividend income and net gains
from the sale of investments at fair value through profit or loss) and
the revenue attributable to the Group’s largest customer was
approximately 20% (excluding the Group's dividend income and net
gains from the sale of investments at fair value through profit or
loss).

The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers represent approximately 64% of the Group's
total purchases and the purchases attributable to the Group's largest
supplier were approximately 26% of the Group's total purchases.

As far as the Directors are aware, no Directors, their close associates
or any Shareholder (which to the Directors’ knowledge own more
than 5% of the Company’s share capital) has any shareholding in
the suppliers referred to above as at 31 March 2021.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Choi Wai Hong, Clifford (appointed on 19 November 2020)
Mr. Lau Fu Wing, Eddie* (appointed on 30 June 2021)

Mr. Yau Pak Yue (appointed on 1 July 2020)

Mr. Yang Haoying (resigned on 1 July 2020)

Mr. Ye Ye (resigned on 1 July 2020)

Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Ang Mei Lee Mary (appointed on 17 December 2020)
Mr. Chung Wai Man (appointed on 17 December 2020)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. An Dong

Mr. Fung Tze Wa

Mr. Wu Keli

* Appointed as the Chief Executive Officer with effect from 1 June 2021

In accordance with Articles 95 and 112 of the Company's Articles of
Association, Mr. Lau Fu Wing, Eddie, Mr. An Dong, Mr. Fung Tze Wa
and Mr. Wu Keli will retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

No Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

Based on the register kept by the Company, at 31 March 2021, none
of the Directors, chief executives nor their associates had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") or which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Listing Rules. All share options granted to the Directors under
2012 Scheme have lapsed and are not exercisable in January 2021.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in note 31 to the financial statements headed
“Share Option Scheme”, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of, the
Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors, or
their spouses or children under the age of eighteen, had any right to
subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised any
such rights during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 March 2021, based on the register kept by the Company, the
following persons have interests or short position in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company, being 5% or more of the
Company’s issued share capital, as known to the Company or
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO:

Name of substantial shareholders Capacity

TERREWHSH 514
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Approximate
percentage
of the issued

Total share capital
HEBITRAE
wet BB DL

Dr. Cheng Chi-Kong, Adrian (Note 1)
g EmME L (MRET) SR HE B B R
Divine Artemis Limited (Note 1)
Divine Artemis Limited (FftzE1) RS HE B R
Beneficial owner

BB A

Radiant Alliance Limited (Note 1)
Radiant Alliance Limited (FF5E1)

China Huarong (Macau) International
Company Limited (Note 2)
FEER OB BIBRBRMOABER AR (M5E2) REEHAE M EDR

Beneficial owner

BEmBEAA

Mr. Zhang Yongdong (Note 3)
SROKER S A (FEE3)

InterGlobal Trust Limited (Note 4)
FRETERAT (KMsEd4) TS5 ) B )
Central Huijin Investment Ltd.(Note 5)

RRESKREAREERAE (KEES) NEZESEENEE

Interest in controlled corporation

Interest in controlled corporation

Interest in controlled corporation

Interest in controlled corporation

Interest in controlled corporation

14,945,409,504 (L) 80.00% (L)

14,945,409,504 (L) 80.00% (L)
14,945,409,504 (L) 80.00% (L)

1,288,649,294 (L) 68.98% (L)

100,076,600 (L)
159,574,600 (S)

6.38% (L)
10.18% (S)

300,000,000 (L) 16.06% (L)

211,190,249 (L) 11.30% (L)
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(L):  Long Position
(S):  Short Position
Note 1: Radiant Alliance Limited is wholly-owned by Divine Artemis Limited,
which in turn is wholly-owned by Dr. Cheng Chi-Kong, Adrian.

Note 2: CHINA HUARONG MACAU (HK) INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED is
wholly-owned by China Huarong (Macau) International Holdings
Limited* Bl 2= gh (JRPT) BB AR 15 A BR A & which is controlled by
Huarong (HK) Industrial and Financial Investment Limited as to
approximately 51%. Huarong (HK) Industrial and Financial
Investment Limited is wholly-owned by Huarong Real Estate Co.,
Ltd. which is wholly-owned by China Huarong Asset Management
Co., Ltd.

Note 3: These shares were held by Galaxy Strategic Investment Co. Ltd., a
company wholly-owned by Mr. Zhang Yongdong.

InterGlobal Trust Limited is the sole trustee for Win Faith Trust
whose sole beneficiary is Mr. Liang Yahong.

Note 4:

Note 5: Prosper Talent Limited is wholly-owned by CCBI Investments Limited
which is wholly-owned by CCB International (Holdings) Limited
which is wholly-owned by CCB Financial Holdings Limited which is
wholly-owned by CCB International Group Holdings Limited which is
wholly-owned by China Construction Bank Corporation which is
controlled by Central Huijin Investment Ltd. as to approximately

57.11%.

Save as disclosed above and based on the register kept by the
Company, the Company had not been notified by any persons who
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company at 31 March 2021 as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all the Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the Company’s business were entered into or subsisting during
the year.

* for identification purpose only
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Company is set up by
the Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.
The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Board, who are
authorised by the Shareholders in the annual general meeting,
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics. The Company has
adopted a share option scheme as an incentive, details of the
scheme are set out in note 31 to the financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Company's Articles of Association provides that every Director
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in
relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’
and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and
officers of the Company during the year. The level of the coverage is
reviewed annually.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total number of issued shares is held by the public as at the date of
this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions (which did not constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
discloseable under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules) for the year
ended 31 March 2021 are set out in note 34 to the financial
statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, to the best knowledge of the Directors, there was
no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company values its employees and maintains competitive
remuneration packages to motivate its employees. Throughout the
year, the Group continued to maintain good relationships with its
employees, customers, suppliers, service providers and investors.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events of the Group after the reporting
period are set out in the section of the “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and note 42 to the financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group is committed to building an environmental-friendly
corporation. The Group promotes environmental practices such as
double-sided printing and copying, using recycled paper and
reducing energy consumption of lightings and air-conditioning.

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report is set out on
pages 36 to 45 of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

A report on the corporate governance practices of the Company is
set out on pages 24 to 35 of this annual report.

AUDITOR

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited will retire and a resolution for their
re-appointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

As disclosed in sections headed “Disclaimer of Opinion” and “Basis
for Disclaimer of Opinion” in the independent auditors’ report
contained on pages 55 to 61 of this report, the auditors of the
Company, Crowe (HK) CPA Limited (“Crowe” and the "Auditor”),
did not express an audit opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 (the
“2021 Consolidated Financial Statements”). Due to the
deconsolidation of subsidiaries, adjustment of value of investments
in associates, adjustment of value of investment in unlisted equity
investment, and multiple uncertainties relating to going concern,
Crowe has not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on the 2021
Consolidated Financial Statements (the “Audit Qualification”).

The Directors have been taking measures to improve the liquidity
and solvency position of the Group. These measures include (i)
identified an investor for putting forward a debt restructuring of the
Company and provision of loans to the Company; (ii) put forward a
debt restructuring plan to the creditors of the Company; (iii)
speeding up the collection of receivables process; and (iv) tightening
operating cash outflows through cutting costs and capital
expenditures.
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Taking into accounts the above consideration, the Board was of the
view that the Group would be able to continue as a going concern
and it is appropriate to prepare the 2021 Consolidated Financial
Statements based on a going-concern basis. The Board considered
the views of Crowe that these measures are still in progress and not
concluded by the date of the 2021 Consolidated Financial
Statements, and the outcomes of these measures are not within the
control of the Board. The Board understood the consideration of
Crowe in arriving their view towards the Audit Qualification. Should
the going concern assumption be inappropriate, adjustments may
have to be made to reflect the situation that assets may need to be
realised at amounts other than those currently recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position. In addition, the Group
may have to provide for further liabilities that might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities. The effect of these adjustments has not
been reflected in the 2021 Consolidated Financial Statements.

As disclosed in the announcements dated 17 November 2020, 23
November 2020, 27 November 2020 and 30 December 2020 and the
circular dated 26 May 2021, in relation to, among others, the
proposed Restructuring. The Provisional Liquidators and the Investor
entered into the Restructuring Deed, pursuant to which the Company,
the Provisional Liquidators and the Investor agreed on the principal
terms of the Restructuring which shall include, among others, (a) the
provision of the First Loan and the Second Loan by the Investor; (b)
the Subscription; (c) the Share Premium Cancellation; (d) the
Resumption; (e) if the Resumption is not approved by the Stock
Exchange, the Acquisition; and (f) the Schemes.

Upon application made by the Provisional Liquidators, the Grand
Court and the High Court have both sanctioned the convening of
the Scheme Meetings on 24 December 2020. On 22 January 2021,
the resolution to approve the Scheme was duly passed at the
Scheme Meetings. On 2 February 2021 (Hong Kong time) and 3
February 2021 (Cayman lIslands time), the High Court and the Grand
Court have sanctioned without modification the Hong Kong ListCo
Scheme under Hong Kong law and the Grand Court has sanctioned
without modification the Cayman Islands ListCo Scheme under the
Laws of Cayman Islands, respectively.

The proposed Restructuring is subject to negotiation with the
stakeholders, sanction by the Court and relevant authorities.
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The Board has also taken measures to tighten the operating cash
outflows through cutting costs and capital expenditures. These
measure included (i) freezing headcount of the Group by pausing
recruitment of new employees and replacement of resigned
employees; (ii) reducing office rental expenses by relocating the main
office to a smaller office to save costs; (iii) slowing down settlement
of operating costs by fully utilising the credit period granted by
suppliers and service providers, and arranging interim payments of
smaller amounts instead of one-off payments of bulk amounts; and
(iv) slowing down capital expenditures on computer and network
system upgrades of the Group.

Subject to completion of the proposed Restructuring and successful
and favorable outcomes of the measures taken by the Board
mentioned above, the Board believes that the Audit Modifications
should have no on-going effect on Company’s financial statements
in future reporting periods after the completion of proposed
Restructuring.

On behalf of the Board
Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited
(Provisional Liquidators Appointed)

Lau Fu Wing, Eddie
Chief Executive officer

Hong Kong, 30 June 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

(Provisional Liquidators Appointed)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”) set out on pages 62 to 199, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our
report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our
opinion the consolidated financial statements have been properly
prepared in compliance with disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

1.

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries during the year ended 31
March 2020

As explained in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, as a result of the resignation of certain senior
management members of the Company and non-cooperation
of the management of certain subsidiaries (the
“Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”), the directors of the Company
had been unable to obtain and gain access to the books and
records and assets of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries of the
Company and had therefore resolved that the Group no longer
had the controlling power to govern the financial and
operating policies of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries so as to
benefit from their activities. Accordingly, the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries were deconsolidated from the consolidated
financial statements of the Group from 1 April 2019 onwards.
As a result of the circumstances described above, the directors
of the Company have been unable to provide us with a
complete set of accounting books and records of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries. We have therefore been unable to
carry out audit procedures to obtain sufficient reliable audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to whether:

(i) the loss on deconsolidation of the subsidiaries of
approximately HK$2,092,200,000 included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2020 as well as the related
disclosures set out in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement;
and

(i)  the Group had lost its control over the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries.

Any adjustment that might have been found to be necessary in
respect of the above may have a significant effect on the state
of the Group’s affairs as at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020
and on its loss for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 31
March 2020.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (cContinued)

2.

Investments in associates

As explained in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, there is no sufficient financial information of the
associates available for the years ended 31 March 2021 and
2020 because the management of the associates refused to
provide such required financial information to the Group.
Based on the assessment of the directors of the Company, the
Group had fully impaired its investments in associates of
HK$341,674,000 during the year ended 31 March 2020.

Besides, based on the latest records available to the Company,
the Group's shareholding interest in an associate, FreeOpt
Holdings Limited, was diluted to 17.61% during the year
ended 31 March 2021. As (i) it was not practicable for an audit
to be performed on the associates due to insufficient financial
information and the non-cooperation of the associates’
management; (i) the audited result of the associates for the
years ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020 have not been
made available to us as at the date of this report; and (iii) the
directors of the Company were also unable to provide us with
adequate information in support of the impairment assessment
of investments in associates, together with the basis and
rationale of recognising the impairment loss of investments in
associates of HK$341,674,000 for the year ended 31 March
2020 and their basis for assessing the carrying amounts of the
investments in associates as at 31 March 2021, we were
therefore unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
in relation to (i) the amount of the Group's share of losses and
other comprehensive income relating to investments in
associates recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020; (ii) the
estimate of the carrying value of the Group's investments in
associates as at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020; (iii)
whether the impairment loss of investments in associates of
HK$341,674,000 included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020
is free from material misstatement; and (iv) whether the
investment in FreeOpt Holdings Limited had been properly
accounted for, classified, presented and disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended
31 March 2021.

As a result, we were unable to determine whether adjustments
might have been found to be necessary in respect of
investments in associates, and the elements making up the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income and the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the related disclosures.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (cContinued)

3.

Investment in an unlisted equity investment

As explained in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group held a financial asset classified as at fair
value through other comprehensive income (non-recycling) with
respect to 15.20% equity interest in an investment holding
company (“Entity A”) as at 31 March 2021 (“FVOCI in Entity
A"). A fair value loss of HK$841,762,000 has been recognised
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income during
the year ended 31 March 2020 for such FVOCI in Entity A.
Management assessed there was no change in the fair value of
FVOCI in Entity A during the year ended 31 March 2021.

In assessing the fair value of FVOCI in Entity A as at 31 March
2021 and 31 March 2020, the directors of the Company
adopted the net assets value approach based on Entity A's
unaudited management accounts for the year ended 31 March
2020 and adjusted for the factors they considered might affect
its fair value to estimate its fair value as described in note 18
to the consolidated financial statements. The Group, however,
is unable to obtain sufficient financial information of Entity A
as at and for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March
2020 because of the non-cooperation of the management of
Entity A. The directors of the Company considered that the
basis applied in the fair value assessment of the FVOCI in Entity
A represents their best estimate. We were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidences we considered necessary
to assess the appropriateness of the basis of valuation of the
FVOCI in Entity A as at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020
adopted by the directors of the Company, including access to
the management of Entity A to assess the appropriateness and
accuracy of the financial information, and to obtain the latest
audited financial information of Entity A and reliable
information to support the adjustments made to the net assets
value of Entity A. There were no other satisfactory procedures
that we could perform to determine whether any adjustments
to the carrying amount of the FVOCI in Entity A as at 31 March
2021 and 31 March 2020 and the related fair value charge
were necessary.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (cContinued)

4,

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

On 12 March 2019 and 10 April 2019, the Company received
demand letters from lenders for the immediate repayment of
outstanding principal amounts of approximately
HK$783,747,000 and HK$429,197,000 respectively. On 26
April 2019, the Company received a notice of event of default
from another lender intended to reserve its right to demand
immediate repayment for borrowings with an outstanding
principal amount of approximately HK$776,514,000 at 31
March 2019. On 10 May 2019, the Company received a notice
of petition from one of the above lenders issued under the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions)
Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) from the
High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(the “High Court”) that the Company be wound up by the
High Court on the ground that the Company was insolvent and
unable to pay its debts. In addition, on 10 June 2019, the
Company received a notice of event of default and demand for
repayment from another lender for the immediate repayment
of outstanding principal, together with accrued interest due
totaling to approximately HK$718,436,000.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group incurred a loss attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the Company of approximately
HK$701,690,000 and had net current liabilities and net
liabilities of approximately HK$3,713,949,000 and
HK$2,974,823,000 respectively. These conditions indicate the
existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant
doubt about the ability of the Group to continue as a going
concern.

As further explained in Note 2.1, the directors of the Company
have been taking measures to improve the liquidity and
solvency position of the Group. These measures include (i)
identified an investor for putting forward a debt restructuring
plan of the Company and provision of loans to the Company;
(i) put forward a debt restructuring plan to the creditors of the
Company; (iii) speeding up the collection of receivables
process; and (iv) tightening operating cash outflows through
cutting costs and capital expenditures.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % BT R

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)
4. Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

(Continued)

As at the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the implementations of these measures are still in
progress. The Company continues to seek new business
opportunities to improve its profitability and business
prospects, consolidate or streamline its existing business,
enhance its future business development and strengthen its
revenue base, and may diversify into other businesses should
suitable opportunities arise. The validity of the going concern
assumption on which the consolidated financial statements are
prepared is dependent on the successful and favourable
outcomes of the measures taken by the directors of the
Company. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the assumption that the Group will continue as a
going concern and, therefore, do not include any adjustments
relating to the realisation and reclassification of non-current
assets and non-current liabilities that may be necessary if the
Group is unable to continue as a going concern. Should the
going concern assumption be inappropriate, adjustments may
have to be made to reflect the situation that assets may need
to be realised at amounts other than those currently recorded
in the consolidated statement of financial position. In addition,
the Group may have to provide for further liabilities that might
arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liabilities to any
other person for the contents of this report. However, because of
the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section
of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Wai Dune, Charles.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 30 June 2021

Chan Wai Dune, Charles
Practising Certificate Number P00712

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEBERR
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 3T BET T BT T
REVENUE Uy &= 5 26,173 68,529
Cost of sales 8 65 B AR (5,968) (35,262)
Gross profit FE A 20,205 33,267
Other income and gains = NS & 5 12,809 2,709
Fair value gains/(losses) on investments #8185 LA A FEYIER 2
at fair value through profit or loss, wEZAFERRE,
net (B18) 58 99 (20,460)
General and administrative expenses —REITHAX (65,939) (117,525)
Provision for impairment loss of loans U & 3% 7 JF{E B 18 B 1
receivable, net FRE 20 - (266,085)
Reversal of provision/(provision) for W AR T 2 R E B 1R R
impairment loss of accounts B (BE)FRE
receivable, net 22 (650) 191
Provision for impairment loss of JE W AR IR FRIE 2 B (B S R
factoring receivables 21 - (297,529)
Impairment loss of prepayments, TERT IR - e KA o fE 5Kk
deposits and other receivables R EEE - (45,792)
Impairment loss of investments in REEE RA 2 IRE 2R EEE
associates - (341,674)
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries EUBARE ABRMIE AR 2 EE 8 - (2,092,200)
Other expenses, net Efh 5 H 5 (32,406) (40)
Finance costs B A AR 7 (635,905) (695,527)
LOSS BEFORE TAX FRELATE 18 6 (701,787) (3,840,665)
Income tax credit Frig i % 11 95 1,818
LOSS FOR THE YEAR AEEEE (701,692) (3,838,847)
Attributable to: TH AL A
Ordinary equity holders of the RRARERBEREA
Company (701,690) (3,838,847)
Non-controlling interests FEVE MR M A (2) -
(701,692) (3,838,847)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO AQREEREZTEAEGSE
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF B &8
THE COMPANY 12

Basic and diluted

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)

(FB®HK$0.387T)

(BEEHKS2.187T)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

REEZEBRARRE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BAZ-F-—F=H=+—HIFFE

2021 2020
—EZ-F —E_EF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BT T BT T
LOSS FOR THE YEAR rEERE (701,692) (3,838,847)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hib2mEBA (EE)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) to SR ER M EH 2R
be reclassified to profit or loss in BamzEMEEREA
subsequent periods: (BE) -
Exchange difference on REBINEBEEZ
translation of foreign operations &R =% (546) (13,725)
Reclassification of exchange REUBERE AR E A A
difference upon deconsolidation BEMOIEERE%E
of subsidiaries 8 - (52,085)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) not T & REEEHABMEHRHEE
to be reclassified to profit or loss in BamzEMm2EBA
subsequent periods: (B8E)
Equity investments at fair value FREMEERANRTF
through other comprehensive BIRZ RERE &
income — net movement in BEEMFEEESFE
investment revaluation reserve (T E%)
(non-recycling) 58,646 (916,942)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE AEEHEMEEBA (BE)
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, (BRELR)
NET OF TAX 58,100 (982,752)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR  AEE2HEEELLE
THE YEAR (643,592) (4,821,599)
Attributable to: A AL
Ordinary equity holders RAFERREREA
of the Company (643,590) (4,821,599)
Non-controlling interests FEFERR M (2) -
(643,592) (4,821,599)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated ~ BAKI M sE @R ZEHA M B RER 2 — 2D -
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Fe BT EE
At 31 March 2021 R-—F-—F=A=+—H
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 3T BET T BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBERE
Property, plant and equipment L ER 14 6,463 14,985
Goodwill FEES 15 1,505 1,505
Intangible assets BmVEE 17 17,145 17,145
Other financial assets Hith & mEE 18 744,651 686,005
Prepayments and deposits AR RIE Rk 19 4,643 2,194
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 774,407 721,834
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Loans receivable JE U B =X 20 - 143,040
Prepayments, deposits and other TETFRIE -~ e R E K RIE
receivables 19 64,405 80,028
Accounts receivable FEUAR SR 22 178,710 22,005
Investments at fair value through FBRBEUAFEINEZERE
profit or loss 23 1,742 3,071
Cash and bank balances B e MIRTTE % 24 399,039 149,605
Total current assets MEEERE 643,896 397,749
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Accounts payable FE R 25 40,210 14,437
Other payables and accruals HEtENFIENESTE A 26 1,303,833 664,852
Borrowings BE 27 3,010,708 2,725,687
Lease liabilities HEBE 28 2,492 12,232
Tax payable FERTBIIR 602 -
Total current liabilities mEaFEEeE 4,357,845 3,417,208
Net current liabilities mEAEFEE (3,713,949) (3,019,459)
Total assets less current liabilities #EERABERE (2,939,542) (2,297,625)

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

me MR RERE
At 31 March 2021 R-ZE-—4#=H=+—H
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 7E BET T BT T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FERBEE
Borrowings BE 27 30,000 30,000
Lease liabilities HEBE 28 2,720 1,045
Deferred tax liability EEMIBAE 29 2,561 2,561
Total non-current liabilities RBEERE 35,281 33,606
Net liabilities B1EFE (2,974,823) (2,331,231)
DEFICIENCY IN ASSETS BEEB#M
Deficit attributable to ordinary AR EBRESE ARMLE
equity holders of the Company
Issued capital BEITRA 30 18,682 18,682
Reserves {1 32 (2,993,503) (2,349,913)
(2,974,821) (2,331,231)
Non-controlling interests FERER (2) -
Net deficiency in assets EEEBFE (2,974,823) (2,331,231)

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the

RARBEFEN _T_—FA=1THH#E

Company on 30 June 2021 and were signed on its behalf by: WHRERE THATATRERNAAEETEE
E=

Lau Fu Wing, Eddie

2=
Director

EZE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

Choi Wai Hong, Clifford

HER

Director

EF

MM EERRSFGRABRER 2 — 8-
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REREEFX

For the year ended 31 March 2021

B2 =T =——F=A=+—HIFE

Attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company

ARTEEAEE
Investment
Convertible revaluation
Share  instruments Share Capital reserve  Exchange Non- Total
Issued ~ premium equity option redemption  Distributable Special  Statutory (non- fluctuation  Accumulated controlling equity/
capital account reserve reserve Teserve reserve reserve reserve  recycling) reserve losses Total interests ~ (net deficit)
TARIE REAERHRE
BEkA ROEERE  BRHE BRESE ARBORE THAREE  RUBE  ZeRE  (FER) HNERDHRE 205 BE  FERER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
RETL  BETR AT BMTn A¥Tr BETn E¥Tr BMTn BETn BETn A¥Tr B%TRn EMTn B¥TR
At 31 March 2019 -hE=R=1-R 15682 2,742,684 297,074 97,350 485 (187,195) 35,131 9,384 346,762 61,149 (961,796) 2,456,710 669,581 3,126,291
Impact on initial application of HKRFS 16 &R EAEENK RS ERIE 16502 - - - - - - - - - - (1245 (1,245) - (1,245)
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2019 \ZE-NERA-BZBRBER 15,682 2,742,684 297,074 97,350 485 (187,195) 35,131 9,384 346,762 61,149 (963,041) 2,455,465 669,581 3,125,046
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - - - - (3838847) (3,838,847) - (3838847)
Other comprehensive incomef(oss) FEEAMBZERA/ (FB):
for the year:
Exchange difference on translation of ~ BEENEBELZEREE
foreign operations - - - - - - - - - (13,725) - (13725 - (13,725)
Reclassification of exchange REEEAAEHBAR R
difference upon deconsalidation of B ABER£E
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - (52,085) - (52,08 - (52,085)
Equity investments at fair value EREBLRARANATEIIRZ
through other comprehensive hERE-REEMHRERD
income - net movement in AR (FEK)
investment revaluation reserve
(non-recycling) - - - - - - - - (916,942) - - (916,942) - (916,942)
Total comprehensive loss for the year TEEREEREE - - - - - - - - (916942)  (65810)  (3,838,847) (4,821,599 - (4821599
Issue of shares kb 3,000 40,500 - - - - - - - - - B0 - 43,500
Derecognition of convertible instruments 8 - BT ERT & - - (297,074) - - - - - - - 297,074 - - -
Share options lapsed BRABRE - - - (43,994) - - - - - - 43,994 - - -
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries RERAARHEAA - - - - - - - (8597) - - - (8597)  (669,581)  (678,178)
At 31 March 2020 18,682 2,783,184 - 53,356 485 (187,195) 35,131 781 (570,180) (4,661)  (4,460,820) (2,331,231) - 2331231

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERR#EX

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BAZ-F-—F=H=+—HIFFE

Attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company

ARAREARRE
Investment
revaluation
Share Share Capital reserve Exchange Non- Total
Issued premium option  redemption  Distributable Special Statutory (non- fluctuation  Accumulated controlling equity/
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve recycling) reserve losses Total interests  (net deficit)
REEMEE BRAE/
BRARA  ROEER BRERE E1EERE THAREE SHEE EERE (FER) AERDRE 2itHA B8 FEREE  (B4FR)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETR BETR B¥TR BT EETR BT 8T 8T BT BETR BBTR RETR
At 31 March 2020 RZZZFF=F=+-1 18,682 2,783,184 53,356 485 (187,195) 35,131 787 (570,180) (4,661) (4,460,820)  (2,331,231) - (2331.31)
Loss for the year KEREE - - - - - - - - - (701,690)  (701,690) @ (701,69
Other comprehensive incomef(loss) AEEEMRERA/ (BB):
for the year:
Exchange difference on tranlation ~ BERNFREEELES
of foreign operations - - - - - - - - (546) - (546) - (546)
Equity investments at fair value ERLN2ANANATEIHZ
through other comprehensive RERE-REERRESDT
income - net movement in & (FEH)
investment revaluation reserve
(non-recycling) - - - - - - - 58,646 - - 58,646 - 58,646
Total comprehensive profit/loss) for the ~ FA2EER|/ (&8)#
year - - - - - - - 58,646 (546) (701,690)  (643,590) @ (643,592)
Share options lapsed BARERE - - (53,356) - - - - - - 53,356 - - -
Cancellation of share premium HHRAEE - (2783184) - - - - - - - 2,783,184 - - -
At 31 March 2021 R=Z=-5=f=1-8 18,682 - - 485 (187,195) 35,131 787 (511,534) (5,207) (2325970)  (2,974,821) 2 (29748%)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated — BEM{MfsE R A EHRA M B HRR 2 — 2D -

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

2021 2020
—E-—F —EZEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
= BT T BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING EETHELEZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax BRI 1R (701,787) (3,840,665)
Adjustments for: MATEBEHFE:
Finance costs & AR AR 7 635,905 695,527
Interest income B WA (4,543) (16,391)
Depreciation e 14 5,043 13,254
Fair value losses/(gains) on BBETARTETEREZ
investments at fair value through BEZAFEEBR/
profit or loss, net (Yezm) ¥ 58 (99) 20,460
Provision for impairment loss of loans  JEUE X 2 B (B B 18 B &
receivable, net F 20 - 266,085
Provision/(reversal of provision) for FEUEER 2 R EEE
impairment loss of accounts B (BERR ) FE
receivable, net 22 650 (191)
Provision for impairment loss of FEUIR IR SR I8 2 R (B B 18
factoring receivables BB 21 - 297,529
Impairment loss of investments in REERB ZIRE ZRE
associates [=gi=! - 341,674
Impairment loss of prepayments, TR 2E REMER
deposits and other receivables I BAERBE - 45,792
Loss on disposal of items of property,  HEWE  BHEK&E
plant and equipment HE 2 BB 6 1,182 40
Loss on deconsolidation of BUE#R A ARMB AR 2
subsidiaries E1a 8 - 2,092,200
Gains on termination of a lease BIE—HEEEH 2 WaE
contract 5 (1,234) -
Loss recognised on termination of a BIETHERAEYER
lease of office premise R BB 6 14,763 -
(50,120) (84,686)
Decrease/(increase) in accounts JE U BR O >, (48 n)
receivable (157,355) 29,088
Decrease in loans receivable FE W E SR D - 50,000
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TERRIA e R E MBI
deposits and other receivables IR A, () 13,174 (38,220)
Decrease in investments at fair value BBEBZEUARFETIEZ
through profit or loss ®E R 1,428 -
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable FEfHERFKIE AN, (E4>) 25,773 (3,171)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables Hh B IERESE A
and accruals B, CGRd) 1,899 (1,301)

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HmEEERER
For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE-F-—F=F=+—HILFE
2021 2020
—E-—F —T_FTF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T ok v
Cash used in operations EEMBAZES (165,201) (48,290)
Interest received 2R B 4,543 3,821
Interest paid ERNEIYS (12,785) (28,569)
Income tax paid EAPEHN - (870)
Net cash flows used in operating EETHRBRAZRERE
activities T (173,443) (73,908)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZHMEEZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Additions to property, plant and REWE BREREE
equipment (869) (3)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE  BE RERHBBRIA
plant and equipment 509 -
Net cash outflow arising on BUBZE ARMBARIEELZ
deconsolidation of subsidiaries Re ML FE 8 - (25,400)
Net cash flows used in investing REZHMBAZRERE
activities FE (360) (25,403)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHFEEZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Payments of lease rentals HeIR 28 (5,178) (13,932)
Proceeds from issue of new shares of  F{TARQ G D 2 FTISFIE
the Company - 43,500
Proceeds from disposals of loans HERKERZ TS HE
receivable 143,040 -
Proceeds from borrowings BEMEHIA 4,897,085 -
Repayment of borrowings BEBE (4,612,064) -
Net cash flows generated from METBEECRERE
financing activities THEE 422,883 29,568

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

2021 2020
—E-—F —EZEF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BT T BRI
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH BE&LRREZSEWRL FHE
EQUIVALENTS 249,080 (69,743)
Effect of foreign exchange rate M RO B) 2 5 B F R
changes, net 354 (2,795)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#ZHE & RIREEEY
of year 149,605 222,143
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRBESRRESZEY
END OF YEAR 24 399,039 149,605
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH ReRkBReESEY2ESRINT
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances ReRBITEE 399,039 149,605

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated  BEMMI @A ZSHEATEHRER 2 —BH -

financial statements.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BAZ-F-—F=H=+—HIFFE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands.
The principal place of business of the Company is located at
13th Floor, Fortis Tower, 77-79 Gloucester Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong. The Company's shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) and trading in the shares of the Company
has been suspended since 28 February 2020.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
referred to as the “Group”) were principally engaged in the
financial services sector, including the provision of securities
and futures brokerage services, provision of margin financing
services, provision of placing and underwriting services,
provision of insurance brokerage and financial planning
services, and provision of asset management and advisory
services.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

1.

LFIRKEEH

REReRBBERERAR ([ARA]) A
—ERHESHEEMA T ZER AT A&
NEIZ EBEXEWIMN N BB BT ELT
E77-795R BB AE 131 - AR FIRNDNE
BBMELXZARAR ([BRAT])ERE
M EBEZE_ZEF-_A -+ NBEAQA

BhEEESR-

AEER  ARRREWMB QR (G AR
SEDIENESRRBE SFERHAS
HFRMERLEIRY REHITRBERS 18
HEERBHERY RERBRELETH
HBIIRTS - AR E ETIE R AR -

FEMBRARZER
ARAREEMBARZFFBHT:

Place of Percentage of equity interest
incorporation Issued ordinary attributable
Name and operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
£ AMHIRE £ ERTRERE ARARERERAL IEXB
Direct Indirect
EE A
Ambition Union Limited British Virgin Islands ~ United States Dollars - 100 Investment holding
(the "BVI")/Hong Kong ("US§") 20,000,000
{2020: US$20,000,000)
FRARLA ARRLRE 20,000,000% 70 RAZR
((EBRREB))/EE (IFxl)
(2224
20,000,000 7%)
Eastern Sunny Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Dollars - 100 Provision of management services
("HKS") 2
(2020 HKS2)
RBERLA B AT ([E%)) RUERRY
(-3-%% 3427)
Freeman Commodities Limited Hong Kong HK$55,000,000 - 100 Provision of futures brokerage services
(2020: HK$55,000,000)
RRHEARAT £ 755,000,007 REBRELRS
(Z32%F:
755,000,000 )
Freeman Corporate Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$300,000 - 100 Provision of corporate finance advisory
(2020: HK$200,000) Services
RRECFREARAT 4 7 %300,0007C RECERABRRE
(ZF2%m:
#1200,0007)

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 EZ=F=—F=H=+—

A 1-FE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (Continued)

1.

LFIREEER 2

HRAMBARZER (&)
ARBETEMBRBZFHBOT : (&)

Place of Percentage of equity interest
incorporation Issued ordinary attributable
Name and operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
th AMHIRE £ BETEERE ALAEERER AL IEXR
Direct Indirect
BR B
Freeman Corporation Limited Cayman Islands/ Us$38 - 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong (2020: US§38)
RRERERAA Rels/ 5k B/ET RAERK
(ZBZ%E:38%70)
Freeman Financial Investment Corporation Cayman Islands/ HK$48,000,000 100 - Investment holding
Hong Kong ~ (2020: HK$48,000,000)
Freeman Financial Investment Corporation ReBE/A% 748,000,000 k&R
(23256
7 48,000,0007T)
Freeman Financial Services Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
(2020: HK$10,000,000)
RRERRERRAR B 710,000,000 e
(23256
#%10,000,0007T)
Freeman Prestige Wealth Management Hong Kong HK$1,780,000 - 100 Provision of insurance brokerage
Limited (2020: HK$200,000) (note) (note) services, financial planning and
related services
RREHHEERERAA Bk %1,780,0007 - 100 RERBELER
(zz-3%: (Wit) (Wit) BHEERABRE
#1200,0007)
Freeman Securities Limited ("FSL") Hong Kong HK$1,900,000,000 - 100 Securities brokerage, placing,
(2020: HK$1,900,000,000) (note) (note) underwriting, margin financing,
investment holding and trading of
securities
RREFERAA(RRES]) & %%1,900,000,0007 - 100 FREEHE BY FERE
(-z-3E: (H3) () REBRRESER
#7%1,900,000,0007C)
Freeman Union Limited BVI/Hong Kong HK$846,717,951 - 100 Investment holding and trading of
(2020: HK$846,717,951) securities
Freeman Union Limited RERGBE/BE B8l 17,9511 RELRREREE
(2328
AH846,717,9517T)
Freeman United Investments Limited Hong Kong HKS 1 - 100 Investment holding
(2020 HKS1)
Freeman United Investments Limited A BEIT RARRK

(3-%5:8417)

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BAZ-F-—F=H=+—HIFFE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AFIREEREH &)
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EHEMBATZER (&)

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as ARREBWNBAR ZFBWOT: (£)

follows: (Continued)

Place of Percentage of equity interest
incorporation Issued ordinary attributable

Name and operation share capital to the Company Principal activities

£ AMHIRE £ ERTERRA RAARERER AR IZEH

Direct Indirect
ER B
Hansom Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$2,280,279,678 - 100 Provision of finance
(2020: HK$2,280,279,678)
EEHBERAT BE  ERL280.2796787 RURE
(23255
7%7%2,280,279,678T)
People Securities Company Limited Hong Kong HK$60,481,843 - 100 Provision of insurance brokerage
(2020: HK$56,364,409) (note) (note) services, asset management and
advisory services

EREHFERDA B 7 %60,481,8437C - 100 RERRELRE

(-2-35: (h2) (&) EETRRAARE
7 156,864,4097T )

REPERREFREARLA The People’s Republic U5$30,000,000 - 100 Provision of factoring service

of China (the "PRC")  (2020: US$30,000,000)
REPESABRREARA R REARLAE ([RE]) 30,000,000%7T RERERE
(ZF2%:
30,000,000%7T)

MERFBEARE CRINARAF* The PRC US$40,000,000 - 100 Provision of finance leasing service
(2020: US$40,000,000)

AERRBARE CRI)ERRA hE 40,000,000 RERERERS
(2224
40,000,000%7T)

* These entities are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises * ZEEBAREBEPEEEAMOINEEE
under the PRC laws. -

Note: These indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries became direct wholly- Mz : ZEEEE2EMNBARE T -_—F X
owned subsidiaries of the Company with effect from 30 June A=THERKAAARZEEZENBA
2021. Al e

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in ERHIZARFNBRARAREZRARY

the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for REBCAFREEEFTEXENIERA

the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of SEEEFETZEANBY 2HBAA -
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the EFRAE WEHREMHBAR ZFBEEE
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive BHERBARITE -

length.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for other financial assets and
investments at fair value through profit or loss which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except where otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

21 REEE

HZEMHREDREBFTA GG ([F
BETHAR ) B2 BBV HREER
(IEEMBRERER]) (BEHEEMER
B BmEER BB EYN([FES
SRERDERE) BAEAREFTRAK
FRRARIGHI 2 HER T MRS FREM
TREENBBBEEUARNFEINKZRE
BAFEREIN BBRRIIRIEE LK
REREL - ZEMBHRERIABE 27 Mk
AEEAN MEREOREEREOLZ
TR

REEE
RAVBRREEASEBRE_T—_—F
A=t BULEFEZBBRER-WBL
AIAARARIERXEREGN 2ER (B
REEULEER) BEAKREAXRETELHERE
S WNCIES ARk JEE VS E 35 cEakiid
RERAZHEN (BIAEERE TRARE
NAEBHIRE R BIEREE ZBEFHEN)
FEZEDHE AEUS -

WARBERXEREGRIRERR TR
BRRZ B2 W EESELER - RIARE
BRFEEREHERHRRERRZEN
HeZE—UHBEERER 85

(a) HEFERERAFEMEEEFBEAZE
B

(b) HMEOTHMELZEN: K
(0 AREZERENEBEERR#E-
MERE M HmR I EARR R ER
BEPEER RN ERRRR -HMEL

AZEEEASERSENEEALEES
TR IEZ B ISR A AR
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BAZ-F-—F=H=+—HIFFE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the ordinary equity holders of the
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii)
the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits/
(accumulated losses), as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

Appointment of the joint and several provisional
liquidators (the “Provisional Liquidators”), suspension of
trading in shares of the Company and going concern
basis

On 12 March 2019 and 10 April 2019, the Company received
demand letters from lenders for immediate repayment of
outstanding principal amounts of approximately
HK$783,747,000 and HK$429,197,000 respectively. On 26
April 2019, the Company received a notice of event of default
from another lender intended to reserve its right to demand
immediate repayment for borrowings with an outstanding
principal amount of approximately HK$776,514,000 at 31
March 2019. On 10 May 2019, the Company received a notice
of petition from one of the above lenders (the “Petition”)
issued under the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
from the High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (the “High Court”) that the Company be wound up by
the High Court on the ground that the Company was insolvent
and unable to pay its debts. In addition, on 10 June 2019, the
Company received a notice of event of default and demand for
repayment from another lender for the immediate repayment
of outstanding principal, together with accrued interest due
totaling to approximately HK$718,436,000.

21EREE =)

ReEEREE (&)

B REME2EBAZEKXED BERA
SEESRFAZ ERBRERRE A MIFER
#am AME RS ERES L RE
M- BAEEKERFIZHERZHEBE
EEBERNFLARREEREE #&E K
A FAXERER REARTEEHE-

MEERBRKRE EXAAESE=HR
EP-HAXZEAREY AAKEEE
M EERS R RREER -WEB R A
ZHRBEREEDE BN ERKIESIE T
ARRIMERRARZL 5 -

fief 7% S 1] 5k 25 6 — ] I B /2 ) oz 42 I 4 -
AR IEEROZMBRARZEE (BER
B)REE ()VEAIHEREDZ REER
(i EE AR RETELZ8 RER
(VPR EZRFE (DAREEFIRE
ZRFER(NVESRFENELEEZ A
PREJE B o ST AT B A 2 A AR

AEBEEER D RERNEEHE L SN
RMEEXABENBRATHERZEEENRD
BEBRRRBEMN, (RFEE) (R1\B
SMRE)

ZEHERSHREBFEA ([EREEE
AN FRARARMGEFEERSFREEER

R_E—NF=ZA+-_BE_ZT—ILFW
A+H RRGREZEEFTNERK  E
KUBEEREEASBEL R ABNEBE
783,747,0007T K % #429,197,0007T B X
B R-ZZE—HAFEMA-+NH RAAFW
E—RETNENSHEN AERE
HBRINEER _ZE—hE=A=+—
HAREERGTELBEET76,514,000THIE
ENEFN -RNZZTE—NEFRA+H XAH
WE FER 2 —REAR UEBRMIEA
IEXOMEHB (BB AN ERE) NEBEFR
TREREER (55 Ak IRENERE
BA([2F])  EXaEERBERRRE
B ERAEAAREEGENBEELESR
BB R—ZB—hESA+H AR
ARES—Z2EANENSHRERE
o BERUBEEREEARASTERER
FEA L AL EEET18,436,000 THIFNIH »
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 21 EREE »)

76

Appointment of the joint and several provisional
liquidators (the “Provisional Liquidators”), suspension of
trading in shares of the Company and going concern
basis (Continued)

On 28 February 2020, the High Court ordered that Messrs. Lai
Kar Yan (Derek) and Ho Kwok Leung Glen of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu be appointed as Provisional Liquidators of the
Company with power to act jointly and severally until the
determination of the Petition or further order of the High
Court. At the request of the Company, trading in the
Company'’s shares on the Stock Exchange has been suspended
with effect from 1:12 p.m. on 28 February 2020. Trading in the
shares of the Company will remain suspended until further
notice.

On 26 March 2020, upon application made by the Provisional
Liquidators, the High Court granted an order to extend the
Provisional Liquidators’ power such that the Provisional
Liquidators are empowered, inter alia, to consider and, if
thought to be in the best interests of creditors of the Company,
to enter into discussions and/or negotiations for and on behalf
of the Company, for the purpose of, but not limited to,
restructuring of the Company’s business and operations, and/or
restructuring or rescheduling the Company’s indebtedness, or for
the sale of its assets, provided that any such proposed
restructuring, rescheduling or sale shall not be binding on the
Company unless and until approved by the High Court.

On 4 November 2020, upon application made by the
Provisional Liquidators, the Grand Court of the Cayman lIslands
(the "Grand Court”) issued an order, which, among other
things, recognised the appointment of Messrs. Lai Kar Yan
(Derek) and Ho Kwok Leung Glen of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
as joint and several provisional liquidators of the Company
pursuant to orders of the High Court of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region dated 28 February 2020 and
subsequently amended on 26 March 2020 and the Provisional
Liquidators presenting and prosecuting a petition in the Grand
Court in respect of the creditors’ scheme of arrangement
pursuant to section 86 of the Companies Law (2020 Revision)
in furtherance of the proposed rescue and restructuring of the
Company and its debts.

On 1 April 2021, the Provisional Liquidators and the petitioner
jointly applied to the High Court requesting to vacate the next
adjourned hearing of the Petition to be held on 19 April 2021
and to adjourn it to a date to be fixed no earlier than August
2021. On 7 April 2021, the High Court approved the next
adjourned hearing of the Petition will be held on a date to be
fixed no earlier than August 2021.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BAZ-F-—F=H=+—HIFFE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Appointment of the joint and several provisional
liquidators (the “Provisional Liquidators”), suspension of
trading in shares of the Company and going concern
basis (Continued)

Since their appointment, the Provisional Liquidators have taken
all necessary actions to preserve the assets and have been
managing the affairs of the Group.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had net current liabilities and
net liabilities of approximately HK$3,713,949,000 and
HK$2,974,823,000, respectively (2020: HK$3,019,459,000 and
HK$2,331,231,000, respectively). During the year ended 31
March 2021, the Group incurred a loss attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company of approximately
HK$701,690,000 (2020: HK$3,838,847,000). These conditions
indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may cast
significant doubt about the ability of the Group to continue as
a going concern.

The directors of the Company have been taking measures to
improve the liquidity and solvency position of the Group. These
measures include (i) identified the Investor (as defined below)
for putting forward a debt restructuring of the Company and
provision of loans to the Company, details of which are set out
below at the paragraphs headed under “Proposed restructuring
of the Group”; (ii) put forward a debt restructuring plan to the
creditors of the Company by way of Scheme of Arrangement;
(i) speeding up the collection of receivables process; and (iv)
tightening operating cash outflows through cutting costs and
capital expenditures.

As at the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the implementations of these measures are still in
progress. The Company continues to seek new business
opportunities to improve its profitability and business
prospects, consolidate or streamline its existing business,
enhance its future business development and strengthen its
revenue base, and may diversify into other businesses should
suitable opportunities arise.

21EREE =)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Appointment of the joint and several provisional
liquidators (the “Provisional Liquidators”), suspension of
trading in shares of the Company and going concern
basis (Continued)

The validity of the going concern assumption on which the
consolidated financial statements are prepared is dependent on
the successful and favourable outcomes of the measures taken
by the directors of the Company. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on the assumption that the
Group will continue as a going concern and, therefore, do not
include any adjustments relating to the realisation and
classification of non-current assets and non-current liabilities
that may be necessary if the Group is unable to continue as a
going concern. Should the going concern assumption be
inappropriate, adjustments may have to be made to reflect the
situation that assets may need to be realised at amounts other
than those currently recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position. In addition, the Group may have to provide
for further liabilities that might arise, and to reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities.

As disclosed in the Company’s circular dated 26 May 2021 (the
“Circular”), both the Stock Exchange and the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong (the “SFC"”) have uplifted
certain restrictions previously imposed on the business
operations of the subsidiaries of the Company. It is expected
that the major restrictions will be removed in June/july 2021
pursuant to the latest development of the proposed
Restructuring. The Board is of the view that, upon uplifting the
major restrictions in June/July 2021 and coupled with the
support from the Investor, the proposed Restructuring will have
positive impact on the brand, public awareness and visibility of
the Group.

Listing status of the Company

On 19 March 2020, the Company received a letter from the
Stock Exchange, in which, inter alia, the Stock Exchange set
out the following resumption guidance for the Company (the
“Resumption Guidance”):

1. demonstrate the Company's compliance with Rule 13.24
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Listing
Rules™);

2. have the winding-up petition(s) withdrawn or dismissed
and the joint and several provisional liquidators
discharged; and
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Listing status of the Company (Continued)

3. inform the market of all material information for the
Company'’s shareholders and other investors to appraise
the Group's position.

On 30 June 2020, the Company received another letter from
the Stock Exchange, in which the Stock Exchange set out the
following additional Resumption Guidance for the Company:

4. publish all outstanding financial results and address any
audit modification(s).

Under Rule 6.01A(1) of the Listing Rules, it may cancel the
listing of any securities that have been suspended from trading
for a continuous period of 18 months. In the case of the
Company, the 18-month period expires on 27 August 2021
(the "Deadline”). The Stock Exchange advised that if the
Company fails to remedy the issues causing its trading
suspension, fulfil the resumption guidance and fully comply
with the Listing Rules to the Stock Exchange’s satisfaction, the
Listing Division will recommend the Listing Committee to
proceed with the cancellation of the Company’s listing. Under
Rules 6.01 and 6.10 of the Listing Rules, the Stock Exchange
also has the right to impose a shorter specific remedial period,
where appropriate.

The Company will take appropriate steps to fully comply with
the Listing Rules to the Stock Exchange’s satisfaction in order
to have trading in the Company's shares resumed. The
Company will keep the public informed of developments in this
regard by making further announcements as and when
appropriate.

Proposed restructuring of the Group

References are made to the Company’s announcements dated
13 August 2020, 27 August 2020, 17 November 2020, 23
November 2020, 27 November 2020, 30 December 2020, 22
January 2021, 5 February 2021, 26 February 2021, 27 May
2021, 17 June 2021 and the Circular dated 26 May 2021 in
relation to the restructuring of the Company. Unless otherwise
specified, capitalised terms used herein shall have the same
meanings as in these announcements and the Circular.

On 13 August 2020, the Company, the Provisional Liquidators
and the Investor entered into the Term Sheet, setting out the
key commercial terms of the proposed Restructuring of the
Company.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Proposed restructuring of the Group (Continued)

On 2 September 2020, the Provisional Liquidators obtained the
sanction from the High Court for entering into, among others,
the Term Sheet and all requisite agreements arising therefrom
in order to implement the proposed Restructuring.

On 10 September 2020, the Company, the Provisional
Liquidators and the Investor entered into the Restructuring Deed,
pursuant to which the Company, the Provisional Liquidators and
the Investor agreed on the principal terms of the Restructuring
which shall include, among others, (a) the provision of the First
Loan and the Second Loan by the Investor; (b) the Subscription;
(c) the Share Premium Cancellation; (d) the Resumption; (e) if
the Resumption is not approved by the Stock Exchange, the
Acquisition; and (f) the Schemes.

On 21 October 2020, SFC has approved the Investor to become
a substantial shareholder of the Licensed Corporations.

On 17 November 2020 and 18 December 2020, the Company,
the Provisional Liguidators and the Investor entered into the
first supplemental deed and the second supplemental deed
respectively, pursuant to which the parties agreed to further
amend the terms of the Restructuring Deed and/or the First
Loan Agreement.

On 24 December 2020, upon application made by the
Provisional Liquidators, the High Court and the Grand Court
have approved the convening of the Scheme Meetings.

On 22 January 2021, the resolution to approve the Scheme
was duly passed at the Scheme Meetings.

On 2 February 2021 (Hong Kong time) and 3 February 2021
(Cayman Islands time), the High Court has sanctioned without
modification the Hong Kong ListCo Scheme under Hong Kong
law and the Grand Court has sanctioned without modification
the Cayman Islands ListCo Scheme under the Laws of Cayman
Islands, respectively.

On 10 March 2021, the Company submitted the Resumption
Proposal to the Stock Exchange. On 4 May 2021 and 17 June
2021, the Company submitted to the Stock Exchange the latest
revised Resumption Proposal (the “Revised Resumption
Proposal”) addressing comments from the Stock Exchange. As
at the date of this annual report, the Company is in the course
of addressing comments from the Stock Exchange on the
Revised Resumption Proposal.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BAZ-F-—F=H=+—HIFFE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Proposed restructuring of the Group (Continued)

On 26 May 2021, the Company dispatched the Circular to the
Shareholders, containing, among others, details of (i) the
Restructuring Deed; (ii) the Specific Mandate; (iii) the
Whitewash Waiver; (iv) the Special Deals; (v) the letter from the
independent financial adviser to the Independent Shareholders;
and (vi) a notice of the EGM.

On 17 June 2021, all the resolutions contemplated under the
Restructuring Deed were duly passed by the Shareholders or
the Independent Shareholders (as the case may be) by way of
poll at the EGM of the Company.

1.  The provision of the First Loan and the Second Loan
by the Investor

The First Loan Agreement

On 10 September 2020, the Company (as borrower), the
Provisional Liquidators and the Investor (as lender) entered
into the First Loan Agreement, pursuant to which the
Investor shall make available to the Company (a)
HK$161,174,982, being an amount equivalent to the LC
Agreed Consideration; and (b) the Top-up Loan Amount (if
any).

In the event that the Resumption is approved by the Stock
Exchange (whether conditionally or unconditionally), the
Investor shall convert the First Loan (including the Initial
Deposit and the Top-up Loan Amount (if any)) into the First
Loan Conversion Shares which, together with the
Subscription Shares, shall represent 80% of the enlarged
issued share capital of the Company upon completion of
the First Loan Conversion, the Subscription and the issue of
the Scheme Shares. The First Loan Conversion Shares shall
be issued and allotted to the Investor simultaneously with
the Subscription Shares. Upon completion of the First Loan
Conversion, all outstanding liabilities of the Company
under the First Loan Agreement shall be deemed fully paid
and settled and no longer outstanding.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Proposed restructuring of the Group (Continued)

1.

The provision of the First Loan and the Second Loan
by the Investor (Continued)

The Second Loan Agreement

On 10 September 2020, the Company (as borrower), the
Provisional Liquidators and the Investor (as lender)
entered into the Second Loan Agreement, pursuant to
which the Investor shall make available to the Company
interest-free and unsecured loans of up to HK$40 million
in aggregate.

If the Resumption is approved by the Stock Exchange
(whether conditionally or unconditionally), the Investor
may, within the Conversion Period, convert the Second
Loan into the Second Loan Conversion Shares which,
together with the First Loan Conversion Shares and the
Subscription Shares, shall represent approximately 75% of
the enlarged issued share capital of the Company upon
completion of the First Loan Conversion, the Subscription,
the issue of the Scheme Shares, the Placing Down and
the Second Loan Conversion. Upon completion of the
Second Loan Conversion, all outstanding liabilities of the
Company under the Second Loan Agreement shall be
deemed fully paid and settled and no longer outstanding.

In the event that the Resumption is not approved by the
Stock Exchange by the Long Stop Date, the Second Loan
(less the Second Loan Expended Portion) shall be due and
payable to the Investor by the Company on demand within
fourteen (14) Business Days, the Investor shall be entitled
to exercise all its rights as an unsecured creditor against
the Company in relation to the Second Loan and the
Second Loan Expended Portion shall cease to be repayable
to the Investor. In the event that the Investor does not
convert the Second Loan within the Conversion Period, the
Second Loan shall be due and payable to the Investor by
the Company on demand after the lapse of the Conversion
Period and the Investor shall be entitled to exercise all its
rights as an unsecured creditor against the Company in
relation to the Second Loan.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Proposed restructuring of the Group (Continued)

2.

The Subscription

In the event that the Resumption is approved by the Stock
Exchange (whether conditionally or unconditionally), the
Investor shall inject into the Company the New
Subscription Proceeds of HK$80 million by subscribing the
Subscription Shares which, together with the First Loan
Conversion Shares, shall represent 80% of the enlarged
issued share capital of the Company upon completion of
the Subscription, the First Loan Conversion and the issue of
the Scheme Shares. The New Subscription Proceeds,
together with any accrued interest, shall be applied as the
Scheme Cash Consideration under the ListCo Schemes.

The Share Premium Cancellation

The Share Premium Cancellation shall involve the
cancellation of the entire amount standing to the credit
of the share premium account of the Company of
approximately HK$2.78 billion. The credit arising from the
Share Premium Cancellation shall be applied towards
offsetting the accumulated deficit of the Company as at
the effective date of the Share Premium Cancellation.
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Share
Premium Cancellation has been completed.

The Resumption

To facilitate the Resumption, each of the Company, the
Provisional Liquidators and the Investor undertakes and
agrees to use its best endeavours to procure the
compliance with the Resumption Guidance as soon as
reasonably practicable in accordance with the terms of
the Restructuring Deed.

The Acquisition (if the Resumption is not approved
by the Stock Exchange)

In the event that the Resumption is not approved by the
Stock Exchange by the Long Stop Date, the Company shall,
for the purpose of discharging and setting off its
obligations to repay all the outstanding liabilities under the
First Loan Agreement, procure the transfer of all
shareholding interests in the Retained Subsidiaries by their
respective immediate holding companies to the Investor or
its nominee which shall take place in accordance with the
terms of the Acquisition SPA at the consideration of
HK$1.00. Upon completion of the Acquisition, the
obligation of the Company to repay the Investor all
outstanding liabilities under the First Loan Agreement shall
be deemed fully discharged.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Proposed restructuring of the Group (Continued)

5.

The Acquisition (if the Resumption is not approved
by the Stock Exchange) (Continued)

On 24 September 2020, the Acquisition SPA has been
entered into with the Investor in respect of the transfer of
all shareholding interests in the Retained Subsidiaries which
shall take effect upon (i) the Investor having provided the
First Loan to the Company in accordance with the terms of
the First Loan Agreement; and (ii) the Resumption Proposal
not having been approved by the Stock Exchange by the
Long Stop Date.

In the event that the Resumption is approved by the Stock
Exchange (whether conditionally or unconditionally), then
the Retained Subsidiaries will remain in the Retained Group
as subsidiaries of the Company immediately after the First
Loan Conversion and the Subscription.

The Schemes

Pursuant to the Restructuring Deed, the debt
restructuring of the Group shall be implemented by way
of the Schemes.

The principal terms of the ListCo Schemes are as follows:

(@) all claims of the ListCo Creditors against the
Company as at the ListCo Schemes Effective Date
will be fully and finally discharged by virtue of the
implementation of the ListCo Schemes;

(b) the Group will undergo the Group Reorganisation,
pursuant to which the entire interests of the
Excluded Subsidiaries will be transferred to the
ListCo Schemes SchemeCo at a nominal value;

(c) after the ListCo Schemes Effective Date and if and
only if the completion of the Subscription having
taken place, the New Subscription Proceeds will be
injected to the ListCo Schemes as the Scheme Cash
Consideration;

(d) the Scheme Shares, representing approximately 10%
of the enlarged issued share capital of the ListCo
upon Completion, shall be allotted and issued by
the Company to the Scheme Administrators or the
ListCo Schemes SchemeCo simultaneously with the
allotment and issue of the First Loan Conversion
Shares and the Subscription Shares, for the benefit
of the ListCo Schemes Creditors; and
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 21EREE =)

Proposed restructuring of the Group (Continued)
6. The Schemes (Continued)

(e) any realisation from the assets of the ListCo
Schemes, which shall comprise, among others, (i)
the Scheme Shares; (ii) shares in and assets of the
Excluded Subsidiaries; and (iii) the Scheme Cash
Consideration, shall be applied for distribution to
the ListCo Schemes Creditors with ListCo Admitted
Claims; and payment of the costs and expenses for
the implementation of the ListCo Schemes.

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared based
on the books and records maintained by the Group. However, due
to the resignation of certain senior management personnel of the
Company and non-cooperation of the management of certain
subsidiaries (the “Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”), the directors of
the Company had been unable to obtain and gain access to the
books and records and assets of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries
and resolved that the Group no longer had the controlling power
to govern the financial and operating policies of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries so as to benefit from their activities,
and accordingly the control over the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries
was deemed to have lost since 1 April 2019. The Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries had therefore been deconsolidated from the
consolidated financial statements of the Group from 1 April 2019
onwards on the basis of loss of control. The assets and liabilities
of the following subsidiaries were therefore deconsolidated from
the consolidated financial statements of the Group since 1 April
2019.

Wins Finance Holdings Inc. (“Wins Finance”)

ii.  Wins Finance Group Limited

iii.  Full Shine Capital Resources Limited

iv.  Jinshang International Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.*
V. Shanxi Jinchen Agriculture Co., Ltd.*

vi.  Shanxi Dongsheng Financial Guarantee Co., Ltd.*

* These entities are registered in Chinese names only as wholly-
foreign-owned enterprises under the PRC laws and their English
names disclosed above are for identification only.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BHZ=-F=-—F=H=+—HIFFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2

DISCLOSURES

The Group has applied the following standards and
amendments which are first effective for their annual reporting
period commenting 1 April 2020.

HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Definition of a Business

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material
(Amendments)

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

HKFRS 7 (Amendments)

The application of the above new and amended HKFRSs in the
current year had no material impact on the Group's financial
performance and positions for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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HKFRSs ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and a new
standard which are not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2021 and which have not been adopted in these
financial statements. These developments include the following
which may be relevant to the Group.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments'

HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Covid-19-Related Rent

Concessions*
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2.3 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF NEW OR REVISED

HKFRSs ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

(Continued)

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16
(Amendments)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

HKAS 1 (Amendments)

HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 (Amendments)

HKAS 8 (Amendments)

HKAS 12 (Amendments)

HKAS 16 (Amendments)

HKAS 37 (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2°

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)"

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies'

Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction’

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended
Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on a date to be
determined

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

° Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFE
2.3 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF NEW OR REVISED
HKFRSs ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

(Continued)
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what

2.4

the impact of these amendments,

new standards and

interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far the Group has concluded that the adoption
of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
(a) Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
equity interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's
share of net assets/liabilities under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies
that may exist.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of the associate is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of
the associate, the Group recognises its share of any
changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates are
eliminated to the extent of the Group's investments in the
associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates is included as part of the
Group's investments in associates.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Investments in associates (Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in
a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other
cases, upon loss of significant influence over the associate
or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its
fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of
the associate or the joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the
retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for the control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

(a)

(b)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability
is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying
amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

24 FESGHBRCEBE »)

(b)

EBEHREE (&)

WD HEENIAREREEE B
BAFEBER - IRKEBLIBER/EE
SBE NRAVFEFE MAFE
EBHRNERER  DESEENN
ARETSEFFTERERGEENE
smAARR-

BENBERAAGTE DAEBER
B EEIANFERERBEUARE
KB ERI AT Z KB T IR R
1B 4B 2R 1 P YR 7T 38 51 & B FHE
FiEEaBE s ZE - WM B REM
HEBMERFBEEEFENRF
B MEZEEEEHNTHENBRER
REEREE Y-

e ERE  BERRARETARE
MERBEFTE - BFRASABEETRE
B - WESHFRBERESDBEREEE
AREEARE A EHERN A
SER=ZA=1T—HETFEHER
BRAR-LRERNANS XA
THRBAZHEARBESESEE
AEEBEHHZERAHHRREZ
ERGELBENIRCELEUMA
B iwmAREzEMMEESRE

M
EENETHZFEUREMMAS -

MEDEBFEEREAHEIREE
AEU(ReELEMAR) 2T
CeRET - MRESELEV (R
ELBUAS) 2 WEERER KR
EE - AIERBERE -pLEEER
ZREBBENENERHEED -

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



Notes to the Financial Statements

RN

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE-F-—F=F=+—HILFE

24FEEHBRZCEBE &)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its other financial assets and equity
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

(b)

(c)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(c)

(d)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
financial assets and deferred tax assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(@) the party is a person or a close member of that

person’s family and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel

of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(d)

(e)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

()

Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which

it is a part, provides key management

personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such part as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

(9)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over is estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 15%

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and 15%
equipment
Computer equipment 335:%

Motor vehicle 20% - 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each
part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives
and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether
the indefinite life assessment continues to be
supportable. If not, the change in the useful life
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a
prospective basis.

(f)

(9)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(9)

(h)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Trading rights

Trading rights represent the eligibility rights to trade on or
through the Stock Exchange and The Hong Kong Futures
Exchange Limited (the “Future Exchange”) with indefinite
useful lives. They are carried at cost less any impairment
losses.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease
term, the recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated
useful life and the lease term of the assets, as follow:
Office premise Over the lease terms
The Group's right-of-use assets are included in property,
plant and equipment.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset. The right-of-use assets
are also subject to impairment, which is set out in note
2.4(d) impairment of non-financial assets.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to
determine such lease payment) or a change in assessment
of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are presented separately in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the recognition exemption to
leases of low-value assets.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost,
fair value through other comprehensive income and fair
value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Accounts receivable that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied
the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI")
on the principal amount outstanding.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if
both of the following conditions are met:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as
other income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the dividend will
flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably, except when the Group benefits from
such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the
financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in
other comprehensive income. Equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income are not subject to impairment assessment.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through
profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to
be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as
held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with cash
flows that are not solely payments of principal and
interest are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be
classified at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income, as described above, debt
instruments may be designated at fair value through
profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates,
or significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the consolidated statement of financial position
at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Dividends on equity investments classified as
financial assets at fair value profit or loss are also
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

(Continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a
financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from
the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if the
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms as
the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a
derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair
value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are
measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if
there is either a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise
be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of
the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative
is required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (that is, removed from
the Group's consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

()

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group's continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the
maximum amount of consideration that the Group could
be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses ("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Company expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for
credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12-month (a 12-month ECL). For
those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a
loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over
the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

()]

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.

For financial assets, except for margin receivables, the
Group considers that there has been a significant increase
in credit risk when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due. The Group considers these financial
assets are in default when contractual payments are 90
days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may
also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts
in full taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.

For margin receivables, the Group considers there has
been a significant increase in credit risk when clients
cannot meet margin call requirement and uses the loan-
to-collateral value (“LTV"”) to make its assessment. The
Group considers a margin receivable is in default when
payments under the margin call requirement are 30 days
past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a margin receivable to be in default when there
is @ margin shortfall which indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full, taking into account the pledged securities held by
the Group. A margin receivable is written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for trade receivables (other than receivables
arising from margin clients) which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()]

(k)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs.

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs.

Simplified approach

For trade receivables (other than receivables arising from
margin clients) that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit
risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(k)

U]

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged, cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m) Offsetting of financial instruments

(n)

(o)

(p)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at
fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair
value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and bank balances comprise cash
on hand and at banks, including term deposits, which are
not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(p)

(a)

Provisions (Continued)

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(r)

Revenue recognition

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods, the provision of services or
the use by others of the Group's assets under leases in
the ordinary course of the Group's business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has
the right to use the asset, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the
customer for more than 12 months, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amounts receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction with the
customer, and interest income is accrued separately under
the effective interest method. Where the contract
contains a financing component which provides a
significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue
recognised under that contract includes the interest
expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method.

Further details of the Group’s revenue recognition policies
are as follows:

(@) income from the sale of equity and debt securities,
on a trade-date basis;

(b) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established;

(c) interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or
a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset;

(d) insurance brokerage income, the performance
obligation is satisfied at a point in time when the
relevant insurance policy becomes effective in
accordance with the commission terms of the
underlying agreements entered into with insurance
policy issuer;
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(r)

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)

(e)

corporate finance advisory income, the performance
obligation is satisfied at a point in time when the
customer has received the services from the Group.
The customer receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group when the relevant services
are rendered. The payment is generally due upon
the services are rendered;

commission and brokerage income from securities
and futures dealings, the performance obligation is
satisfied at a point in time when the customer has
received the service from the Group, generally when
a trade is executed. Commission and brokerage
income from securities and futures dealings are
generally due within two days after trade dates;

underwriting and placing commission income, the
performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time
when the customer has received the service from
the Group. The customer receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group when the relevant
services are rendered;

factoring income mainly consists of factoring
interest income and other factoring related service
income. Factoring income from a financial asset is
recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of
revenue can be measured reliably. Factoring interest
income is recognised on an accrual basis at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts over the expected life of the financial assets
to the net carrying amount of that financial assets;
and

investment management income from regular
management fee is recognised periodically based on
a predetermined fixed percentage of the asset value
under the asset management agreement. Income
from performance fee is recognised over time and
when the performance fee is determinable based on
actual performance measurement, as and when
contingent criteria associated are met.
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24FEEHBRZCEBE &)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(s)

(t)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at fair value when
there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching with it and that the grant
will be received. Government grants relating to income
are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the
period necessary to match them with the costs they are
intended to compensate.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible
participants (including the Company’s directors and other
employees of the Group and of its investee entities, and
any consultant, advisor or agent engaged by or business
partners of any member of the Group or any investee
entity), who render services and/or contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including
directors) and advisors of the Group receive remuneration
in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees/advisors render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference
to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a
binomial option pricing model. In valuing equity-settled
transactions, no account is taken of any performance
conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of
the shares of the Company (“market conditions”), if
applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with non-
employees is measured by reference to the fair value of
the services received at the date they are received. Where
the market information for the services provided by non-
employees cannot be reliably determined, the fair value of
the share options granted at the date when the services
are received is applied as a surrogate measure. In this
case, the fair value of the share options is determined by
external valuers using a binomial option pricing model.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(t)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The
cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group's best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
The charge or credit to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and
end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions
being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service
requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of
an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have not
been met, no expense is recognised. Where awards
include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether
the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employees/advisors as measured at the date of
modification.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(t)

(u)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not
met. However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award
on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards
are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.

Employee benefits

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations as further explained in the accounting policy
for “Share-based payments” above.

Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group's employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme.

Pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, each
of the PRC subsidiaries of the Group is required to
participate in a retirement benefit scheme organised by
the local municipal government whereby the Group is
required to contribute a certain percentage of the salaries
of its employees to the retirement benefit scheme.
Contributions made to the defined contribution
retirement benefit scheme are charged to the statement
of profit or loss as incurred.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(v)

(w)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company's functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of
a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line
with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair
value of the item (that is, translation difference on the item
whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currency of certain PRC subsidiaries is
Renminbi (“RMB"). As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
Hong Kong dollar at the exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period and their statements of profit
or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollar at the average
exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of PRC subsidiaries are translated
into Hong Kong dollar at the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the cash flows.
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24FEEHBRZCEBE &)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(x)

Convertible instruments
Convertible instruments that contain an equity

component

Convertible instruments that can be converted to equity
share capital at the option of the holder, where the
number of shares that would be issued on conversion and
the value of the consideration that would be received at
that time do not vary, are accounted for as compound
financial instruments which contain both a liability
component and an equity component.

At initial recognition the liability component of the
convertible instruments is measured at fair value based on
the present value of the future interest and principal
payments, discounted at the market rate of interest
applicable at the time of initial recognition to similar
liabilities that do not have a conversion option. The equity
component is initially recognised at the difference
between the fair value of the convertible instruments as a
whole and the fair value of the liability component.
Transaction costs that relate to the issue of a compound
financial instrument are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation of
proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised in profit
or loss on the liability component is calculated using the
effective interest method. The equity component is
recognised in the convertible instruments equity reserve
until either the instrument is converted or redeemed.

If the convertible instrument is converted, the convertible
instruments equity reserve, together with the carrying
amount of the liability component at the time of
conversion, is transferred to share capital and share
premium as consideration for the shares issued. If the
convertible instrument is redeemed, the convertible
instruments equity reserve is released directly to retained
profits.

(x)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

(a) Significant judgement in determining the lease term

of contracts with renewal options

The Group determines the lease term as the non-
cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods
covered by an option to extend the lease if it is
reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered
by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably
certain not to be exercised.

The Group applies judgement in evaluating whether it is
reasonably certain to exercise the option to renew. It
considers all relevant factors that create an economic
incentive for it to exercise the renewal. After the lease
commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term
if there is a significant event or change in circumstances
that is within the control of the Group and affects its
ability to exercise the option to renew.

3. XESHHAERMGE

REASENWBHREAFTEEEEELY
BN AX BENBBENZBESEAR
HENE LR B ERE R HE - G5 R
R& - BRZ S RE LAt #) N HEE A
REPARFTEUIFEEEXRENR
H{EFHERFE-

ERAERBERZE XA

B R fhst (RO ES AT AARE
EEEAAKE 2GR BRETIELL
HEAMBBRRAER L HNIBEXNREKR
FENERHE-

(a) BEFEMEERNENZHAIE

i H9 E X H B
AEEKHEMEE R TAIRERES
R ER (A BEERTERER)
ERMEEREFRRENTAMRENK
(NEEENTEEZE)RLE
EMEERERENEFEME-

EREREABEEITREN R ER
B ARBEHHE - NEEEER
HATEE S AIE LB SR R B 18R
AE-HERKAMK MBEEXE
B HENAFERKEITEERD
EEENENNEASHABRE
b AEEEEHMFHHEDR-

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



(c)

Notes to the Financial Statements

RN

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BAZ-F-—F=H=+—HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)
(b) Going concern consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, apart from those involving estimates, the
directors of Company have prepared the consolidated
financial statements on the assumption that the Group
will be able to operate as a going concern in the coming
year, which is a critical judgement that has the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements. The assessment of the going
concern assumption involves making a judgement by the
directors of the Company, at a particular point of time,
about the future outcome of events or conditions which
are inherently uncertain. The directors of the Company
consider that the Group has the capability to continue as
a going concern and the major events or conditions,
which may give rise to business risks, that individually or
collectively may cast significant doubt upon the going
concern assumption are set out in note 2.1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries

Note 2.1 describes that the Group no longer had control
to govern the financial and operating policies of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries so as to benefit from their
activities and the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries had
therefore been deconsolidated from the consolidated
financial statements of the Company since 1 April 2019.

In making their judgement, the directors of the Company
considered the criteria for the consolidation of an entity
as set out in HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
issued by the HKICPA. In light of the problems identified,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
Group can no longer exercise its ownership rights in the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, and accordingly,
deconsolidated the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries from the
consolidated financial statements of the Group since 1
April 2019.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

3.

(a)

Impairment of financial assets measured at

amortised cost

The Group reviews portfolios of financial assets measured
at amortised cost to assess whether any impairment
losses exist and the amount of impairment losses if there
is any indication of impairment. Objective evidence for
impairment includes observable data indicating that there
is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
flows for financial assets measured at amortised cost. It
also includes observable data indicating adverse changes
in the repayment status of the debtors, or change in
national or local economic conditions that causes the
default in payment.

The impairment loss for financial assets measured at
amortised cost using the expected credit loss model is
subjected to a number of key parameters and
assumptions, including the identification of loss stages,
estimates of probability of default, loss given default,
exposures at default and discount rate, adjustments for
forward-looking information and other adjustment
factors. The expected credit losses for financial assets
measured at amortised cost are derived from estimates
whereby management takes into consideration historical
data, the historical loss experience and other adjustment
factors. Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis
of the relevant observable data that reflect current
economic conditions and the judgment based on
management’s historical experience. Management reviews
the selection of those parameters and the application of
the assumptions regularly to reduce any difference
between loss estimates and actual loss.

3. XEFHAER MG 2
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3. FESHHEGRMEE 2
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

EEt FREM (&)

(b) Impairment of non-financial assets (b) HFEtHEERE

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of REEREREHRTHAESR
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each BERAFEAMBETR KT
reporting period. At 31 March 2021, other non-financial ZT—F=ZA=+T—H XxEEHEM
assets of the Group include property, plant and FERMEEDTEME WFE LEH-
equipment, intangible assets, goodwill and investments in BEEE BAELMRBERAAIZKR
associates. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for B - BEEERFHoBILEEGESF
impairment annually and at other times when such an KRR HEEMERR 2 E AR EETTR
indicator exists. Investments in associates are tested for ERIE - REEE AR 2 E RN IR
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying IREE R sE ARG 2 PR B ETTR
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists BAR - BEEENHCEFEM 2K
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating HEBHEATRESE (BBEQAFE
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher BEERAEFEREEME 28BS
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value-in-use. )R fHEESRSEELEMA
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is IR E - A BRI ST IR IR
based on available data from binding sales transactions HREFEEERAFREEZANRIKR
on an arm’s length basis of similar assets or observable FIBE8BkABEmEERRELE
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the BEZRENAAE -FEFRER
asset. When value-in-use calculations are undertaken, BEREBVAMFREEBREES
management must estimate the expected future cash REeEABMN2BIRRBERE -
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose WiEREAS BB ERUHEZFHRLR
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present E7RE

value of those cash flows.

(c) Deferred tax assets () BELZHELZE

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFE

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

4.

For management purposes,

the Group is organised into

business units based on their services and has reportable
operating segments as follows:

(a)

securities and futures brokerage, placing, underwriting
and margin financing segment engages in the provision
of securities and futures brokerage placing, underwriting
and margin financing services;

provision of finance segment engages in the provision of
financing services in Hong Kong;

insurance brokerage business segment engages in
insurance brokerage business and the provision of
financial planning and related services;

trading of securities and futures segment engages in the
purchase and sale of securities and futures investments;

investment management segment engages in the
provision of asset management and advisory and related
services;

factoring segment engages in the provision of factoring
and related activities;

investment holding segment engages in holding
investments for continuing strategic or long-term
purposes, primarily for dividend income and capital
appreciation; and

corporate finance advisory segment engages in the
provision of corporate finance advisory services and
related activities.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company
commenced to develop the business in the provision of asset
management and advisory services. Hence, a new business
segment of “investment management” has been presented.

Upon certain major operating subsidiaries being deconsolidated
from the consolidated financial statements of the Group since
1 April 2019, the directors of the Company considered that the
operations of the financial guarantee and finance leasing
services were suspended. The segment information reported
below does not include any amount for the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries, which are described in more detail in note 8.
Accordingly, the name of the business segment has been
updated from “factoring, financial guarantee and finance
leasing” to “factoring”.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
(loss), which is a measure of adjusted loss before tax. The
adjusted loss before tax is measured consistently with the
Group’s loss before tax except that bank and other interest
income (excluding interest income from the provision of
finance, margin financing and factoring activities), finance
costs as well as head office and corporate expenses are
excluded from such measurement.

Intersegment transactions are made with reference to the
prices used for services made to independent third parties at
the then prevailing market prices.

No analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by operating
segments was provided to the management for review during
the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 for the purposes of
resources allocation and performance assessment.

4.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, BEBHBWEH »)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2021/As at 31 March 2021 BE-E-—H=ZA=+—-HLEEE R

—E-_—-H%=H=+—H

Securities

and futures

brokerage,

placing,

underwriting Insurance  Trading of Corporate

and margin Provision  brokerage  securities  Investment Investment finance

financing  of finance business  and futures management  Factoring holding advisory Total
25

Heae.

RE 8%E REBEL 5N

BERE  RERE % HEEER  R4ER 2 REER LXRERR a%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRTn A¥Tn  BEfn E¥Tn A%Tn BRTR ARt BEfn BRTR

Segment revenue: PENE:
Sales to external customers HIPEPIHE 12,633 - 239 11,124 2 - - - 26,173
Intersegment sales PERHE - - - - - - - - -
12,633 - 2,390 11,124 26 - - - 26,173
Reconcillation: E
Elimination of intersegment sales 7 &% 3 - - - - - - - - -
Total revenue hzes 26,173
Segment results: PEEE: (28,032) (1,851) (3,546) 10,974 26 (812) (20,475) (189) (43,905)
Reconciliation: &
Bank interest income RITHEMA 28
Other interest income el A 5
Corporate and other unallocated ~ ARREHXARET
expenses (22,314)
Finance costs BERE (635,905)
Loss before tax RHAER (701,787)
Other segment information: EfaEEs:
Provision for impaiment loss of ~ EWEH 2 FEBEAE
accounts receivable, net F8 (650) - - - - - - - (650)
Depreciation ik
- operating segment -BEHE (2,491) - - - - (146) - - (2,637)
- unallocated -x0E (2,406)
(5,043)
Other financil assets EheuEE 721,79 - - - - - 2,856 - 744,651
Capital expenditure BXRR
- Operating seqments -BEAE 8,348 - - - - n - - 8419*
*  These amounts represented additions to property, plant and * ZESREREVE BELRME-
equipment.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZ-F=-—F=H=+—HIFFE
OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BESHWEH &)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2020/As at 31 March 2020 BE-_S-_ZF=A=+-HLEE R
—E-_EF=A=t+—H
Securities
and futures
brokerage,
placing,
underwriting Insurance ~ Trading of Corporate
and margin Provision brokerage securities Investment finance
financing of finance business and futures Factoring holding advisory Total
5k
Heagn
RE 2HR e BB
FREE  RYRE % HEEE RE  REBR OXBEER EE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEfr  B¥Tn  RETn B%frn EBTn BETm B%TR B%Tx
Segment revenue: PENE:
Sales to external customers  EfOVBEE 7 K& 48,567 12,570 7,440 (48) - - - 68,529
Interseqment sales HEFEE - - 16 - - - - 16
48,567 12,570 7,456 (48) - - - 68,545
Reconciliation: R
Elimination of intersegment 73 #E 444
sales (16)
Total revenue bies 68,529
Segment results: PEEE: (10,252) (255,991) 413 (20,546) (366,259)  (2,429,440) (92)  (3,082,167)
Reconciliation: HE:
Bank interest income RIMERA 882
Other interest income UL 0N 13
Corporate and other RARAMAIERX
unallocated expenses (63,966)
Finance costs By (695,527)
Loss before tax REAER (3,840,665)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BESHEH »)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2020/As at 31 March 2020 BE-2-_ZEFZAZ+-HLFE R
(Continued) —E-EF=ZRA=+—H8(#&)
Securities
and futures
brokerage,
placing,
underwriting Insurance Trading of Corporate
and margin Provision brokerage securities Investment finance
financing of finance business and futures Factoring holding advisory Total
iR
& BER REL E5R
AERE REBE E) HEEE R REZR CEBERE g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AETT BETT BETT BETT BT AT AETT
Other segment information: 12 E&#:
Provision for impairment loss EYEFZ HESE
of loans receivable, net BETE - (266,085) - - - - - (266,085)
Reversal of provision/ EREFAEER
(provision) for impairment  BEREFE
loss of accounts receivable,
net 73 - (1) - 119 - - 191
Provision for impairment loss EYREHE A E
of factoring receivables BRAERE - - - - (297,529) - - (297,529)
Impairment loss of BNFE B Rif
prepayments, depositsand BB ZifE
other receivables B - - - - - 45,792) - (45,792)
Impairment loss of investments REE 2R E 2 REZ
in associates HEER - - - - - (341,674 - (M6
Loss on deconsolidation of ~ BUEERA NEME L]
subsidiaries BB - - - - - (2,092,200) - (2,092,200)
Depreciation ik
- operating segment -BENE (372) - (5 - (134) - - (511)
- unallocated -AAR (12,743)
(13,254)
Other financial assets HtheRAE 660,301 - - - - 25,704 - 686,005
Capital expenditure BARY
- Operating segments ~HENE - - - - 3 - - 3*
*  These amounts represented additions to property, plant and * ZECEEANENE BENMRE-

equipment.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.

EBESEEH 2

Geographical information i & &R
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) FKEINBEFZ Wz
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Hong Kong BB 26,173 68,529
The PRC =8| - _
Total et 26,173 68,529

The geographic location of revenue from external
customers is based on the location of the customers at
which the services were rendered.

(b) Non-current assets

KEINEEEP 2 a2 IR B Ty RN R
HRE2EPHEE D -

(b) #TEEBEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Hong Kong a5E 29,692 35,371
The PRC B 64 458
Total RET 29,756 35,829

The geographic location of the non-current assets is
based on the location of the operations to which they are
allocated.

Information about major customers

Included in revenue arising from major customers which
individually accounted for over 10% of the Group’s revenue for
the year:

FRDEECHBEUENERENREEZ
RERREMSE D -

EBRIEEFEHNER
BRERERBEFZEFPZ2KE  SHAEE
AFEWZEBI0% :

2021 2020
—E-_—F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Provision of finance RHEE

Customer A BEFA N/A* 738 f3 * 12,570

Provision for futures brokerage services R HIE 40 R T
Customer B EFB N/A* 738 f3 * 10,354
Customer C Z2HEC 3,020 N/A* @+
* The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the * HEKRSZT RABAEBBKRZERBGE

total revenue of the Group.

10% -

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about major customers (Continued)

The Group's dividend income and gains/(losses) from the sale
of investments at fair value through profit or loss are excluded
from total revenue for the purpose of identifying major
customers of the Group who accounted for over 10% of the
Group's revenue.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
Revenue represents commission and brokerage income from
securities and futures dealings; commission from placing and
underwriting services; interest income on margin financing
activities; insurance brokerage income; interest income earned
from the provision of finance; net gains/(losses) from the sale
of investments at fair value through profit or loss; investment
management fee income; and dividend income from
investments at fair value through profit or loss for the year.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

4. EEQWEH »#)

EBIEZFNER (#7)
AEBRBFBEZARFEIEZRE
ZERBWARHEEBRmNAFEIK
ZREWE, (BE) T A8 - U
BEAEBZIEREP HEAEE K
FBiB10% ©

Wiz KA R

WSt FNES RAEERAS REE R
N EERBHEREAS FRAUAED
MBHA RGN SRR BFIE 2
FB A HEE B IR AATFEIEZ
BEZWE (BR)FE REETRRK
ARFBBEFADTEFIEZ RE 208
A @

YW A RKm 2 T

2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Revenue U &=
Commission and brokerage income from  FBALHEEBE RS RELWA
securities and futures dealings 8,012 44,615
Commission from placing and underwriting Bt & & 82 # R & H <
services 415 1,126
Interest income on margin financing FEMEES M EWKA
activities 4,206 2,826
Insurance brokerage income R A 2N 2,390 7,440
Interest income from provision of finance  Z{tELE TS 2 F B U A - 12,570
Gains/(losses) from the sale of investments HEFBBEZFIARAFESERZ
at fair value through profit or loss, net "EZ W (E18)FE
(note a) (Ktsxa) 11,120 (48)
Investment management fee income REEBERA 26 -
Dividend income from investments at fair FBREZUAFEIEREZEEZRE
value through profit or loss WA 4 -
26,173 68,529

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. K@ -HtulkARKR #2)

(Continued)

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows: Was AW ARz 29T : (&)

(Continued)

2021 2020
—E-—F —ZEZETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Other income and gains Hibg A R U&=

Bank interest income RITF B A 282 882

Other interest income HAth F) B UA 55 113

Government grants (note b) BT B (P 3ED) 4,476 -

Dividend handling charge and other 1% S5 12 B K E A b 0 &

surcharges 2,260 237

Foreign exchange differences, net HNEE ZE FHF R 1,976 657

Gain on termination of a lease contract WEF—mHHEEAH 2= 1,234 -

Others Hit 2,526 820

12,809 2,709

Notes: B 5 -

(a)  The gross proceeds from the sale of investments at fair value (a) FALHEEREBEZUNTFEIERZIKEM
through profit or loss for the year were HK$15,230,000 (2020: BRIEE R /15,230,000 (ZF =
HK$15,000). T #%15,0007T) ©

(b)  There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to (b) BZEHPUBREKZEHRIAS
these grants. I8

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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6. LOSS BEFORE TAX 6. BRRAMEBIR
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBZBRBABED AR, (GFA) -
(crediting):
2021 2020
—EZ-F —EEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT T
Employee benefit expenses EERMFAX
(excluding directors’ remuneration): (T"RIEEEME) :
Salaries and allowances e KoERy 30,487 41,571
Retirement benefit scheme contributions & K& A 5t 21 3%
(defined contribution scheme) (note a) (EEEMEFHEE) (MizEa) 802 1,040
31,289 42,611
Auditor’s remuneration % S AR & 1,216 1,836
Depreciation e 14 5,043 13,254
Provision/(reversal of provision) for R 2 REBEBEE
impairment loss of accounts (B R ) ¥
receivable, net 22 650 (191)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE - HWENMEEEH 2
plant and equipment, net (note b) B8 FRE (MisEb) 1,182 40
Loss recognised on termination of a BIETHEMAEMERFER 2
lease of office premise (note b) B8 (M5Eb) 14,763 -
Restructuring cost (note b) EAKA (H3Eb) 16,461 -
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries EUB#4r& ABRME Q72 Ei8 8 - 2,092,200
Provision for impairment loss of loans — FEUE 5k 2 BB B 18 B {55 5 58
receivable, net 20 - 266,085
Provision for impairment loss of FEYUIR IR FRIB 2 B (B B R R
factoring receivables 21 - 297,529
Impairment loss of investments in REE R A ZIRE ZREBIE
associates 16 - 341,674
Impairment loss of prepayments, TERTFRIA ~ e I A fh FE W IR
deposits and other receivables 2 BIEEE - 45,792
Notes: B2
(@) At 31 March 2021, the Group had no material forfeited (@ RZZTE—_—F=H=

contributions available to reduce its contributions to the
retirement benefit scheme in future years (2020: Nil).

(b)  These items are included in “Other expenses, net” for the years
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

T—B AEEYLE
BERZYH AT AR EARREF 2R
HRENETEHR (2T _FF &) -

ZEBRBFABRE_E-_—FR_Z-F
FZA=Z+—HULEFEGABRERZIH
A FE A

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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FINANCE COSTS 7. MERF

2021 2020
—E-—F —EZEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Interests on borrowings BEEZFE 633,164 551,040
Interests on convertible instruments AR T A ZF B - 129,439
Interests on lease liabilities (note 28) HEBGEZFE (K5E28) 801 3,111
Other finance costs H {th B & A A 1,940 11,937
635,905 695,527

DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES 8. MHEKZAEAIRMELT

As disclosed in note 2.1 to these consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company considered that the

control over certain subsidiaries had been
2019. The assets and liabilities of these

lost since 1 April
subsidiaries were

deconsolidated from the consolidated financial statements of

the Group since 1 April 2019.

Net assets of these subsidiaries as at the date of loss of control

were as follows:

AL FRA M MR FE2APTRE - &
RAEFRA BT —NFHA—AR
EXREETHEBRAR 2R - ZFWE
REZEENRABEE-E-NFOA—
AEBOEGR AT ARNEE Z KA M5 R
*o

RAREZHEBMZENBRRZEER
BT

HK$'000

BT T

Property, plant and equipment W BB k&G 951
Goodwill B 659,169
Investment in an associate R—HEBE N Z2KE 23,387
Other financial assets HEthomh&E 1,148,314
Finance lease receivables JE Y b & HH & RIR 863,326
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TR RUIE - RS & H MW GROR 84,090
Accounts receivable U BR 3R 22,865
Restricted bank deposits SR HIER 1T IE K 157,312
Cash and bank balances B e MIRTTE % 25,400
Other payables and accruals B BN ERTE B (108,126)
Borrowings BE (30,313)
Tax payable FEfHFiIA (23,073)
Deferred tax liability EIETIE B & (839)
Net assets deconsolidated BUBIRAE ARZEEFE 2,822,463
Less: Release of exchange fluctuation reserve R R SN R B R A (52,085)
Release of statutory reserve BRER L TE RS (8,597)
Non-controlling interests SEFE IR HE = (669,581)

Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries BUB&GR A AR B AT 2 B8 2,092,200

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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9.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments for the year, disclosed pursuant to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong

9. EFME
THRBEMRAES EHRA BB
A 01 %383(1)(@)  (b)~ () B () ERIA R A A
(BEEFANEEN) ARG F2BRELF

Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure NEZME -
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as
follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —ZT-THF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Fees e 1,259 926
Other emoluments: EMe -
Salaries and other benefits e kEMEF 6,034 16,109
Retirement benefit scheme contributions iR KIEF&H 21 4 5
(defined contribution scheme) (TREHKETE) 9 85
6,043 16,194
7,302 17,120
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIAIKHTES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FAENBYRNTEE AN
during the year were as follows: ™~
2021 2020
—E-—F —EETF
Fees Fees
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Mr. An Dong LR AE 240 240
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (note) ok 8 58 A (BT RE) - 206
Mr. Fung Tze Wa HFELE 240 240
Mr. Wu Keli M5 h 5 240 240
720 926

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2020: Nil).

Note: Retired on 9 September 2019

FRTEERNBIIFRTEST ZHAM

e (T _FF &) -

M- R_E-AFAANRRE

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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9. EFEM& »)

(b) Executive directors (b) HITES
Retirement Equity-
Salaries benefit settled
and other scheme  share option Total
Fees benefits  contributions expense remuneration
ek BRER  NEREE
e AR SRt BREZRX Wems
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
BB BB BETIL BB BB
2021 ZB--f
Mr. Ye Ye (note (i) M (FiFEEC)) - 3,504 5 - 3,509
Mr. Yang Haoying (note (i)) BEEEE (M) - 2,411 4 - 2,415
Mr. Yau Pak Yue (note (v)) BRmEE (FE) 315 119 - - 434
Mr. Choi Wai Hong, Clifford (note (vi)) £ @Bk & (FEE(vi)) 154 - - - 154
469 6,034 9 - 6,512
2020 —Z-%F
Mr. Ye Ye (note (1) M (FFEEC)) - 4,287 18 - 4,305
Mr. Wang Xiaodong (note (ii)) TELEE (M) - 3,136 17 - 3,153
Mr. Pun Hong Hai (note (iii) %?/ﬁ%i (BERGi)) - 2,540 16 - 2,556
Ms. Chow Mun Yee (note (iv)) FEENE (M) - 1,916 8 - 1,924
Mr. Yang Haoying (note (i)) BERE A (M) - 3,170 18 - 3,188
Mr. Zhao Tong (note (v)) x4 (FE) - 1,060 8 - 1,068
- 16,109 85 - 16,194
Notes B 5
() Resigned on 1 July 2020 () RKRZZEZZTF+A—HBT
(i) Appointed on 29 April 2019 and resigned on 16 March (i RZZT-—NFWNAZ+TIBEZEE
2020 ERZZB-ZZTF=F+XERIE
(i)  Appointed on 10 July 2018 and resigned on 6 February (i) RZZT—NFELATHEZEER
2020 —E-TF_ANABEME
(iv)  Retired on 9 September 2019 vy, RZZE—AFhRANREE
(v)  Appointed on 1 July 2020 v) RZZEZTEF+A—HEZHF
(vi)  Appointed on 19 November 2020 vy RZZTZEF+—-—ATNBEZRE

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year

(2020: Nil).

F R A B E F R S F B E (A B
TR (ZT_FF E) -

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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9. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Non-executive directors
The fees paid to non-executive directors during the year
were as follows:

9. EFEM& »)
(0 *uTE=S
EROMAEHTEEZ RS

2021 2020

—E-—F —EZEF

Fees Fees

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BET T

Ms. Ang Mei Lee Mary (note) AR 24 (M) 35 -
Mr. Chung Wai Man (note) EHREAE (M) 35 -
70 -

There were no other emoluments payable to the non-
executive directors during the year (2020: Nil).

Note: Appointed on 17 December 2020

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year included two
(2020: five) directors, details of whose remuneration are set
out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration for the year
of remaining three (2020: Nil) highest paid employee who is
not a director of the Company is as follows:

FRABEBMNIEATEEZEMCHES
(ZZ_ZTF :H|)-

Mt - R—ZE_EFE+_A++tHESE

10. A ESHER
FAAUREHEEREMU(ZZ-F
FRM)EE HMSHFBRN EXHT
9 - FRABRT= (ZZ_FF ) WIHA
RABEZHZEFEEZHEFBENOT

2021 2020

—E-—F —EEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Salaries and other benefits Fe kEMER 7,058 -
Pension scheme contributions RIRFFEIMEE R 41 -
7,099 -

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

The emoluments of the five highest paid employees, excluding

directors, for the year fell within the following bands:

10.

FRNAESHES (TEEES) e
R A TN EE

Number of individuals

AE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 T ZFE##1,000,0007T - -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 751,000,001 T & 8% 1,500,0007T - -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 751,500,001 T &8 %2,000,0007T 1 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 752,000,001 7T = #2,500,0007TC - -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 75 #2,500,0017T 2 78 % 3,000,000 2 -
3 —

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five
highest paid employees as an inducement to join, or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office for the

year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of

the Group are domiciled and operates.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the BVI and the
Cayman lIslands, the Group is not subject to any income tax in

the BVI and the Cayman Islands respectively.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for

both years.

Under the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT
Tax") and Interpretation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate

of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

11.

BE T —F=A=+—HBLEFE &
SEYERNAUGESFHEEFPENALX
NEFAME ELAEBMARNEELNE
AR B By 2R - SFRRERE (=

TE-TBE M) o

= —=

FisRER
AEEERERRELARRE FEER
B /% B O P I AT 4 BT I A% MBI i )
BMFTIS R -

RIERBREAZAHSELASESHHARA
BoASEBAGCRBRIESE MNHASE
SR ERFTER -

ERNBHIRHE16.5%5L /W @ FE R
BREEEZ AT RGN R -

RIBERBRCEMSH ([DEMER])ER
CEMEFEAERIEL  REHE QM
EFEFEB25% o
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11. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued) 11.FAERER &)
2021 2020
—E-—F —EZEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T AT I
Current 7K Bf

Charge/(credit) for the year KEESTH/ (Ke)
— Hong Kong —&8 - (2,637)
— the PRC — (95) 40
Under provision in prior years BEFEREBTR - 821
Deferred (note 29) IRIE (PFEE29) - (42)
Total tax credit for the year REEHIBE P BT (95) (1,818)

T BERBEERRFA R ZBRBAIEE
ERZRERRLEAAEEBERRERAE

A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before tax at
the Hong Kong statutory tax rate to the tax charge/(credit) at

the Group's effective tax rate is as follows: ZRHEXH S (ER) 2 HE:
2021 2020
—E-—F —F-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Loss before tax B ¢ Al BT 1R (701,787) (3,840,665)
Tax credit at the Hong Kong statutory tax R & BETH KR16.5% (Z T - F
rate of 16.5% (2020:16.5%) F:165% )5t HEZHIEER (115,794) (633,710)
Effect of different taxation rate used in HMRAZEBEREATRARENZE
other jurisdiction 17 (27,026)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of PO AT HAR 2 BNEARE 18 »
previous periods - (1,808)
Income not subject to tax AR Z WA (3,097) (423)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR 105,381 605,004
Temporary differences not recognised KRR ERER 402 247
Tax losses from previous periods utilised BARTHE T BERE - (111)
Tax losses not recognised RIS 2 T 75 B 18 13,031 56,020
Other EHAh (35) (11)
Tax credit at the Group's effective tax rate  ZAEBE 2 ER R KA E 2 RIBE R (95) (1,818)

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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12. xLFHEBERESBAENGS

12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

(a)

(b)

Basic loss per share

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the loss
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company of HK$701,690,000 (2020: HK$3,838,847,000),
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
1,868,176,188 (2020: 1,764,897,500) in issue during
the year.

The calculation of weighted average number of ordinary
shares at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

AR

(a)

BRELREE
BREARBEERNA B EBRIERS
EAEEﬁ%F%E%%mL@Qmo
T (ZZ ZZT4F £ #3,838,847,000
T0) AR FERE BTSN
21,868, 176188Hx(._Az__Asz
1,764,897,5000% ) 5T &

$|§ HIRE BN FE Bt Em

7|

2021
—E-—F

2020
—T-TF

RP &R

Number of shares
Issued ordinary shares at beginning of year
Effect of issue of new shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at
end of year

Diluted loss per share

The calculation of diluted loss per share is based on the loss
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company of HK$701,690,000 (2020: HK$3,838,847,000),
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
1,868,176,188 (2020: 1,764,897,500).

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share
amount presented for the years ended 31 March 2021
and 2020 in respect of a dilution. The calculation of
diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2020
does not assume the exercise of the Company’s
outstanding share options as it had no dilutive effect on
the basic loss per share. The Company had no dilutive
potential ordinary shares in issue during the year ended
31 March 2021.

REY 2B %
BITHR D 2

FE B
p

=

(b)

1,868,176,188 1,568,176,188
- 196,721,312

R 2 i B A S 192X

1,868,176,188  1,764,897,500

SREEERE

AL EEEE B TR AR B LR
B ARG AFE EIEE701,690,000
L (ZZF - ZT 4 : 5 13,838,847,000
) AR ERER 2T H
1,868,176,188f (=T — T 4 :
1,764,897,500/% ) 55 o

TERBEHEE T - —FEN_F
—EFZA=+—HILFEEINF
RERNEESBELAZ FEEZE
—TE-TF-ZA=+—HBUEFEZE
IREEE EIRR - WARBBE A DA Z K
TS R T EI%E%THQ
EXEFREITEEIEXTE - BHE_T
——F=ZA=+-— EIJtiE iN/NE]!
WHREETESELE L BRKR-
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #Z =% —

13. DIVIDENDS

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment
of a dividend for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

31 March 2021

—F=A=F—HIFFE

13. 1% 2

&) -

ARAREETERRERE
AZT - HALEFEZRE(ZTE-FF:

14.ME - BERRIG

—E_-f=RA=1+—H

— e —

— =

—F=

Furniture,
fixtures Right-of-
Leasehold and  Computer Motor use
improvements equipment  equipment vehicle assets Total
B £B g
BENELEE kEE  EKRE "E EE ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT  BETR  B%Tr  BETrn  B¥Tn B%Tx
At 1 April 2020: RZE-TFNA-HR:
Cost KA 3,205 3,283 4,283 651 33,040 44,382
Accumulated depreciation it E (1,815) (2,194) (3,931) (257) (21,200) (29,397)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,390 1,049 312 394 11,840 14,985
At 31 March 2020, net of i
accumulated depreciation ZA=+-8"
NG ZFTE 1,390 1,049 312 394 11,840 14,985
Additions (note) WE (f1:) 738 16 115 - 7,550 8,419
Depreciation provided during the year R Z TERE (353) (229) (333) (72) (4,056) (5,043)
Disposalfwritten off (note) & /W (W) (1,199) (208) - (284) (10,004) (11,695)
Exchange differences EREE (47) (127) - (29) - (203)
At 31 March 2021, net of RZEZ-F
accumulated depreciation ZA=+-R"
NGZFTE 529 501 94 9 5,330 6,463
At 31 March 2021: RZZZ—F
ZAZt-R:
Cost s 2,028 2,799 4,358 35 7,550 16,770
Accumulated depreciation 2ETE (1,499) (2,298) (4,264) (26) (2,220) (10,307)
Net carrying amount REFE 529 501 94 9 5,330 6,463

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. 9K BERBRE =)
(Continued)
31 March 2020 —ZE-FTF=A=+—H
Furniture,
fixtures Right-of-
Leasehold and Computer Motor use
improvements  equipment  equipment vehicle assets Total
S %
RENELE Rk BHMERE HE EE B8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BETrn  A%Tr BT A%Tr BETx
At 1 April 2019: RZE-NENA—H:
Cost X7 6,292 4,871 6,906 9,468 - 27,537
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE (4,609) (3,302) (5,212) (8,281) - (21,404)
Net carrying amount EEFE 1,683 1,569 1,694 1,187 - 6,133

At 31 March 2019, net of accumulated  RZZ—-HN%E=A

depreciation =+-8
AR ETE 1,683 1,569 1,694 1,187 - 6,133
Impact on initial recognition of HKFRS16 ¥ FE A 16 81 # & 8
FloRk g2 - - - - 22,853 22,853

At 1 April 2019, net of accumulated R-_E-NEWA-H"

depreciation (restated) NGB ZFHE (25)) 1,683 1,569 1,694 1,187 22,853 28,986
Additions NE - 3 - - - 3
Depreciation provided during the year ~ F R Z TEEE (331) (460) (1,287) (163) (11,013) (13,254)
Disposaliwritten off &/ HiE - - (40) - - (40)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries MERA AEHERA (50) (187) (55) (659) - (951)
Exchange differences ERER 88 124 - 29 - 241

At 31 March 2020, net of accumulated  R=F-F%F

depreciation ZA=+-8"

NBRETE 1,390 1,049 312 394 11,840 14,985
At 31 March 2020: RZZ-ZF

ZR=+-8:
Cost A 3,205 3,243 4,243 651 33,040 44,382
Accumulated depreciation 2EHME (1,815) (2,194) (3,931) (257) (21,200) (29,397)
Net carrying amount FEFE 1,390 1,049 312 39 11,840 14,985
Note: The Group had addition of right-of-use assets of HK$7,550,000 Wit AEEREE T —F=-A=+—H1t
during the year ended 31 March 2021 (31 March 2020: FEAEFA#EEEB7,550,0007T
HK$22,853,000). Included in the disposal/written off during the (ZEZFEF=ZA=Z=+—RH :B%
year ended 31 March 2021, disposal of right-of-use assets was 22,853,000L) * HE-_ZE-_—H=H
HK$10,004,000 (31 March 2020: Nil). =t+—HLEFEZHE MERN 2iED

EFREEES10,004,0007T (ZF =
TFEZAZF+—H:#)-
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

15. GOODWILL 15. 5 &

2021 2020
—E-—F —ZT-THF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Carrying amount BREE
At beginning of year REH 1,505 660,674
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (note 8) BUHG A ABRWE AR (M7E8) - (659,169)
At end of year RER 1,505 1,505
Goodwill allocated for impairment testing purposes to the cash RIBEZ—FRZIZF_FF=A=+—

generating unit ("CGU") of insurance and securities brokerage
business in Hong Kong of HK$1,505,000 as at 31 March 2021
and 2020.

Goodwill allocated to the CGU of financial guarantee and
finance leasing business in the PRC with carrying amount of
HK$659,169,000 were deconsolidated since 1 April 2019 as
disclosed in notes 2.1 and 8.

B REARSEZERERRMESFL
KEBZRASELSEM ([REELEM])

2 R A A %1,505,0007T °

M2 ARSI R  DEEEPEHBE E
REBMEBMEXEBNBECEABEMLLY
2, RmE B 659,169,000 B2 8 - &
—NFEMNA—HEBEGA AR

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



16. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
Particulars of the associates of the Group at 31 March 2021

and 2020 are as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements

RN

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZ-F=-—F=H=+—HIFFE

16. RBELARIZ®RE

RZBEZ_—FR_FE_EF=ZA=+—
B AEBBEARZHBUOT:

Proportion of

effective
ownership
Particulars Place of interest
of issued incorporation indirectly held by
Name shares held and business the Group Principal activity
AEERE
BECER
£8 e BTRO =5 AMBIREEBE ARG ETEEER
2021 2020
ZEZ-f ZZ-%F
FreeOpt Holdings Limited Ordinary share without ~ Republic of Marshall 17.61 31.38 Investment holding

(“FreeOpt”)
FreeOpt Holdings Limited
([FreeOpt])

Imagination Holding Limited
("Imagination”)

Imagination Holding Limited
(TImagination ] )

Jocasta Ventures Ltd (“Jocasta”)

Jocasta Ventures Ltd ([Jocasta ] )

par value
EEEZERR

Ordinary share without
par value

BEEZEER

Ordinary share without
par value
REEERK

Islands/Hong Kong
SRRHSANE/FE

Republic of the Marshall
Islands/Hong Kong

SRARBANE/BE

BVI/Hong Kong

RERAEE/BR

The above investments are indirectly held by the Company and
their financial results were accounted for using the equity

method.

REER

31.74 31.74 Investment holding
REER
28.13 36.17 Investment holding

REER

PR ERARRREEREG HMBEE
e MEREARR-

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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16.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The Group held 15% equity interest in Huiyue Financial Leasing
(Ningbo) Co. Ltd. (“Huiyue”) which is an associate of the
Group through a subsidiary of Wins Finance. As Wins Finance
had been deconsolidated effective from 1 April 2019, the
carrying value of HK$23,387,000 was being deconsolidated
(note 8) during the year ended 31 March 2020.

The Group had not shared any equity from the associates as at
31 March 2021 and 2020 as there is no sufficient financial
information of all the associates for the years ended 31 March
2021 and 2020 available to the Group. The management of
the associates refused to provide such required financial
information to the Group. Based on assessment of the directors
of the Company, the Group had fully impaired its investments
in associates of approximately HK$341,674,000 during the year
ended 31 March 2020 and no information of the assets,
liabilities, non-controlling interests, revenue, profit/loss for the
year and other comprehensive income of the associates as of,
and for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 is presented.

FreeOpt, Imagination and Jocasta and their subsidiaries are
principally engaged in investment holding and money lending
service. Based on the latest records available to the Company,
the Group's shareholding interests in Jocasta and FreeOpt had
been diluted to 28.13% and 17.61%, respectively during the
year ended 31 March 2021. No result has been shared from
associates for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 as
there is no sufficient financial information of all the associates

available to the Group.

16. RBIERLTFIZERE &)

REEFEBWins Financez —EHE A 7
BENEEBESQREAREREE (FRK)
AERAR ([EA])Z15%MKHE - R Wins
FinanceB B —Z— A&/ A —H#EEUHEL
AME Eﬂzﬁéﬁﬁ‘ #23,387,0007T & A
HE-_Z-_ZTF=-A=+—HIFERH
JEA%<W&w

AR AEBWEESHEBRE A NER
TR FRIE-FEF=ZA=+—HIE
FEZARVEER AEBR_T=—
FRZEBEZTEF=A =+ BT RD(hH
ERAIZEAER ZEHERRICER
EBERRAASERHMEK ZHEELR -
BEBERAABESTMH FEBEREEZS
TR E-EFZRA=+—HILFE
ERERBE QAR REREERAED
,%MM1m4mmm Elﬂzﬂzﬁﬁé
NERZE_TF=-A=+—HKE=E
E-EF=ZA=+—HILFEZEE -8
& s WA FERA BB R
HEth2MEBRAEEZER -

FreeOpt * Imagination * Jocasta & £ ] & A
712%?&&%%&%%%%”@%$

NEREzENE BHE S —F=
A=+—RALFEAXREER]ocastak
FreeOptz X1 E » Al #E £28.13% &
1761%  REBE-_Z-_ZTF=A=+—H
LFFERRBEE R 2 RETEREZ
B REBEZT_—FRZTZFTF=-A
ST —HALEEETESEBERR 2 E
B RERNEBIWEFMEHERNT L7
B E R -

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



17.

18.

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 R 2R B 5E
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZ-F=-—F=H=+—HIFFE
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. B R &
Futures Stock
Exchange Exchange
trading trading Insurance
rights rights license Total
BERSH B
5% X5 RERER 2%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETL ABTL BETT BETT

Cost A&
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020, 1 April 2020 R=F—NENA—-B —E-TF
and 31 March 2021 ZA=t-B ZT_Z4MmA-A
LZE-—-%=ZF=1-H 1,736 14,500 909 17,145
Accumulated amortisation e £
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 and 1 April  RZZE-HNENA-H - —Z_ZF
2020 ZRAZT-BR-Z-%%
MA—A - - - -
Amortisation provided during the year FRzERREE - - - -
At 31 March 2021 RZF_-F=A=+-H - - - -
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31 March 2021 RZBZ-F=ZA=+—H 1,736 14,500 909 17,145
At 31 March 2020 RZZZZF=A=+—H 1,736 14,500 909 17,145
The trading rights and insurance license have been considered REBELERRERER AEBRERAFE
to have indefinite lives because they are expected to contribute H ARAEREAEEZFRERECE
to the net cash flows of the Group indefinitely, and are not i gl i s
amortised.
OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 18. Rt & MR &E
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Non-current: ERE:
Investments at fair value through other FHiREMEE WA RTFES R
comprehensive income (non-recycling) "E (TR
— Unlisted equity investment in the PRC —F B ETRERE (Mia)
(note a) 721,795 660,301
— Listed equity investment in the —JERE FTRERE (MiEb)
Philippines (note b) 22,856 25,704
744,651 686,005

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

18. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

*

Notes:

(a)

Balance represented 12.17% equity interest in a full-licensed
securities company in China (Shanghai) Pilot Free Trade Zone (the
"Securities Company”) under the framework of the Closer
Economic Partnership Arrangement between Mainland China and
Hong Kong.

On 10 November 2020, FSL, the Provisional Liquidators, Jiangsu
Shagang Group Company Limited* CGIEADHEEERAQA)
(the “SSCL Purchaser”) and Cheery Plus Limited (the "SSCL
Secured Creditor”) entered into a term sheet, pursuant to which
FSL conditionally agreed to sell, and the SSCL Purchaser
conditionally agreed to acquire, 12.17% of shareholding interest
in the Securities Company at the consideration of
RMB600,000,000.

On 9 February 2021, FSL, the Provisional Liquidators, the SSCL
Purchaser and the SSCL Secured Creditor entered into the SSCL
disposal supplemental term sheet, pursuant to which the parties
agreed to amend and supplement the terms of the SSCL disposal
term sheet. On the same date, FSL, the Provisional Liquidators
and the SSCL Purchaser entered into the SSCL share transfer
agreement, pursuant to which FSL conditionally agreed to sell,
and the SSCL Purchaser conditionally agreed to acquire, the SSCL
interest at the consideration of RMB600,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$711,128,000), which is at a discount of
approximately 1.48% to the appraised value, as determined by
an independent valuer, of RMB609,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$721,795,000).

The listed equity investment in the Philippines was stated at fair
value based on quoted market price in active markets as at the
end of each of the reporting periods.

for identification purpose only

1. Htt MBI E =)

Mo :

(a)

ZAEHRERE (N EFERENELER
BEBHERNTHE) ERTRPE(LE

AR ([BHERAR)B1217% ARz -

RZZEZZF+—A+H RREH B
FERA IHRPHEBMERAR ([8E
BHEEF)RARLEBRRAR ([HBEHF
BERMEEADITLIGERE B BR
BHREKRTRAELERREELENHK
HREWEZES QA Z12.17%KE K
BRARE ([ AR¥ 1)600,000,0007T

NZZE-——FZANB REEH BEE
BA BEEFEAFRBBESFAEIFE
AR EBRBBHALETERTIERE
BUFTHE A REBT AR BES L
EEFHEEHEZBR -RAR REFH-
R SRARBEBLAE AL HEES
BROEZERZE BURZIZBLFBERERAE
HE MABBLHFEFEKRGEREKRES
BEH R NEAARK600,000,0007T
(RERKBHE711,128,0007T) » BB
BRI F 2 48 A R #609,000,0007T (
ERAE721,795,0007T) FTEH
1.48% o

FFRELMRBERERATE (ENER
SHRFRMIGHTIZRE) TR

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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18. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

19.

(@]

The Group had 15.20% (2020: 19.06%) equity interest in an
investment holding company (“Entity A”) which was acquired in
April 2018. Due to the non-cooperation of the management of
Entity A, the directors of the Company had been unable to
obtain and access to the books and records and no sufficient
financial information of Entity A as at and for the years ended 31
March 2021 and 2020 is available to the directors of Company.
As such, the fair values of financial asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income (non-recycling) of Entity A as at the
end of the reporting periods (“FVOCI in Entity A") were
estimated by the directors of the Company using the net assets
value approach based on Entity A’'s unaudited management
accounts as at 31 March 2020 and adjusted for the factors they
considered might affect its fair value. The directors of the
Company considered that the basis applied in the fair value
assessment of the FVOCI in Entity A including the recognition of
fair value loss of HK$841,762,000 during the year ended 31
March 2020 represented their best estimate. There were no
carrying amount of Entity A as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

The Group's investment in wealth management products from
financial institutions in the PRC were deconsolidated since 1
April 2019 as set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

18. HthEMBEE »)
Bzt (42)

(@]

AEBEHEAFI520% (T = F:
19.06% )R =T — /\F WM AKEN—H
WEEBRAT ([BERA ) ZBAER - M
REBAEEET TNEE ARBIEEE
FREREMEBAR-_ZEZ—FR=ZF
ZEF AT —HREBEEZZTTF=
A=+ A LFEZESRCHURAA
RESTERBRERZHFEER -Hit-
RREHRBEBEAMEEBANARFET
R ((REBAZBEBEZERAUNRFEE
PR ) 2 ¢ BEE (B 2 AFETY
HARBESRBEERBAR-Z-_Z2F=
A=+ RAZARBEREREBEEREE
FEEGEAIRESRAVEYEERTF
BEZREEFAB - ARREERE NE
BARBREMZEBALAFESEREZA
FEIFHMAEE (REREE=-Z=ZF
FZR=+—HILFEERRFEEEE
#841,762,0007T) BEE 7 &EMEET - R
TR —FRZZFZTF=A=+—H"
BEREATEEREE-

AR S BRI R M S8 & REE RN A
HemgEs 2 REMKRER -2
—NEEA - BRIVHEGA AR

19. AIRR B R HMEKR&RE

RECEIVABLES
2021 2020
—E-—F —ZEZETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Non-current: FERE
Prepayments and deposits FERRIERIRE 4,643 2,194
Current: TE
Deposits with exchanges and clearing RRGREEM2IEZS
houses 60,900 70,900
Prepayments and deposits AN RIE Rige 2,819 7,573
Other receivables H fb fE UG FAE 686 1,555
64,405 80,028

The balance of other receivables is neither past due nor impaired
and no credit loss allowance has been provided for other
receivables as the related credit loss allowances were immaterial.

Hit U FIENSRERBHERFE B
AR EMEYFIRIEREEBREE R
REMBEEBRBEBEI A

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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19.

20.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

As disclosed in note 2.1 to these consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company deconsolidated the
prepayments, deposits and other receivables of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries from the consolidated financial
statements of the Group since 1 April 2019.

19.

WAHEA - B RkHMERRER
(4)
BMZBEEMBREME2LFRE A
AREEEE T AFEA—BEER
BEAANEHBARZEANREA RER
E i MR BUE IR A AR R B2 RA
BB EE-

LOANS RECEIVABLE 20. FEU &=
2021 2020
—E-—F —EZETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Loans receivable il = 1,791,936 2,104,185
Less: Provision for impairment loss ORE R (1,791,936) (1,961,145)
- 143,040

As at 31 March 2020, loans receivable represented receivables
arising from the provision of finance business of the Group,
and bear interest at 8.5% per annum.

All the loans receivable as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 were
unsecured.

On 21 September 2020, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (“Subsidiary A") and an independent third party
("Assignee A") entered into a deed of assignment, pursuant to
which, Subsidiary A agreed to sell certain loans receivable, and
Assignee A agreed to purchase for a consideration of
HK$143,000,000. On 29 October 2020, the full consideration
amount was received.

Loans receivable, determined based on their age since the
effective draw down date of the loans, were all aged over one
year, as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

RZB_ZEF=A=+—81" FEWTW\?E
REBRHUBEXRBGMESE 2 BEK
REF8SEZMEGE -

E@ﬁﬁﬁ)ﬂiﬂ&%mﬁﬁﬁﬁi

R-ZE-_FTFARA-_+—A AARZE
BHBAR ([MBAF])E—2BIE=
E(T%%AJ)%TIL%;@F B BB

NERAEHERXEARE %E‘-‘i%%[ﬁuﬁz
B KRB AE143,000,0007T ° i =
—ZFE+A-+TAB AREBE %I E
REFKE-

NRZE-—FER_E_TEF=—_A=+—
B ZEERERRNBHERESET
ZEWEZNERREBB—F-

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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20. LOANS RECEIVABLE (continued)
The Group has no loans receivable net balance as at 31 March
2021 and the net loans receivable as at 31 March 2020, based
on the payment due date, and net of loss allowance, is all aged
over 3 months past due.

The movements in the provision for impairment loss of loans

20. Blg &= (&)

R-ZF-_—F=ZA=1+—R AEEEEK
EREHRFE BN _SF=A=1—
B2 B E 2 BEER (NERE
BEE) 2Rk BREE=EA

EURERZHEBBREEZZESHNT

receivable are as follows:

2021
—EBE-—F
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F1E R FE2ME R 3K ER HEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BET T BET T BET T
At beginning of year RER - - 1,961,145 1,961,145
Write-off of provision for T S5 R (B B 1R B
impairment loss - - (169,209) (169,209)
At end of year RER - - 1,791,936 1,791,936
ECL rate EHEEEREX N/A FER NATER 100% 100%
2020
—EEF
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
FIPKER F2BEER FIMER k)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AT BETRT ABETT
At beginning of year RFE ] 2,244 107,502 1,585,314 1,695,060
Transfer to stage 3 B E3MREER (2,244)  (107,502) 109,746 -
Net remeasurement of ECL arising P& Bt 2 88 &= 4 2 FB 5
from transfer between stages EEEBEEHTE %8 - - 158,745 158,745
Other remeasurement of loss EEBEENEMENTE
allowance - - 107,340 107,340
At end of year RER - - 1,961,145 1,961,145
ECL rate EHEEREEX N/A TER N/A T EA 93% 93%

The significant changes in the loss allowance during the year
ended 31 March 2020 are mainly due to the transfer of loans
receivable of approximately HK$318,106,000 from stage 1 and
stage 2 to stage 3, resulting in an increase in loss allowance of
approximately HK$158,745,000.

B2 ZF=A=+—HIEE &
BREXRBREHETERANERE LS
#5318,106,0007T 3 55 1F& E& & 5520 Bx 82
BEEIRE BHEEBHEMOEE
158,745,0007T °

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE
21. FACTORING RECEIVABLES 21. Bl R E R IR
2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Factoring receivables FEUUR IR 5KTB 312,659 299,079
Less: Provision for impairment loss B BB IERE (312,659) (299,079)
Factoring receivables, determined based on their age since the RZEZ—FRZZEZFEF=-RF=+—

effective draw down date and the payment due date of the
loans, were all aged over one year, as at 31 March 2021 and

2020.

The movements in the provision for impairment loss of

BBl —F -

BB ERERERE I N E
B 2 BR R B OE 2 PR MR AR 38 5R0R 2 BRIk

FEUW R IZFIA Z B E B R EE 2 EEH

factoring receivables are as follows: N
2021
—E-—F
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
FIE R E2ME R 3R e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
At beginning of year REA] - - 299,079 299,079
Exchange difference E & =% - - 13,580 13,580
At end of year RER - - 312,659 312,659
ECL rate FEHEEEEX N/A RiER NATER 100% 100%
2020
—T-EF
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
FIPEER F2MEER FIMEER L]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AETR  AMTT  BETR  BETR
At beginning of year RE] 1,550 - - 1,550
Transfer to stage 3 A FE3MEER (1,550) - 1,550 -
Net remeasurement of ECL arising & &% 2 [ 85 58 &= 4 2 F8 (=
from transfer between stages BEEEENT=EFE - - 297,529 297,529
At end of year RER - - 299,079 299,079
ECL rate BHEEBEX N/A @A N/A T A 100% 100%

The significant changes in the loss allowance during the year
ended 31 March 2020 are mainly due to the transfer of
factoring receivables of approximately HK$299,079,000 from
stage 1 to stage 3, resulting in an increase in loss allowance of

approximately HK$297,529,000.

297,529,0007T °

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)

HE_ZT _ZF-A=+—BLEFE &
BREREABEZEHFTEEZHRHBE
299,079,0007T Z fRIE FE I FRIA N 551 [ B
EEEEIRER  GRUBIBRBIEMOER
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22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

22. R AR &

2021 2020
—E-—F —EZEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Accounts receivable arising from the RBEEBBREPES 2 BWARR:
ordinary course of business of:
- Dealing in securities: —EAEE:
Margin clients FRERF 295,992 173,821
Clearing houses EEFT 31,315 5,743
— Insurance brokerage business — R ETE 145 223
— Futures brokerage business — B E KL ETE 9,690 -
337,142 179,787
Less: Provision for impairment loss OB B e R (158,432) (157,782)
178,710 22,005

As disclosed in note 2.1 to these consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company deconsolidated the
accounts receivable of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries from the
consolidated financial statements of the Group since 1 April
2019.

The settlement terms of accounts receivable attributable to the
dealing in securities transactions are two trading days after the
trade date except for the balances with margin clients which
are repayable on demand or according to agreed repayment
schedules, and bearing interest ranging from 2.38% to
15.07% per annum as at 31 March 2021 (2020: 7% to 13.5%
per annum). The trading terms with customers of the insurance
brokerage business are mainly on credit. The credit period for
customers of the insurance brokerage business is generally 30
days, extended up to 90 days for major customers. The
settlement terms of accounts receivable attributable to dealing
in futures transactions are repayable on demand and generally
up to 12 months, respectively.

AN FRA M MR FE2APTRE - &
NREFEZLA T -NFEA—HERHR
HERA ARRNE QR 2 BERRBUESZ &
FRARERBEZRAMBERE -

BRIFREP ZEHBERERNIRERTE
FEEEERRN - E-—#=A=+—8
BREFE238%E15.07% 2 NEFB (==
CEFE BFI%EI135% )N BELEE
EREMZEREREERAER S B R
MEXSHE - BRBELEBEFNZS
BEREBUREFAET —BME @ R
KO EBEFNEEHA30E MEER
FRIAEREZEHRZ0A - HEEEEKE
HZEWREREER S R BBEREREE
R—%&Z12f8A -

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued) 22. FBUAR® (2)

An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end of R ERRNERRFRENRZ S BB 2R

the reporting period, based on the trade date, is as follows: BofeT:
2021 2020
—E-—F —E_FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Within 90 days 90H N 175,406 17,760
Between 91 to 180 days 91&180H 112 3
Over one year —F U E 161,624 162,024
337,142 179,787
An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end of RERE R - = BET B 2 EWAR R (HIkR

the reporting period based on past due, and net of loss
allowance is as follows:

==
EiERE) 2 REDTWT

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Not past due A 780 BA 178,565 21,903
Less than 1 month past due 1 831 A LA A 23 95
1 to 3 months past due w1 E3E A 11 4
Over 3 months past due 0 BA3E A LA £ 111 3
178,710 22,005

As at 31 March 2021, except for margin loans receivable of
HK$181,967,000 (2020: HK$173,821,000), which were
secured by underlying equity securities amounted to
approximately HK$84,238,000 (2020: HK$44,981,000), the
Group did not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over these balances.

Trading limits are set for margin customers. The Group seeks to
maintain tight control over its outstanding accounts receivable
in order to minimise the credit risk. Overdue balances are
regularly monitored by management.

R-ZZE-—F=A=+—RH BREKHFE
BERAE181,967,0000T (ZE-FF 8
#5173,821,0007T ) LAAR 8 A% 75 38 25 /E 8 7
AN HER B H)7E184,238,000 (ZE=-E
F 1 5 %44,981,0007T) + A& B B
SRHBFECMNERRREMBEERT-

FREFXEBERBRF -AKEH NS
HOR U [B] B W AR SR A 45 B 2 2 54 A8
EERRBRERE - EEEEHERAD
AEeR o

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZ-F=-—F=H=+—HIFFE
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued) 22. BURAR® (#)
The movements in the provision for impairment loss of EWER REBERBE 2 ZBNT
accounts receivable are as follows:
2021
—E-—F
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
B1EE 2R SE3M ] 1% FCk-C
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT B¥ETR B¥Tr BY%Trx
At beginning of year R E ) 80 - 157,701 1 157,782
Other remeasurement of loss EEEENHEMENT=
allowance 610 - - 40 650
At end of year RE R 690 - 157,701 41 158,432
Arising from: PRILA TN &I E &
- Margin clients —HREP 690 - 157,701 - 158,391
— Other accounts receivable — H th /i Ui BR 3K - - - 41 41
690 - 157,701 41 158,432
ECL rate BEHEEEER
- Margin clients —-HFREP 0.5% N/A FE 100% N/A @M NA FEH

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

22.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued) 22. B AR #X
The movements in the provision for impairment loss of JEWERER 2 BREBERE 2 EHNT:
accounts receivable are as follows: (Continued) (%)
2020
—T-FF
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1RE  BRE F3WR Ek 9z B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BETr BT ARTT BB
At beginning of year REH 130 - 157,701 142 157,973
Other remeasurement of loss EEBENEMEFE
allowance (50) - - (141) (191)
At end of year RER 80 - 157,701 1 157,782
Arising from: PRILA TN &I E &
- Margin clients —HREP 80 - 157,701 - 157,781
— Other accounts receivable — H th /i U BR 3K - - - 1 1
80 - 157,701 1 157,782
ECL rate BHEEEER
- Margin clients —-HFREP 0.5% N/ATEHA 100% N/ATER NATER
No credit loss allowance has been provided for clearing house AR EEMKBIEREEBERE®

receivables as the related credit loss allowances were

immaterial.

RAZBEBEEBRREEIK-

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE-F—-—F=F=+—HILFE

INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

23. ZEBWRBULFEHIIKRZ®RE

2021 2020

—E-—F —ZEEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Listed equity investments, at market value RS IRHE 1,742 3,071

The investments as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 were classified
as held for trading. The listed equity investments were stated at

KRB~k T -_TF=A=+—H
ZEREDBERFBIEEEER - L BER

fair values based on quoted market prices in active market. BNRBERM S LB mERATE
HIAR
CASH AND BANK BALANCES . RERBRITHER
2021 2020
—E-—F —EZEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BB T
Cash and bank balances R RIRITH 399,039 149,605

As disclosed in note 2.1 to these consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company deconsolidated the
cash and bank balances of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries
from the consolidated financial statements of the Group since
1 April 2019.

As at 31 March 2021, except for the balances of
HK$3,763,000 (2020: HK$12,926,000) and HK$10,978,000
(2020: HK$12,705,000) which are denominated in RMB and
US$, respectively, cash and bank balances of the Group were
denominated in the functional currencies.

Certain cash at banks of the Group earns interest at floating
rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The carrying amounts
of the cash and bank balances approximate their fair values.

IR FRA M MR FE2APTRE - &
NRAEFEA T -NFHA—BEKN
HiRE ANRIB AR 2R & MIRTT AR
B AREBE 2GR B®REK -

WZZE-—F=ZA=Z=+—H KBBE
3,763,0007T ( —Z =4 : j5¥12,926,000
7T) K A #10,978,000T (ZE Z T F &
#512,705,00070 ) Z 54D BIAA R B K& 3
TCRTESN  AEBAIR & RIRTTE R AT 88
BHEETE

AEERRITZETRERESARTE
RMERRF N ERGF L -HE RRBITHE
ZEREERE QA FERE-
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151



152

Notes to the Financial Statements
BF 75 3 3} B &

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFE

24.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES (continued)

The Group maintains trust accounts with authorised institutions
in respect of clients’ monies arising from the course of its
securities brokerage, futures brokerage and insurance
brokerage businesses. As at 31 March 2021, HK$111,361,000
(2020: HK$93,330,000) was held by the Group on behalf of
the clients in the trust accounts. The client monies as at 31
March 2021 and 2020 were not included in the Group's cash
and bank balances.

As at 31 March 2021, HK$164,677,000 (2020: Nil) was held by
the Provisional Liquidators as a custodian of the Company
under permission of the High Court in a financial institution in

24. B RBITHEEG =2
NEBRERERERITITEERS X
REBELERL PEELRRRELERB
BAEACZRFRE - RZT=Z—F=A
=t+—H AEEAEREFRAERFH
ﬁ%%ﬂﬂ3momm(_7_7¢-%m
93,330,0007C) R - T - —F K —
FZAZ+—BHNEFPRBELEFALRE
B 2R MIRITE

7—?

RZE-_—F=A=+—"H &a%ihk
HE BEBEEA (EARARIZEEA)
R—REA S BIEIERFAE164,677,000

Hong Kong. T(ZEZZF:|\) -
25. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 25. FEfTER X
The balances as at 31 March 2021 and 2020, based on the EA_ S FR_E_FEF=ZR=+—
trade date, were all aged within 90 days. BR S BFENESRZREYR0B
pq o
26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 26. HttEFARERENEH
2021 2020
—E-—F —EZEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Accrued expenses e 31,506 18,000
Interest payables eI B 1,259,276 638,897
Other payables H b & 3R 13,051 7,955
1,303,833 664,852

As disclosed in note 2.1 to these consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company deconsolidated the
other payables and accruals of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries
from the consolidated financial statements of the Group since
1 April 2019.

IR FRA M IS MR T2 AMEE K
NRAEFEEA T -NFUA—-BEFR
R AR B A R 2 E A B 5R0R M R
SFEMBUBGRAFARKE 258 W EHR
=

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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b 7% 3 3% Pt &
For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE-F—-—F=F=+—HILFE
27. BORROWINGS 27. &8
2021 2020
—E--F e 32
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) p.a. Maturity HK$'000 (%) p.a. Maturity HK$'000
BRERE ERENE
(%) B BT (%) B5A BETT
Current; wE:
Other borrowings AfEE
- secured (note (a)) ~B#EE (M) 8.20 - 702,000 8.20 - 702,000
- secured (note (b)) ~E R (M3 Db) 7.12 - 593,443 7.12 - 593,443
- secured (note (¢)) -BEA (M) 18.10 - 772,200 18.10 - 772,200
- secured (note (d)) ~BHEE (W) 17.93 - 429,197 17.93 - 429,197
- secured (note (¢)) ~BER (MiEe) 14.43 - 185,847 14.43 - 185,847
- unsecured (note () —mER (FE)) 8.66 - 43,000 866  2019-2021 43,000
- unsecured (note (h)) — &5 (M3N) N/A T A 2021 181,175 - - -
— unsecured (note (g)) —®mER (M) 238 2021 29,846 - - -
Bank borrowings ROTEE - -
- unsecured (note (i) —EHA () 1.70 2021 74,000 - - -
3,010,708 2,725,687
Non-current; FRE:
Other borrowings EfhfEE
- unsecured (note (j) —EER (M) 4.97 2022 10,000 497 2022 10,000
- unsecured (note (k) —EER (MK 497 2023 20,000 497 2023 20,000
30,000 30,000

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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Bt R AR MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFE

27. BORROWINGS (continued)

27. 88 &)

2021 2020
—E-—F —EZEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Analysed into: DA
Bank borrowings repayable on demand BIREKRIN—FABEZ
or within one year RITEE 74,000 -
Other borrowings repayable on demand BIREXKIRN —FAEBEZ
or within one year B & 2,936,708 2,725,687
Other borrowings repayable after two A ﬁ’\ﬁﬁifﬁa hFANEEZ
years but within five years HipfgE 30,000 30,000
3,040,708 2,755,687
Notes: B 5
(@) In March 2017, the Company obtained a loan facility of (@ RZZ—+HF=ZF ARABB—F£25H

US$90,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$702,000,000)
repayable in March 2020 and secured by the shares in the capital
of certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, 20%
equity interest of Wins Finance held by the Group and personal
guarantees given by Mr. Zhang Yongdong (“Mr. Zhang”) and his
spouse.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, certain covenants of the
borrowing were breached. The breach of the covenants
constituted events of default under the loan agreement, which
caused the relevant borrowing becoming immediately repayable.
The loan bore default interest at a compounding rate of 18%
per annum. In December 2019, the borrower assigned absolutely
all rights of the remaining balance of the borrowing to an
independent third party.

In March 2018, the Company issued two notes payable with
principal amounts of US$30,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$234,987,000) (“Note A") and US$70,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$548,304,000) (“Note B” and
collectively with Note A referred to as the “Notes”). The Notes
bore interest at 7% per annum and were secured by certain
listed securities held by the Group, certain shares in the capital
of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, approximately
17.26% equity interest of Wins Finance held by the Group,
certain shares of the Company held by Mr. Zhang and personal
guarantees given by Mr. Zhang and his spouse. Note A was
repayable in March 2019 and Note B was repayable in March
2020. Note B with principal amount of approximately
US$23,827,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$185,847,000)
was repaid during the year ended 31 March 2019.

/90,000,000% T (MHE R LB
702,000,00070) WERBE  ZEXBE
BARZTE_ZTF=REE UARBET
2EWMBARIRAFORG ANEBEFE
BIWins Financef)20 % /% A8 A 25 [ R 7k 3R
g ([R%EA]) RERBELOEAR
RIEH -

BE_ZT-NEF=A=+—RALFE #&
EMETRRIER - BREHEBRER
B TEOEN  JREEBURREERY
EM%}& ZEREEANERGFI8EFE
SE-RZZT—-—NF+A EFXAEH
E%%Eﬁ%%ﬁﬁ’]ﬁﬁﬁ&éﬁ EHEEET 25

o A —

MNE=ZF-e

RZZ—N\F=R NARBITMHEN
=i A E S 5 A30,000,000% 5T (18
A48 %234,987,0007T) ([ZEA])
70,000, ooo%ﬁ(@%ﬁﬁ%@iﬁﬁ%
548,304,0007T) ([FIEB | ERIFEAR
BIER]) - ZigiE i@rﬁa A&
EREMNETLEMES ARF—[HE2E
MBARRAFRETRN AEEBFE
Wins FinanceH#717.26 % A% AN #E 25 ~ 3R 5t
ERBNETARABIRMUARRILERE
BB A EARKRER - ZHRABRZ
T-hF-AEE ZEBER_ZT=_Z
F=RAER - ZEROHARSTEL23,827,000
FE T (HEE R #75%185,847,0007T) B R
HE-_Z-—NFZA=+—RILFEE
}%o

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE-F—-—F=F=+—HILFE

27. BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2019, certain covenants of the
notes payable were breached. The breach of the covenants
constituted events of default under the note agreements, which
caused the relevant notes payable becoming immediately
repayable. The outstanding principal of the notes payable bore
interest at an additional annual interest rate of 20%.

The remaining principal of the expired convertible bonds issued
on 14 June 2017 of US$99,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$772,200,000) was classified as other borrowings under
current liabilities upon maturity. The expired convertible bonds
bore interest at 4% per annum and default interest at 16% per
annum. The expired convertible bonds were secured by 30%
equity interest of Wins Finance held by the Group to the
subscriber, a subsidiary of China Huarong Asset Management
Co., Ltd and a guarantee given by an independent third party.

The remaining principal of the expired convertible bonds issued
on 12 September 2017 of HK$429,197,000 was classified as
other borrowings under current liabilities upon maturity. The
expired outstanding convertible bonds balance bore default
interest at 20% per annum. The expired convertible bonds were
secured by 12.17% equity interest of the Securities Company,
other financial assets held by the Group to the subscriber, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Huarong Investment Stock
Corporation Limited.

The remaining principal of the expired convertible notes issued
on 24 October 2018 of HK$185,847,000 was classified as other
borrowings under current liabilities upon maturity. The expired
convertible notes bore interest at 7% per annum and default
interest at 20% per annum. The expired convertible notes were
secured by certain listed securities held by the Group, certain
shares in the capital of wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
approximately 17.26% equity interest of Wins Finance held by
the Group, certain shares of the Company held by Mr. Zhang and
personal guarantee given by Mr. Zhang and his spouse to the
subscriber, an indirect wholly-owned special vehicle of CCB
International (Holdings) Limited.

27. 88 &)
Max: (&)

(b)

(%)

BE_Z-NE=A=+—RLFE K
h‘mTFE”J%JFyé AIRER - BERRHBIENK
SEWHE T EOEMN TR EBURR EN
EBAVIEERE - BNRBEOREELS
B BINFE R R20EE S -

RZZE—EFXA+EAETHE BHIA
MR E % 2 8 T 7 £ %899,000,000% 7T
(HEERHEEE772,200,0007T ) 7 B B8
DHEATBABRTHMEE -BHHAK
Hx BEAEREFLEFEURES S AETF16
CEEHABMBRESUNAEBBEEN
Wins Finance 30% M Az Kk — R BILE
SHEENEREMTFREA (FRHER
BETEROMERAGIZHMEAR) -

RZZ—tFAA+ZABEITHE DA
BREH 28 T A& 7 1429,197,000
TREBE T EARSHEETHEMEE-
BEMMREETRRESBEREFEHN
K20EFHEE L - T B AR EH AR
SEBENS —HLREAE (BHFAAN
12 17% MR A=) R TRIEA (ERIE
BERMDBEBRAAZEZENBEAR) -

EA_Y —N\FE+A=-+tmBEETHEE S

TBRBREEBEZHTASEEE
185,847,000t R EIHE D E AR E B &
THEMEE BRI RRERIREFT
Eixt B SEAFF20E- - H H B

ZEUAEERBENETLETES AR
ﬂ%éﬁﬁfﬁ% AIRAPRETRD A%
E #8 B9Wins Financefy #717.26% A% 7
B REERFBNARARE TR KK
e REBBIEL A EAERER T RE
A (BREEE (ER) ERABMEE2ER
WA|]) e
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

27. BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

®)

In February 2018, the Company obtained an unsecured banking
facility of HK$93,000,000 bearing interest at Hong Kong Dollar
Prime Rate plus 3% per annum and repayable by instalments in
three years. In August 2019, the bank transferred all rights in
respect of the remaining balance of the borrowing of
approximately HK$43,000,000 to an independent third party and
the borrowing was classified as other borrowing. In February
2021, the borrowing was matured.

In March 2021, a subsidiary of the Company obtained an
unsecured loan facility of HK$29,846,000 bearing interests at
2.38% per annum and repayable in April 2021.

In September 2020, November 2020, January 2021 and March
2021, the Company obtained the First Loan and Second Loan of
HK$161,175,000 and HK$20,000,000 respectively from the
Investor, which are interest-free and the maturity dates are
subject to the terms and conditions pursuant to the First Loan
Agreement and Second Loan Agreement respectively.

In March 2021, a subsidiary of the Company obtained an
unsecured banking facility of HK$74,000,000 bearing interests at
1.7% per annum and repayable in April 2021.

In June 2015, the Company issued an unsecured note with a
principal amount of HK$10,000,000 to an independent third
party, bearing interest at 5% per annum payable annually in
arrears. The note is repayable in June 2022.

In May 2016, the Company issued two unsecured notes with a
principal amount of HK$10,000,000 each to two independent
third parties, bearing interest at 5% per annum payable annually
in arrears. Both notes are repayable in May 2023.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to these consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company deconsolidated the
borrowings of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries from the
consolidated financial statements of the Group since 1 April
2019.

27. 88 &)
MaE: (&)

)

RZE—N\FZA ARG —EEK
FHER 17 Bl & B 93,000,0007T © B HE &
BEMNENEFIEFE BAR=ZFAHD
HEE-R-Z—hhEN\A BITEEE
EREBAIB 43,000,000 TR T B RE R 258
FR2BUE-F BESEAEME
B-fERZ-TE-—F-AEH-

RZEZ—F=Z/ AARKBEARRSG
129,846,000 L BB E N BE  HF
FE238E B WAEAR-_ZT——FMNA
1-“&

8= °

T

WZZE-_ZTFNA - ZE=_ZTF+—A1-
TR —F-ARZZEZ—F=A AR
AR ERAEEDNGEEAER
161,175,0007C & 7% #20,000,0002 & —
MERRE_OHER ZZERBTHE
BREBMASZE—HERBERE=H
BRI a8 2 AR AR P IR o

RZZE=Z—F=Z/ AARKBEARRSG
75 #74,000,000 T EIXIFIR TR E - B
FE17EFE  WERZZ=_—FMAE
%o

RZZE—RFX A AARA—BBILE
= HETAE T AE10,000,0007T 2 &
WIS REFSEE  AREFFHE
Y- ZEBEBER_E__FAEE-

RZZFB—ARFRA ARRIAMEEILE
=HETAEESE AE10,000,0005T
Z MM EE IR MEAETFSE AR
BEHAI M MIEZREHER-_ZT ==
FRAMEE-

WMZEEAMBIMRMEE2AAHE AR
AEEE-_T-NFOA-HREHEVH
HaANRWNB AR ZEEIUEGRA AR
EEzEEHB®REK-

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



28. LEASES

As leasee

The Group has lease contracts of office premises, which are
negotiated for terms ranging from one to three years (2020:

one to three years).

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets

Notes to the Financial Statements

RN

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE-F—-—F=F=+—HILFE

28. 8
EBEBA

HEENTT—
F)o

ﬁﬁl“ﬁﬂ#”*%%fﬂi\
=FE(ZF_FF:

() EAEEE

#) HHAHE

_Ef

FR-AKENEREEENREE

and the movements during the year are as follows: REEHMT
HK$'000
BT T
At 1 April 2019 (adjusted) —NFHA—A (KFHE) 22,853
Depreciation Tﬁ% (11,013)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RZEZEF=A=+—H0K
—ZE_EFMWA—H 11,840
Additions nNE 7,550
Depreciation e (4,056)
Termination of a lease WILHEE (10,004)
At 31 March 2021 R_ZE-_—F=A=+—H 5,330
(b) Lease liabilities (b) #HEERE

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

FR HERBEZFREENREZFH N

movements during the year are as follows: i
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Carrying amount at 1 April ROA—BZEmE 13,277 24,098
New lease FHE 7,550 -
Accretion of interest recognised during
the year FNMER 2 F B 801 3,111
Payments IR (5,178) (13,932)
Termination of a lease BWILHEE (11,238) -
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—HZEEE 5,212 13,277
Analysed into: DT
Current yik2) 2,492 12,232
Non-current JERED 2,720 1,045
5,212 13,277

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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B 7% R 3% Bt &
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE
28. LEASES (Continued) 28. 188 (»#)
As leasee (Continued) EHEBAN(F)
(b) Lease liabilities (Continued) (b) HEEE (&)
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is as follows: HEABZIEBHASTEOT
2021 2020
—EZ-F _E_EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Analysed as: DA
Within one year or on demand —FRFEIREK 2,492 12,232
In more than one year but not more than —F L\ BT BB
two years 2,720 1,045
5,212 13,277
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (0 FHMEEEZPHERNSENT
leases are as follows:
2021 2020
—E--F —T_FTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBEZMNE 801 3,111
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENITE 4,056 11,013
Expenses related to short-term leases HRHEERME A
— office properties —MRNEME 98 798
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 37 to (d BEZRSRHEBERZSLEEH
these consolidated financial statements. TE AR R 374 -

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZ-F=-—F=H=+—HIFFE

29. DEFERRED TAX 29. BRIEMIEA (%)
The movements in deferred tax assets/(liability) during the year ELEHBEE,/ (ABE)RFRAZEHN
are as follows: ™
Unrealised
fair value
gains of
investments
at fair
value Provision  Provision
through  Accelerated for for
profit or tax impairment guarantee Intangible
loss depreciation loss losses assets Total
ERER
URATE
Gz E
NAZR MERHE AE LS
AV ERE wE BERKB FEEE EFEE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT R¥Tr BETx R%ETr BE%Tx BETx
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NFMA—-A (68) - 1,413 (2,245) (2,542) (3,442)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) & A/ (B E)GAEBREER
to the consolidated statement KB FHIE (KHiFE11)
of profit or loss (note 11) 68 (19) (7) - - 42
Deconsolidation of subsidiary ~ BUE&RA ABRME L - - (1,406) 2,245 - 839
At 31 March 2020, 1 April 2020 R-ZE-TF=ZA=+—
and 31 March 2021 B —F-ZFNA-BR
—Z-_-f=ZA=t—H - (19) - - (2,542) (2,561)

At 31 March 2021, the Group had tax losses arising in Hong
Kong of approximately HK$3,544,032,000 (2020:
HK$3,464,408,000), subject to the agreement by the Hong
Kong Inland Revenue Department, that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have
not been recognised at the end of the reporting period in
respect of these losses as they have arisen in companies that
have been loss-making for some time or due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams of those companies,
and accordingly, it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be
utilised.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is payable for
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 awards. Deferred taxation has
not been provided for in the consolidated financial statements
in respect of temporary differences attributable to the
accumulated taxable profits of the PRC subsidiaries.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company deconsolidated the
deferred tax liability of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries from
the consolidated financial statements of the Group since 1
April 2019.

RZE-Z—F=A=+—0 AEEESF
BEE 2 FIEBIEL ABHE3,544,032,000
T(ZZE_Z4F : 5 #3,464,408,0007T)
(BEEERBRAR) %EHMERIER
ERABEREELEBIBZ AR ZRRE
A EMN - ARESEEBERZATEE
A Z Bk R RREREE X B A R 2 A i
F R MU AR AR KA BB FERR TR 7
LA B A FRIBBEEE B ®RE
R BERZEBEBERECHEEAE -

RIEFBECEAEVE BT BEHEQ
BB T NF— B — BRI R
5K # BB BN TR0 o B 4 L R BB BB
DB RETIE R T ) e 18 2 B Iy 2 BRI AR
BB mRELIETEHR AR -

MG AWM B RRME2AMKE  ARFE
EE T -NFNA—BREIEES
BHEAT 2 BEHBEAENAEE LK
BB mERIUELZRA AR
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFE
30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. k&
2021 2020
—EZ-F —E_TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Authorised: ETE
500,000,000,000 500,000,000,000/%
(2020: 500,000,000,000) (== =24 :500,000,000,000% )
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 H§@1ﬁ° #0.017T
(2020: HK$0.01) each “TTFEK0.017T) 2 BB 5,000,000 5,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BERRITRHERE:
1,868,176,188 1,868 176, 188]&
(2020: 1,868,176,188) —E-FF:1,868,176,1880%)
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 BREEA®0.017T
(2020: HK$0.01) each (ZZ-ZF  B%0.01T) 2 TR 18,682 18,682
A summary of the movements of the Company’s issued capital ZJX”ATE%TTHXZ’K&MJJ HER S8
and share premium account is as follows: R
Number of Share
shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
BERITROHAE ERITRA R RER nE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT
1 April 2019 RZE-NFNA—H 1,568,176,188 15,682 2,735,292 2,750,974
Issue of new shares (note a) B3RS (Fita) 300,000,000 3,000 40,500 43,500
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RZE-ZF=R=+—-HK
“E-FEMA-H 1,868,176,188 18,682 2,775,792 2,794,474
Cancellation of share premium (note b) HHERMDREE (KFED) - - (2,775,792) (2,775,792)
At 31 March 2021 WZZ-—%=R=+—H 1,868,176,188 18,682 - 18,682
Note: (@) In August 2019, the Company allotted and issued Mizr: @ RZZ—NFNA KAFLARE
300,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each to an BEREK0145LM—BEBULE =
independent third party at a subscription price of 77 B 3% } 3%17300,000,000A% & I E
HK$0.145 per share, giving rise to an increase of BEAEOIITHEBR SRAR
HK$3,000,000 and HK$40,500,000 for share capital and &7 5 & 7 Bl 3E NS # 3,000,000
share premium, respectively. K 7 #40,500,0007T °
(b)  As part of the restructuring of the indebtedness of the (b) ERAEEEBKEHEN—HS &

Group, entire share premium account balance of the
Company of approximately HK$2,775,792,000 had been
cancelled and the credit had been applied towards
offsetting the accumulated losses of the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2021.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZ-F=-—F=H=+—HIFFE

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme of the Company was approved and
adopted by the shareholders at the annual general meeting
held on 31 August 2012 (the “2012 Scheme”) with a term of
ten years commencing from 31 August 2012.

The primary purpose of the 2012 Scheme is to provide
participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company and to encourage participants to
work towards enhancing the value of the Company and its
shares for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole. Further details of the 2012 Scheme were disclosed in
the Company'’s circular dated 25 July 2012.

The categories of the participants under the 2012 Scheme are
any directors (including executive directors, non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors) of the
Company and its subsidiaries and employees of the Group and
any advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
agents, customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, promoters, service providers to the Group whom the
board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) considers, in
its sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the
Group.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, make an offer to any
participant to take up share options. An offer is deemed to
have been accepted and a share option is deemed to have
been granted and accepted and shall take effect when the
duplicate of the offer letter comprising acceptance of the offer
duly signed by the grantee and the remittance of HK$1 by way
of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the
Company. Share options granted may be exercised during the
period as notified by the Board to each grantee at the time of
making the offer and shall be at any time from the date of
grant to the tenth anniversary thereof.

31. R iRt &
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The total number of ordinary shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all share options granted under the 2012 Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
(excluding share options lapsed) must not exceed 10% of the
total number of the Company’s ordinary shares in issue on the
respective adoption date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit").
Moreover, the maximum number of ordinary shares in respect
of which share options may be granted to each of the
participants (including both exercised and outstanding options)
under the 2012 Scheme in any 12-month period shall not
(when aggregated with any shares subject to any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company) exceed 1% of the
Company's ordinary shares in issue. The Company may renew
the Scheme Mandate Limit at any time subject to prior
shareholders’ approval in general meeting and the Stock
Exchange granting listing of and permission to deal in the
Company’s shares to be issued upon exercise of options
pursuant to the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit.

The subscription price for shares on the exercise of share
options under the 2012 Scheme shall be determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion but in any event shall not be
less than the greatest of: (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date on which a share option is
granted; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s share
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
date on which a share option is granted; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’s shares.

The Scheme Mandate Limit was refreshed to 1,868,176,188
shares with par value of HK$0.01 each upon the approval of
shareholders at the Company’s annual general meeting on 9
September 2019. The total number of shares available for issue
under the 2012 Scheme was 186,817,618 shares with par
value of HK$0.01 each.

31. ERR R B (2
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE-F—-—F=F=+—HILFE
31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 31. Riﬂﬁ#i 18 €D
The following share options were outstanding under the 2012 FRAE-_FHEBETRITEBRE
Scheme during the year: LU
Number of shares issuable**
TFRT2RHEE
Granted/
exercised/ Date of Exercise Exercise
At cancelled/ Lapsed At grant of period price of
1 April during during 31 March share of share share
2020 the year the year 2021 options* options options**
ZECEE ERRE/ RZE=- i BRE
mA-B  fIff/H% ER&®m ZR=1- BERERE A BRETHES TfEE*
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 000 HKS$ per share
TR TR TR TR gRBE
2001 ZB=-%F
Directors £%
In aggregate 45t 36,068 - (36,068) - 6-8-2018 6-8-2018 t0 5-8-2028 1.02%%x*
“Z-\E\ARA :z—}\i)\ﬂf\Eli
“Z-\E/\ARH
Weighted average exercise price HK$1.02 - HK$1.02 -
MEFHITEE BH1.027 BE1.027T
Employees ES
In aggregate 45t 21,000 - (21,000) - 6-8-2018 6-8-2018 t0 5-8-2028 1.02%*x*
ZE-N\E/\AXH :x—}\ﬁ)\ﬂfxﬁi
“ZZN\EN\ARH
Weighted average exercise price HK$1.02 - HK$1.02 -
MEFHTEE BE1.027 BE1.027T
Non-employees ¥ {EE
In aggregate 45t 58,828 - (58,828) - 23-4-2015 23-4-2015 to 22-4-2025 4.90%**
“E-1fMA-+t=A —E-RFMA-f=HE
“T-REMAZFMA
Weighted average exercise price HK$4.90 - HK$4.90 -
MEFHTEE B#4.90T BEL90T
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE
31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 31. ERR R B (2
Number of shares issuable**
TR ZROEE *
Granted/
exercised/ Date of Exercise Exercise
At cancelled/ Lapsed At grant of period price of
1 April during during 31 March share of share share
2019 the year the year 2020 options* options options**
RZZ-hE ERRE/ RZZ-ZF ke
MA—-B /38 FREXR ZA=1-H BIRER L A& BRETRS B
'000 '000 '000 '000 HKS per share
i i i i hEs
2020 —E-%F
Directors %
In aggregate 45t 10,000 - (10,000) - 23-4-2015 23-4-2015 to 22-4-2025 4.90%**
“E-REMA-+=RA —E-REMA-+=BZE
“E_RFMAZTHEA
In aggregate 45t 74,000 - (37,932) 36,068 6-8-2018 6-8-2018 to 5-8-2028 1.02%***
—Z-\E/\A/H “Z-NENRABE
2 \¥/\ARH
Total 258 84,000 - (47,932) 36,068
Weighted average exercise price HK$1.48 - HK$1.83 HK$1.02
METHTRE A48T EE183T AEL0T
Employees &
In aggregate 45t 37,000 - (16,000) 21,000 6-8-2018 6-8-2018 t0 5-8-2028 1.02%*x*
—Z-\E/\AKH “Z-NENRABE
2 \$/\ARH
Total 85 37,000 - (16,000) 21,000
Weighted average exercise price HK$1.02 - HK$1.02 HK$1.02
METHTRE A2 EE102T EEL0T
Non-employees &S
In aggregate 45t 58,828 - - 58,828 23-4-2015 23-4-2015 to 22-4-2025 4.90***
“Z-REMNA-T=R -—E-AEMA-+=RAZ
“Z-REMAZTMA
In aggregate 45t 15,681 - (15,681) - 6-8-2018 6-8-2018 t0 5-8-2028 1.02%**x
—Z-N\E/\AKH ZZ-NENRRBE
“ZZ\f\ARA
Total 45 74,509 - (15,681) 58,828
Weighted average exercise price HK$4.08 - HK$1.02 HK$4.90
MEFHER 4,087 B0 BB

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZ-F=-—F=H=+—HIFFE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

* The vesting period of the share options was from the date of
grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

**  The exercise price and the number of the share options are
subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or
other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

**% At the date of grant, the exercise price of the share options was
HK$0.490 per share. The exercise price was adjusted to HK$4.90
per share following the share consolidation became effective on
12 November 2018.

**%x At the date of grant, the exercise price of the share options was
HK$0.102 per share. The exercise price was adjusted to HK$1.02
per share following the share consolidation became effective on
12 November 2018.

On 23 April 2015, 200,000,000 and 488,275,820 share
options to subscribe for the ordinary shares in the capital of
the Company at an exercise price of HK$0.49 each were
granted by the Company to directors of the Company and non-
employees of the Group, respectively, under the 2012 Scheme.
During the year ended 31 March 2017, 100,000,000 share
options were transferred from share options granted to a
director to share options granted to a non-employee upon the
resignation of a director.

In July 2018, 1,266,815,134 share options to subscribe for the
ordinary shares in the capital of the Company at an exercise
price of HK$0.101 each were granted by the Company to
certain eligible persons, including directors of the Company
and employees of the Group under the 2012 Scheme and were
fully cancelled on 31 July 2018.

In August 2018, 1,266,815,134 share options to subscribe for
the ordinary shares in the capital of the Company at an
exercise price of HK$0.102 each were granted by the Company
to certain eligible persons, including directors of the Company
and employees of the Group under the 2012 Scheme. As a
result of the share consolidation became effective on 12
November 2018, the exercise price of the share option granted
in August 2018 was adjusted to HK$1.02 each and the number
of ordinary shares attributable to the share options granted on
6 August 2018 had been adjusted to 126,681,513 shares.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

31.

32.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

In December 2020, notices were given to each existing share
option holder according to the terms of the 2012 Scheme to
exercise their share options until close of business on 15
January 2021. As at close of business on 15 January 2021, no
share options were exercised and thus all share options granted
under the 2012 Scheme have lapsed and are not exercisable.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, no share option was
granted or exercised and all outstanding 115,895,632 share
options lapsed under the 2012 Scheme. No share option was
granted, exercised or cancelled and 79,613,463 share options
were lapsed under the 2012 Scheme during the year ended 31
March 2020.

As at 31 March 2021, the Company had no outstanding share
options granted. As at 31 March 2020, the Company had
115,895,632 shares issuable under outstanding options
granted under 2012 Scheme. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 115,895,632
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share
capital of HK$1,159,000 and share premium of
HK$345,306,000 (before issue expenses).

RESERVES

(@) The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium account

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in share premium account are
distributable to shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed,
the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

31.

32.
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32. RESERVES (continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(v)

Convertible instruments equity reserve

The convertible instruments equity reserve
represents the value of the unexercised equity
component of convertible instruments issued by the
Company. The reserve is dealt with in accordance
with accounting policies set out in note 2.4(x).

Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the portion of
the grant date fair value of unexercised share
options granted to eligible participants that has
been recognised in accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for share-based payments in note
2.4(1).

Capital redemption reserve

In prior years, the Company repurchased its own
ordinary shares and those repurchased shares were
cancelled. The premium payable on repurchase was
charged against the share premium account and
transferred to the capital redemption reserve.

Distributable reserve
The distributable reserve arose from prior years
including:

(a) the Company effected a capital reorganisation
which involved (i) consolidation of shares; (ii)
capital reduction; and (iii) the application of
the credit arising from such reduction towards
the distributable reserve of the Company;

(b) deemed disposals of partial interests in
subsidiaries to non-controlling interests;

(c) acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries
from non-controlling interests;

(d) a transfer from distributable reserve towards
the retained profits of the Company; and

(e) share of reserve of associates.
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32. RESERVES (continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(vi)  Special reserve
The special reserve represents the difference
between the aggregate amount of the share capital
and share premium account of a company which
was the former holding company of the Group and
the nominal value of the Company's shares issued
pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1992.

(vii) Statutory reserve

In accordance with the PRC regulations, all of the
Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
transfer part of their profit after tax to the statutory
surplus reserve, which are non-distributable, before
profit distributions are made. The amounts of the
transfers are subject to the approval of the board of
directors of these companies in accordance with
their articles of association.

(viii) Investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling)
The investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling)
comprises the cumulative net change in the fair
value of equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income under HKFRS
9 that is held at the end of the reporting period (see
note 2.4(i)).

(ix) Exchange fluctuation reserve
The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from translating
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in
note 2.4(w).

33. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2019, bank borrowings of approximately
RMB20,365,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$23,813,000)
were secured by bank deposits of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$23,387,000) and with a corporate
guarantee given by an independent third party and charges
over client’s pledged securities. Other borrowings of
approximately RMB5,559,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$6,500,000) were secured by certain finance lease
receivables with carrying amount of approximately
RMB9,846,000 (equivalent to HK$11,513,000). As disclosed in
note 2.1 to these consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company deconsolidated the bank borrowings
and other borrowings of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries from
the consolidated financial statements of the Group since 1
April 2019.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS (Continued) 33. 9 EER »)
As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, US$90,000,000 (equivalent to RZBEZ—FRZIF_FF=A=+—
approximately HK$702,000,000) of other borrowings were B HA4bf£E90,000,000% 7T (HHERLE
secured by the shares in the capital of certain wholly-owned #£702,000,0007T) AR R B1E T2 E W B
subsidiaries of the Company, 20% equity interest of Wins NRARAFRRG  NEBFEHWins
Finance held by the Group and personal guarantees given by Finance®)20% Az AN 1 & 2 ok 58 A4 fe HLBC /8
Mr. Zhang and his spouse. YE B B A ERIE A
As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the convertible bonds of RZBEZ—FRZZF_FF=A=+—
US$99,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$772,000,000), H99,000,000% T (HHE R LB
which were transferred to other borrowings during the year 772,000,0007T) 2 AT R ESH (REE
ended 31 March 2020, were secured by 30% equity interest of T-EF=A=1+—H JJ:EJ*EL%;.:,\
Wins Finance held by the Group. As at 31 March 2021 and MEE ) AAREBERFHWins Finance30%
2020, the convertible bonds of HK$429,197,000, which were B AR IEEB - R T - —F R T
transferred to other borrowings during the year ended 31 THE=H=+—H %%429,197,0007T 2
March 2020, were secured by approximately 12.17% equity TBRERESHF (RBEE2E-Z=_2F=A4
interest of the Securities Company held by the Group. =+—8 tifgﬂiﬁézﬁﬁﬁ%g)%zﬁ
EEFENIEFDRN12.17%RAEE R IE
H o
As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the convertible notes, which RZBEZ—FRZIF_FF=HA=+—
were transferred to other borrowings during the year ended 31 H AgREE(REBEE-_Z_ZFF=A4
March 2020, and the Notes were secured by certain listed shares —t+—HIFEEEREZHEMERE)RE
held by the Group, certain shares in the capital of a wholly- BUAREERBBEzET EmRGD A2 7A
owned subsidiary of the Company, approximately 17.26% equity —M2EMBARIKRAHR Z2ETFT KK &
interest of Wins Finance held by the Group, certain shares of the EE# A ZWins Financef) £917.26 %A% A
Company held by Mr. Zhang and personal guarantees given by i REEFANARAE TG KK
Mr. Zhang and his spouse. SEERARBEDLREABRERLR
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3. HERXH
(a) Saved as the transactions and arrangements disclosed (a) BEEUBREREMIBOFIHEEZR
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had SREZH|N REERREE_T = —
no other material transactions with related parties during FRZIZEZEF=A=1+— ElJJ:iF
the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. HEE U EEMERR
(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the (b) AEHRFEEBRABZHM:
Group:
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Fees we 1,259 926
Short-term employee benefits HHEERT 6,034 16,109
Post-employment payments RIRE T 9 85
Total compensation paid to key management ERIEZEE AE S22
personnel “a % N 7,302 17,120

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in
note 9 to these financial statements.

EEME 2 E— S HBENLEYHS
AR MIFES -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 35. RFMANB S zamIR
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RE|ERR FENzeRITAZREE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as [N
follows:
2021
—E-—F
Financial assets
SREE
Financial
Financial assets
assets  at fair value
at fair value through other
through comprehensive
profit or loss income
ERHAM
ERBEHEN  2EHAN
AFEGR AFEFIER
ZEREE ZEREE
Financial
assets
Held for Equity at amortised
trading  investments cost Total
REHAAK
SIiR2
HIFEE RERE tHEE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BET T
Other financial assets HitemEE - 744,651 - 744,651
Accounts receivable & U BE X - - 178,710 178,710
Financial assets included in prepayments, BERTER A - & R E it ek
deposits and other receivables HEZSREE - - 67,299 67,299
Investments at fair value through profit EBEZARFETIFEZRE
or loss 1,742 - - 1,742
Cash and bank balances Be L% - - 399,039 399,039
1,742 744,651 645,048 1,391,441

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows: (Continued)

2021 (Continued)

35. #MABSceMIR (&)

RBEPRR SRR zeMTAZREE
mr (&)

ZEZ-F (&)
Financial liabilities
EA =R
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R 8 R R
SR
ol u=Ri
HK$'000
BT T
Accounts payable FETRR X 40,210
Financial liabilities included in other payables and BEREMENRIEBERESER 2 CREBE
accruals 1,303,833
Borrowings BE 3,040,708
Lease liabilities HEAE 5,212
4,389,963

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows: (Continued)

35. EMABSceMIR (&)

RBEHR SEH 2T A ZKREE
mr ()

2020
—E-EF
Financial assets
TREE
Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value
atfairvalue  through other
through  comprehensive
profit or loss income
BREM
ERBERN 2EKA
AEEIE ARTETIE
LEREE LEBEE
Financial
assets
Held for Equity at amortised
trading investments cost Total
e S
iy
BIFEE iR E tRAE ek
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BB BETIL BETIL
Other financial assets EthemEE - 686,005 - 686,005
Accounts receivable ERER - - 22,005 22,005
Loans receivable ERER - - 143,040 143,040
Financial assets included in prepayments, BERENFE ke REMEKE
deposits and other receivables JEBEE - - 78,779 78,779
Investments at fair value through profit or loss #EBBZEUATFEIIE 2K E 3,071 - - 3,071
Cash and bank balances BeRFTES - - 149,605 149,605
3,071 686,005 393,429 1,082,505

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 35. BB cEMIRA (&)
(Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBERR SBAzeMmITACZERAA
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as T ()

36.

follows: (Continued)

2020 (Continued)
—ETF ()
Financial liabilities

THREaE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
biog: X ID N
(IS
TEEBE
HK$'000
AT T
Accounts payable FETER 5K 14,437

Financial liabilities included in other payables and BREREMENRBERETERZCRBE
accruals 664,852
Borrowings EE 2,755,687
Lease liabilities HEAE 13,277
3,448,253

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 36. EMITRZAFERLFERE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS &

Fair value hierarchy AFEER

The following table presents the fair value of the Group's financial TEREMAPMEHARNEBIZFEE LS
instruments measured at the end of the reporting period on a ENERITAECZRAFE(HDAESTBR
recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy HEEANEIRAFEFEREN=ZRRF
as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. The level into BER) - A FHEFESENRNTDLEMN
which a fair value measurement is classified is determined with BERMEANBABBCATBREERERX
reference to the observability and significance of the inputs used MR REE

in the valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 F-EHE-EERAE-EHAZE (AR
inputs, that is, unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for ATERMERME LHREEXRBEMNE
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date. FEBE)GTENATFE

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs, FEME-EFEAE_ERAZE (BT
that is, observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not HEFE—Bir=naERa A8IE)  ~ME
using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are AEARNABREABETEN A TFE.
inputs for which market data are not available. TR ER R ) A BURIE B35 BUR B B A BX

7o

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant Fo-EBEE - FRAEATTERE AZSE
unobservable inputs. FTEMRAFE-

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFE

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The Group uses an independent valuer to perform valuations of
financial instruments which are categorised into Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy. Valuation report with analysis of changes in
fair value measurement are prepared by the independent valuer
and are reviewed and approved by the directors of the
Company. Discussion of the valuation process and results with
the directors of the Company is held to coincide with the
reporting dates.

Assets measured at fair value:

36 EMTAZAFERATFEE

i’ =)

AFEBR(E)

AEENE GBI GEAHDEEAT
@@@*:ﬁmiﬂzﬂLﬁﬁ@

RNFEFHEZEHD Tﬁﬂﬁﬁfﬁi&%ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ
BERE YAARRESTERN LM E- T
FRB|EEOHBAARFRERTTwmAERF
KAER-

BAFEFEHEE
Fair value measurement using

ERAUATEEZATVENE

Quoted
prices  Significant  Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ER O BAUER BEATTHE
iz HRE A BIE WA HIE
(%5—-F8) (%5=[8) (B=FE) e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
As at 31 March 2021: R-E-—-%=B=+—H
Other financial assets HihemMEE 22,856 - 721,795 744,651
Investments at fair value through ~ BBIEZEAAFEEREZKE
profit or loss 1,742 - - 1,742
24,598 - 721,795 746,393
As at 31 March 2020: RZEZEF=A=+—H:
Other financial assets Hith B A E 25,704 - 660,301 686,005
Investments at fair value through ~ EBEmNAAFESERZKE
profit or loss 3,071 - - 3,071
28,775 - 660,301 689,076

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair
value as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, there were no transfers
of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and
no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and
liabilities (2020: Nil). The Group's policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as the end of
the reporting period in which they occur.

R_E-_—FR_F_FTF=-_A=1—
B AEEYEFEFZQAFEFENSR
BfE-

BE_T-—F=-"A=T-HLFE =
MEENRBENFE EBHF_EZEQF
BEFfEYEER TUYBBARBEHE=
B(ZZ-FF &) AKEZHEAR
HIRAFERBRZ FER L REHRER
AFEE

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurement
Unlisted equity investment is measured using valuation
techniques based on inputs that can be observed in the
markets in addition to unobservable inputs such as company
specific financial information.

The Group uses the key inputs of market comparable
companies, which include the valuation multiple and recent
transaction price, to determine the fair value of the unlisted
equity investment as at 31 March 2021 and 2020. The
unobservable inputs are valuation multiple, marketability
discount and minority discount. Valuation multiple represents
price-to-book ratio. The higher the valuation multiple, the
lower the discounts for lack of marketability or minority, the
higher the fair value.

No sensitivity analysis is disclosed for the impact of changes in
the relevant unobservable data as the directors of the Company

considers that the exposure is insignificant to the Group.

The movements during the period in the balance of the Level 3
fair value measurement are as follows:

Unlisted equity investment

36 EMTAZAFERATFEE

i’ =)

AFEBR(E)
E=FAFEHBEZEHN

I FTRER A ERNTIE AT EBRNEG
ABE URAFRSTEHBEENETTEH
B A BIE - F LR E

AEEERATIHAIE LR AR R BERE A
gE (ERAERBLOBRSER)EE
FLTREREN T -_—FR_ZT_F
F=Z=A=+—BZAFE -TABEEHA
BB AMERE mHRBMET &R
PRS- (HERBIEMRE - AEFHY
= R T 5 N s D BUR M Y AT AR
K RFELS-

WESBETITBRBBEESTNTERE
BRERESN REEARARTEEZREZE
S AEBEmMFLTEKN

FEZERAVEFEEARZIHANEHNT

ELEmRERE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
At 1 April R H—H 660,301 1,573,493
Net unrealised gains/(losses) recognised in ~ F AR E 2 H W AR KER
other comprehensive income during the Wz (E#E)FHE
year 61,494 (913,192)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 721,795 660,301
Note: B 5 -

Any gain or loss arising from the remeasurement of the Group's
unlisted equity investment held for strategic purposes are recognised in
the investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) in other
comprehensive income. Upon disposal of the equity investment, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive income/loss is transferred
directly to accumulated losses.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried at
amortised cost are not materially different from their fair values as at
31 March 2021 and 2020.

AEBEFERBERE 2 LD RBRESHE
EEAZWENBREREMEZIBATHRE
ERFEA (TR NER-REERERE
& HthzmBA/BEAZRTLREERSE
ARETER

RIE-—FR-_Z-_FF=ZA=+—-H 'K
%I&ﬁ&iﬁﬁﬁ)\ﬁﬁﬂ’]@mﬂlﬁﬂ’]ﬁﬁ@@ 15
NFELEERER -
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37. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 37. MBEETHMEENARHIE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities from TRFMAEERMETHMEENAEE
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. g aRERELIERCEY RETIME
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for FHBEEFERGEReERERPRS
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified MEBREADBEANARKRERELESEA

in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash BMETHEANRERNMNAE"

flows from financing activities.

Interest
payable
included
in other
payable and Lease
accruals liabilities Borrowings Total
BEREM
EARER
it ER
ZEMFE HEBE HERE mE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BET T
At 1 April 2020 RZZEZTFMA—H 638,897 13,277 2,755,687 3,407,861
Payment of lease rentals TS - (5,178) - (5,178)
Proceeds from borrowings BEMRBHE - - 4,897,085 4,897,085
Repayment of borrowings BREE - - (4,612,064) (4,612,064)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ AFEBER ST 2B
for the year - (5,178) 285,021 279,843
Other changes: Hin &
Finance costs BENA 630,957 801 2,207 633,965
Interest paid BHFIE (10,578) - (2,207) (12,785)
New lease AMEME - 7,550 - 7,550
Termination of a lease MERLE - (11,238) - (11,238)
At 31 March 2021 RZE-—%=ZA=1—H 1,259,276 5,212 3,040,708 4,305,196

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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37. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 37.MEEHMELENARYEE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (continued) (#&)
Interest
payable
included
in other
payables and Lease  Convertible
accruals liabilities instruments  Borrowings Total
BEREM
JERRIE K
[EFtE R
ZERFIE HEBRE THRRIA TEEE kD
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BB BT BETT BT
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NFNA—H 26,324 - 1,347,922 1,398,756 2,773,002
Effect arising form adoption of BMBEBUBREERE 165
HKFRS 16 EENTE - 24,098 - - 24,098
At 1 April 2019 (restated) RZZE-AFEA—-A
(E3)) 26,324 24,098 1,347,922 1,398,756 2,797,100
Payment of lease rentals YRS - (13,932) - - (13,932)
Total changes from financing cash  NEERER SR 2 &1
flows for the year - (13,932) - - (13,932)
Other changes: Hin#
Finance costs HEMAR 551,040 3,111 129,439 - 683,590
Interest paid BERFHE (22,973) - (5,596) - (28,569)
Exchange adjustment ERTRCES 98 - 77 - 175
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries UG A ARNB AR (190) - - (30,313) (30,503)
Transfer to borrowings and BREREREMNAE
interests payable - - (1,471,842) - (1,471,842)
Transfer from convertible instruments E&E B A AKITA 84,598 - - 1,387,244 1,471,842
At 31 March 2020 RZZEZZF=A=1—H 638,897 13,277 - 2,755,687 3,407,861
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38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND LITIGATION

(a)

Wins Finance was a deconsolidated subsidiary of the
Group and certain of its executive officers were named as
defendants in two civil securities lawsuits filed in two U.S.
District Courts (the “Lawsuit A” and the “Lawsuit B”,
collectively referred to as the “Lawsuits”) in April 2017.
Both Lawsuits were putative class action lawsuits where
plaintiffs’ counsels sought to represent the entire class of
shareholders who acquired Wins Finance’s securities
between 29 October 2015 and 29 March 2017. Both
Lawsuits asserted the same statutory violations under the
U.S. Securities Exchange Act, alleged, in sum and
substance, that the defendants made false and
misleading statements, or failed to disclose material facts,
in Wins Finance's prospectuses, press releases, and filings
with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
(the”SEC") in connection with its growth, business
prospects and the adequacy of its internal controls. The
Lawsuits also alleged that Wins Finance misrepresented
the location of its principal executive office in the SEC
filings. The Lawsuits further alleged that Wins Finance's
stock price fell when the alleged misstatements or
omissions became known to investors. The plaintiffs
sought unspecified monetary damages, including interest,
costs and attorney’s fees and other relief as the court
deemed just.

In July 2017, the plaintiffs of Lawsuit A filed a notice to
the U.S. District Court declaring that Lawsuit A is
voluntarily dismissed, without prejudice and without costs
to any party, and the court subsequently terminate
Lawsuit A. Accordingly, the directors of Wins Finance
considered no contingent liabilities would arise from
Lawsuit A.

38. A RARKGFR

(a)

RZEBE—tFWNA (BAAEEZ—
MECEG A ARKBAR) REET
1T A BRI B i@ AT i H Y
WRREEHFFLD (FRA] R
B i A [ZEHFD)RFWIA
W R EFDY AT EBFL
RERMSKIREXRZZE—RFTH
Zt+hBEZZE—+F=A=+NH
HAREE B T Wins FinanceiBE 5 1) 2 2
JEER-ZEFRIER (CEEFEHRR
%) BTHHEBEEERTA 4
i & 2 36 18 1 4 FE Wins Financefy 14
BER FEREAEZEREAFRFHE
Bg ([XHBEg ) RBRHXMHH
ER TEBESR EBATSE RAE
FE B A E R AR ERR A - sk R B
FERBEARETE - ZEHFAMNE
#  Wins Financeft iz X T EB & &
SRR EBRL T EEFZHITA
BEME - X EHRAE—FIEREE
BRI SGEREIRE & ME
& *Wins FinanceWIRE T & - RE=
KEBATNEEREE BEAE -
A ZEEBRERRALESHEM
B o

RZZE—EF+ A FRANRE M
EBMRIARIER B B P IR
A R —FNZEE IR EAE
EAFE EFBERBRKLIEFRA
It Wins Finance® £ 5 ' sF iAAT
SEEXHAEE-
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3. N REBEBREFER (&)

38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND LITIGATION
(Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

In June 2017, the court issued an order appointing lead
plaintiffs and lead counsel for Lawsuit B. In August 2017,
lead plaintiffs of Lawsuit B filed an amended class action
complaint. The amended complaint claimed against Wins
Finance for securities fraud purportedly arising from
alleged misrepresentations concerning its principal
executive offices (which alleged misrepresentations
resulted in Wins Finance being added to, and then
removed from, the Russell 2000 index). In October 2017,
Wins Finance moved to dismiss the amended complaint
for failure to state a claim against it. In March 2018, the
court issued an order to deny Wins Finance’s motion to
dismiss. Thus, Lawsuit B proceeded to the fact gathering
stage. In June 2018, counsel for the parties appeared
before the court for an initial scheduling conference and
the court entered a schedule for discovery and additional
motions. In July 2018, the plaintiffs filed with the court
proof of summons and amended complaint against
certain individual defendants and in August 2018, such
individual defendants moved to dismiss the amended
complaint for failure to state a claim against them. In
September 2018, the lead plaintiffs filed a motion
seeking class certification. In that motion, the lead
plaintiffs did not specify the amount of alleged class-wide
damages, nor did they provide any methodology for the
calculation of the same. Wins Finance’s opposition to that
motion was due in December 2018. In October 2018, the
court issued an order dismissing the action against an
individual defendant without prejudice, for the lead
plaintiffs’ failure to timely serve such individual defendant
with the summons and amended complaint.

As a result of a private mediation conducted in November
2018, Wins Finance agreed in principle to settle the class
action, on behalf of all remaining defendant parties. The
Court granted preliminary approval of the settlement by
order entered in March 2019, and has rescheduled a final
settlement approval hearing on 18 May 2020.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to these consolidated financial
statements, control over Wins Finance was deemded to
have lost since 1 April 2019. Accordingly, the directors of
the Company have been unable to obtain sufficient
documentary information regarding the Lawsuits.

(a)

(&)
RZE—tFRA EREHRGS
HFRBEEERERERE R ERM-
RZZE—tF N\ FRBNERER
R R RN BFE - R =
T —+ %+ H Wins Finance®hzH
Ree T EFARE MR ELIEET R
2 R T NFZH KRB MHD
% $EBWins Finance# & @ & 3% °
FEt - SFREABEITIE B ERE - N =
T—NFRA FHEMBINER
MIrEEAERREgE ERe s
WERBINSZATRHRER - R
—N\Ft A REHHEHETEAWRSE
ANEEBL IR R (B MR 75 B RS ET B R
E RZZE-NFNA ZEBEAK
EABZEREHEFHPAREMKE
BIEETRFE- R -_E—NFENA
BERRERREZ SHKEBRE-
EZBHT HFREAHNBERS
BRIEZLAST SARIREEMEBT
& J73%° Wins FinanceR —Z— )\ F
T AREEZDENEZ R _Z
—N\F+A EREHA -—EHGTS K
B — R EARSE AT EIEE
F BEHEEFRERENFRZE
AEE NREEA SRR EIEET R

=,
=

AR ZZE—N\F+— AETEIIG
fi# » Wins FinanceB R KB & ~#
EANRA FRIEMFZERFA L
RER-ZZ—NF=ZRAEHEDS ¥
SHEMG TEFHAER_Z=F
FRHA+T/\BEBITREME I ER
Al

MZEHREMEREMFE2.1FT
= ¥Wins FinanceZ ¥ i # 3 48 1F
BEE-ZT—hAFNAE—HEEAE-R
I AR R ERELRESEBZER
MZTERXEER -

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)

179



180

Notes to the Financial Statements
BF 75 3 3} B &

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

38.

39.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND LITIGATION

(Continued)

(b) The hearing of the Petition was adjourned to a date to be
fixed no earlier than August 2021. At this stage, there is
no information to suggest and hence may be premature
for the Group to predict the outcome of this hearing as
well as any potential loss (if any) that may arise.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise
borrowings and cash and bank balances. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group's
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as accounts receivable, loans receivable,
factoring receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, investments at fair value
through profit or loss, other financial assets, accounts payable,
lease liabilities and financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals, which mainly arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, equity price risk
and currency risk. Management reviews and establishes policies
for managing each of these risks which are summarised below.

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to its interest-bearing financial assets and
liabilities. Interest-bearing financial assets are mainly bank
deposits primarily at floating interest rates which are
mostly short-term in nature whereas financial liabilities
are certain other borrowings at floating interest rates. The
Group's policy is to obtain the most favourable interest
rate available.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to loans receivable, factoring receivables and
certain borrowings. Management considers the Group's
exposure to fair value interest rate risk is not significant
due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from cash
and bank balances, and interest-bearing borrowings.

3. A REBBEREFER (&)

(b) EFRAWMEE_ZT_—F)N\ABZA
BENBHET BEAEETESR
B (IRAIRE BB TR ) TER A X B A
RN AT L E M T E IR L
(nAE) -

39. M MR EE B RE R

AEEzFEZSRTIARRBEERRE R
RITEHR ZEZEeRMIATEEEARAE
B EERET -AKEHEBZHEMS
MEENABE WXI2HEZETERE
A2 FEUARSR - FRUE R - U AR IE R IR
BEREMNFE R hEMERFIELZ
CREE BRBERUQNTEIIKZERE
HeREE BHNEX HERERERE
REMENREREFERTZERE

f&e

AEEZEMIAMEEZTERR AT
KE FEERR RBHESEAR - KREE
REREEERR - EEEBREESEHR
A RS Kol T BUR - IR e

(a) FZEEB
AEBERSHRAGFEEREENAE
BRENRERANERR AEERE
EXBRFEBNERGE ZRITHER
(Ko BEREE) meRaER
REBRERGFEZETHMEE -
AEBZHERE CERREENE-

AR B A B U E R R AR IR
RIENETEEZ R FENXRER -
ERERA ARZETLAZIHE
B EE - NREBE A FEN X @R
TR

AEBENNXREREERBRS MR
TR MEtEtEE-

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



Notes to the Financial Statements

RN

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZ-F=-—F=H=+—HIFFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. i#EEBETEEAEHEBEER 2
AND POLICIES (continued)
(a) Interest rate risk (Continued) (a) A=mEb (£&)

(i) Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile
of the Group’s assets and liabilities at the end of the

reporting period:

(i) FEEXR

TREMBEMAARBEE
BB R R

2021 2020
—E-—F —ZEZTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Fixed interest rate & E Fl| &
Financial assets ERMEE
Loans receivable JEURE 5k - 143,040
Financial liabilities =K
Borrowings B 2,997,708 2,712,687
Net fixed interest rate financial BEfEemT A F5E
instruments (2,997,708) (2,569,647)
2021 2020
—E-—F —_EETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Variable interest rate ] & F &
Financial assets EREE
Cash at bank wITHEE 399,039 149,605
Financial liabilities EREE
Borrowings BE 43,000 43,000
Net variable interest rate financial AN Eem T A HE
instruments 356,039 106,605
Fixed rate borrowings as a percentage BEEFXEEHBAEENB L
of total borrowings 99% 98%

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(a) Interest rate risk (Continued)

30. MERMEREFEEHBK »)

() F=EER (&)

(i)  Sensitivity analysis (i) BBEEZH
The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from ﬁﬁlﬂ’lﬂtﬂ £§X§1
borrowings. Borrowings with variable rates expose cEESAEEAZIESRF
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. i?_iﬂ&
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a TRITAEERBATERE (&£
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all 5¥,%\1§EZ$5%T)551$EIE§
other variables held constant, of the Group’s loss %ﬁ‘%ﬁﬂ“‘hz—fﬁﬁé """"" BE o5
before tax (through the impact on floating rate RRE - &R RERATE A EH g
borrowings) and the Group's deficit. B o
Decrease/
Increase/ (increase) Decrease/
(decrease) in in loss (increase)
basis points before tax in deficit*
RR B AT
g,/ BiEmd Batm L,
OR2) (#Zm) (#Ehn) *
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
2021 —EZF
Hong Kong dollar ok 25 (108) -
Hong Kong dollar ok (25) 108 -
Decrease/
Increase/ (increase) Increase/
(decrease) in in loss (decrease)
basis points before tax in deficit*
B 35 Al
Eeghigm, BiEm L, B AL,
O ) () R *
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
2020 —T-FTF
Hong Kong dollar B 25 (108) -
Hong Kong dollar B (25) 108 -
* Excluding accumulated losses * BIERETEE

The Group does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arises. The
directors consider the Group's exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk of bank deposits is not significant.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZ-F=-—F=H=+—HIFFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s major exposure to credit risk relates to
accounts receivable, loans receivable, factoring
receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables and cash and bank
balances from default by the counterparties, with a
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of
these instruments.

The Group's accounts receivable, loans receivable and
factoring receivables (“loan business”) arise from the
ordinary course of business of the Group and are closely
monitored by the management on an ongoing basis.

(i)  Credit risk arising from loan business

The Group has taken measures to identify credit
risks arising from loan business. The Group manages
credit risk at every stage of the risk management
system, including pre-approval, review and credit
approval and post-transaction monitoring processes.
The Group conducts customer acceptance and due
diligence by business department and risk
management department during the pre-approval
process. A transaction may be subject to the review
and approval officer and the executive directors
depending on the transaction size.

During the post-transaction monitoring process, the
Group performs credit evaluations on each and
every major customer periodically. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the
customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates. In
addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model upon application of
HKFRS 9 on loan business individually or based on a
provision matrix. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

30. MR EREFERKE »)

(b) FERR
AEBERUTENEEZTREER
e B2 8 LA B K~ B UK 3R R MR AR I
RE BRAERNRE R REM
FEWGRIAT 2 & BB E KRS MIRTT
EHBRAER ESARBRERZELA
ZBRE{E

ARER B 2 FEYRR R~ U E 3R K FE W
RIBFRIR ([ERERH] ) EAREE—
MREBBETEL THERERE

so o mr o
B BR B o

() BREBELHEERE
AR CREUE BB B E
BEENEERR - NEBRE
SEERRNBEBREERR
ERk - BREREL BERE
EHEARRHRERERF TR
BHERET AKEAEEHBR
RRERLETEPEARE
BT -BIXZHREME X
HAREBEHEERATESSE
B N o

RHBEREFT  AEETEH
HERTEREPETEERN
o REFEBEINEFPBEDN
NRELRBEAEEED T
BEFHBEEMREPKEE
PE Bl R B 8B IR IR = S - 10
&R A W15 S £ R E 95
% ARBERBEEMEERER
B B SREE T (E Bl S R R B
FEEETRERE B S -
ARREERR ARENEE
B B K 8 FR A
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. BB ETEEAEHEBEER 2

AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) &R (&)
(i)  Credit risk arising from loan business () BREBELHEERRE
(Continued) (%)

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in
which the customer operates and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers.

At the end of reporting period, 32%, 0% and 0%
(2020: 84%, 100% and 0%) of the total accounts
receivable, loans receivable and factoring receivables
were due from the Group’s five largest debtors
respectively while 18%, 0% and 0% (2020: 26%,
65% and 0%) respectively were due from the
Groups' largest debtor.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from loan business are
disclosed in notes 20, 21 and 22 respectively, to
these financial statements.

(ii) Other credit risk (i)

In respect of other receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all debtors requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the debtor’'s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the
debtors as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the debtor operates.

The credit risk on cash and bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)

AEEEENEERRIER
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S E R E R E P m R EARR
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RIFER - BUERR - B E
HEERREBEBRELBEDN
32% 0% K0% (T T4
84% ~100% K.0% ) 7 Bl & Yo A<
SERAREBA MI8% 0%
0% (ZEZFF :26%
65% N&0% ) 7 Bl FE U A £ B &
KEFBEA

FRAARBREREBELN
EERROE - T ELEED
FBREBERZFM B HREME
202122 -

Rl E R
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZ-F=-—F=H=+—HIFFE
39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. MEBRIREEHFEEBEK )
AND POLICIES (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) FERBK (&)
(iii) Impairment assessment Giii) HEFFE
Accounts receivable from margin clients ERFHFRE IR

TRINTIRZEBEZ—FR=F
—EFZRAZ+—HERFE
EFERFERAEBEEBR
MNEEEEkEaEERR (£
SHEHNEREEELE  RIEE
EBERALXE NN ESE
MHER) A RFRIZEEDLE-
FIEMEeBARKNITFRER

The table below shows the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk of accounts
receivable from margin clients based on the Group's
credit policy, which is mainly based on LTV unless
other information is available without undue cost or
effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31
March 2021 and 2020. The amounts presented are
carrying amounts for accounts receivable from

margin clients. FRE) AR (E -
2021
—E-—F
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A 78 58
FEFE GENERDNGEERR
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
EPRER SE20 & E3WER k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BET T BET T BET T
Margin clients FREP
- LTV at 80% —EREBELEXA
or above* 80% i JA E* 3,920 - - 3,920
— LTV between —BEREEBELEA
70% and 79% 70%279% 1,520 - - 1,520
- LTV between -BEREEELERA
60% and 69% 60% £69% 423 - - 423
— LTV less than —BEREEBELE
60% E7160% 131,738 - - 131,738
137,601 - - 137,601

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)



186

Notes to the Financial Statements
BF 75 3 3} B &

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. MEBRIREEHFEEBE )
AND POLICIES (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) &R (&)
(iii) Impairment assessment (Continued) (iii) JEFFE (E)
Accounts receivable from margin clients (Continued) ERAREFPER (&)
2020
—ETF
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A 75 53
EEEBE FEPRESEEFE
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F1RE 2B E3RE BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BET T BETT
Margin clients FREP
- LTV at 80% - ENEREBELER
or above* 80%3k LA |- * 2,160 - - 2,160
~ LTV between -EXHEEBELER
70% and 79% 70%%79% - - - -
— LTV between -ERHEBELEA
60% and 69% 60% £ 69% 127 - - 127
— LTV less than - BREEBEL X
60% E7260% 13,753 - - 13,753
16,040 - - 16,040
* The directors of the Company considered all * RAREECLERBEFTBLKAKL

available material information without undue cost or
effort and determined these exposures to be
classified as stage 1.

BHEMESHRABEENER I
EERZERRIBREIER-

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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30. MR EREFERKE »)

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
(iii) Impairment assessment (Continued)
Other financial assets, which are subject to ECL
assessment
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

(b) FERBK (&)
(iii) BEFFE (E)

HivemEE (BETRBEES

EEFG)
AEBEARMEERR D BTG
BIEA TR

Internal credit rating Description

Accounts receivable

Other financial
assets/other items

Hibem&Esr
M ER 1= AT AR i J& U AR 7K Hith18 B
Low risk The counterparty has a low Lifetime ECL 12-month ECL
risk of default and does not — not credit-impaired
have any past-due amounts
1K 2 B2 HFEANBNRRE BEXE HFEBHEREESE 2@/ EBEEEE
£ fa] 280 B 5K IH —EBEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays Lifetime ECL 12-month ECL
after due dates but usually - not credit-impaired
settle after due date
BREAE BEEALERIBMAZER HFEPHBEREEERE 2EAEBEEEE
BE-RRIHEREE —EBEERE
Doubtful There have been significant Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
increases in credit risk since — not credit-impaired - not credit-impaired
initial recognition through
information developed
internally or external
resources
~ER BEBARMSENSINGE FERHRERREEBHE FEHREHEEEE
ROFERAKR  FERRE —-BEERE —BEERE
NUEEEDIl
Loss There is evidence indicating Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
the asset is credit impaired — credit-impaired — credit-impaired
g ERBERPEECLEERE FEAHNRREEEE FENRENHEEEE
—2EERE -BfEERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating Amount is written off  Amount is written off
that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and the
Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery
€ EEBRABBARNEEY KECDME IR B

BRH BASELEEER
BE U B 3R

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

30. MERMEREFERKE »)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) &R (&)
(iii) Impairment assessment (Continued) Giii) EFFE (E)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TRFAMIRAEEEEITIE
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to HEEBETMTNEREEDN
ECL assessment: EERR :
External Internal 12-month or
credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL Gross carrying amounts
REARFERE
MPERTR  RBERTR RAGERE BREE
2021 2020
—E--F  CZTCEZF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
fizE BRI BETIL
Financial assets at amortised cost
REHRASIR s eRER
Accounts receivable - margin clients 22 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 138,291 16,120
ERES-FREP A e 12EAEE
REFR
22 N/A Loss Lifetime ECL 157,701 157,701
- credit-impaired
TER B FERMES
REER
-BEERE
Accounts receivable - clearing house, 22 N/A note 1 Lifetime ECL 41,150 5,966
insurance hrokerage and futures
brokerage
ERER -5 RRELERBEER TEm Mg FEHEES
REEFR
Loans receivable 20 N/A Loss Lifetime ECL 1,791,936 2,104,185
- credit-impaired
EWER TEm BiE FESEES
REER
-BEERE
Factoring receivables 21 N/A Loss Lifetime ECL 312,659 299,079
- credit-impaired
FERRETE THEA & FEHEES
REER
-BEERE
Other receivables and deposits 19 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 67,299 78,779
EENFERES TR e 12EAEE
REFR
Cash and bank balances 24 AA+ N/A 12-month ECL 399,039 149,605
BeRRTES TER 12EAEE
REER

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE-F—-—F=F=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(iii) Impairment assessment (Continued)

For accounts receivable (excluding accounts
receivable from margin clients), the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to
measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except
for debtors with significant outstanding balances or
credit-impaired, the Group determines the expected
credit losses on these items by using a provision
matrix, grouped by past due status.

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the
Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment
for its customers in relation to its insurance
brokerage and futures brokerage because these
customers consist of a large number of small
customers with common risk characteristics that are
representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all
amounts due in accordance with the contractual
terms. The following table provides information
about the exposure to credit risk for accounts
receivable which are assessed based on a provision
matrix as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 within
lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). Debtors with
significant outstanding balances or credit-impaired
were assessed individually.

30. MR EREFERKE »)

(b) FERBK (&)
(iii) BEFFE (E)
B 5

T BERIRSR (T eE Rk
REPKEFMmME AEED
e BB I T s A R B 95
meE LR EFAESME
HEEBRENEERE KA
BEARRKEEHREEEER
BRI BB AN AL R
BaEE (R 8)
EREHENTAHMEER
B

ERAEEEERKBEEDN
— &85 AEEFREEKRE
HEBERBLCLRBEEK
LHEPFTMRE  REZ
ERFRERENEF AR

ﬁmﬂm%%(%&%g
ﬁ&W DGR AEE
%mﬁmm ) o TRIEHRA
B —FRIZTZF=
AR=+—BFEBHEESHE
EEE (EEERE) AER
T 8 2B P AT &) FE M BR SR
FEERBHER - ABEAR
KE#HKBEEERENE
% AMERIET AR o

2021

—E-—F
Gross carrying amount Average Accounts
BEREE loss rate receivable
FIBEE FE W BR R
HK$'000
BT T
Current (not past due) BVER (K@ ER) -% 7,981
1-30 days past due #H§1-30R 4% 23
31-60 days past due #1H31-60H 9% 11
61-90 days past due #1H161-90H % -
More than 90 days past due &1 HR iR 3890 B 34% 11
8,126

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFFZE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. BB ETEEAEHEBEER 2

AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) &R (&)
(iii) Impairment assessment (Continued) Giii) EFFE (E)
Note: (Continued) sk : (4&)
1. (Continued)
2020
—E_EF
Gross carrying amount Average Accounts
AR (A loss rate receivable
T EEE JE Uy B 5K
HK$'000
BT T
Current (not past due) BVER (K@ Ef) -% -
1-30 days past due #H31-30H -% 122
31-60 days past due 1 H#931-60H -% 98
61-90 days past due #1 H#961-90H -% -
More than 90 days past due &1 HR iR 3890 H 33% 3
223
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on BEEEXIRNEBNEFTFHR
historical observed default rates over the expected ERBRINEZELHEME WS
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward- FREK AL 1 BN A] 1S K B IE
looking information that is available without undue MERELAE-
cost or effort.
(c) Liquidity risk (c) RBELER

The Group's liquidity position is critical to its continuing
existing and measures are formulated to improve its
liquidity and solvency position. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and long term.

The maturity profile of the financial liabilities as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

AEBEZRBESHNHEFETE
EHEE MAKBCHIRI BN
EERPUREEENAR - AEE
ZBRREMERRBRLERRDE
EFERMERERELERRL - ARERE
FRrRARSHERNERRREMZR

RBERR SREBERSORURI
MRZEHBEROT -

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZ-F=-—F=H=+—HIFFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. MR ETHEAERE%R »)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) () “BESEAR (Z)
2021
—E--F

Contractual undiscounted cash flow

BRAMRAERE

Within one One Carrying
year or on to five Over amount
demand years  five years Total at 31 March

R

R—FR5 ZA=+-H
BEX —Z21F EFENE B ZHRHEE

HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
AT BETx  BRTx  BEBTx BETrn

Non-derivative financial FTESREE:
liabilities:
Accounts payable FETER X 40,210 - - 40,210 40,210
Financial liabilities included in B3R E MM ERZER
other payables and accruals EAERz22RER 1,300,570 3,263 - 1,303,833 1,303,833
Lease liabilities HEAE 2,856 2,856 - 5,712 5,212
Borrowings e 3,010,708 30,000 - 3,040,708 3,040,708
4,354,344 36,119 - 4,390,463 4,389,963
2020
i 3
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
BRRERRENE
Within one One Carrying
year or on to five Over amount
demand years five years Total  at 31 March
i
R—FN%K —AZ+-H
REX —E0F AFENE k] ZREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BT BETT BETT
Non-derivative financial FTESREE:
liabilities:
Accounts payable JER AR 14,437 - - 14,437 14,437
Financial liabilities included in B 3E R B b fE (1 5008 I fE =T
other payables and accruals BRzEBERE 664,852 - - 664,852 664,852
Lease liabilities HEAE 13,932 1,045 - 14,977 13,277
Borrowings B 3,362,820 31,764 - 3,394,584 2,755,687

4,056,041 32,809

4,088,850 3,448,253

RETHMRERBER AR (EEEHEEEFEA) 191



192

Notes to the Financial Statements
BF 75 3 3} B &

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE_-F-—F=HA=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(d)

30. MERMEREFERKE »)

Equity price risk (d) BEEERR
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities S e (B 48 L e 46 BB S AR M 48 BUK T 2
decrease as a result of changes in the level of equity &5 5 EEE B SR AR FER
indices and the value of individual securities. The Group is b7 BB o AN B 2 AR A B A B B 2k
exposed to equity price risk arising from certain equity BETRERE KRNEBH 2 LTHIRE
investments. The Group's listed investments are listed on FE B 22 T _E T Q0 70 R 5 B R DA T 45 )
the Stock Exchange and are valued at quoted market f’ﬂﬂﬁ"f%’* BARRE THER
prices at the end of the reporting period. Decisions to buy BERERNEFELARITERRS
or sell trading securities are based on daily monitoring of E’Ji‘%ﬁ&ﬁﬁlm@]é‘i\ ZIEH -
the performance of the individual security compared with BATESBEMEEWATETE
the relevant industry indicators, as well as the Group's BRI ERFERBMEENMIEEE
liquidity needs. Equity investments at fair value through ER-AEEBTRBEREEZER
other comprehensive income are held for strategic rather ‘o
than trading purposes. The Group does not actively trade
these investments.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the TR & E AR 0 IR E B R
Group's results to every 5% change in the fair values of REANABRETREREATES
certain equity investments to which the Group has PHS% BRE EFBREMBHE
significant exposure at the end of the reporting period, B R TE - IR R B
with all other variables held constant and before any HE PRSI E  HiRAFEE
impact on tax. For the purpose of this analysis, for certain BAEMEEBRATRGE0ME THM
other financial assets measured at fair value through PREECHEERRERASHH
other comprehensive income, the impact was deemed to & (PE) w5228 WEmET R sEss
be on the investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) BntEmrcBlE-
and no account was given for factors which might impact
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
Carrying Change in
amount of loss Change
investments before tax in equity*
R B Al
REREE HiEEY RESH>
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT A¥TT BETT
2021 —E-—
Investments at fair value BRBEAANTEINEZRE
through profit or loss 1,742 87 -
2020 —EFF
Investments at fair value FERBERARATEIEZRE
through profit or loss 3,071 154 -

* Excluding accumulated losses

* TeEREESR

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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30. MR EREFERKE »)

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

()

Currency risk

The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

At 31 March 2021, the Group is exposed to currency risk,
primarily with respect to borrowings with aggregate
principal amount of US$264,661,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,067,643,000) (2020:
US$264,661,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,067,643,000)) which are denominated in US$. As
HK$ is pegged to USS$, the foreign exchange risk
exposures are considered limited. The Group did not have
any financial instruments used for hedging purpose.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’'s capital
management are to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements except for certain subsidiaries engaged in
the securities and futures broking businesses and the
provision of corporate finance advisory services, which are
regulated entities under the SFC and a subsidiary, which is
registered under the Hong Kong Insurance Companies
Ordinance (the "ICQO"), are required to comply with the
respective minimum capital requirements of the SFC and
the 1CO. During the financial year, all the licensed
subsidiaries complied with the minimum capital
requirements of the SFC and the ICO respectively. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
March 2021 and 2020.

(e)

()

B¥RAR
AEEWBINEH NBEK AT E
BEERINERR XHEETER
ZREHERINERR

MR-E-—FE=A=+—H A&£H
MEEEERR  EBHRUAETFE
N4 48 %8 /5264,661,000FE 7T (HHE
MRHUEH2,067,643,0000T) (ZE =
T 1 264,661,000E 7T (HEER L
#2,067,643,00000) ) Z g E - AR
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(f) Capital management (Continued)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
borrowings divided by the equity attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company. The gearing ratios as at

30. MERMEREFERKE »)

f) BEXER(E)

AEERBEELXEREL HE

HRIZEERUARAFE

BEDRA

AEHEEmTE - RBEHR AE

the end of the reporting periods were as follows: EEELRENAT:
2021 2020
—E-—F —ZEZETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Borrowings BE 3,040,708 2,755,687

Deficit attributable to ordinary equity holders Zx A &) L @AEE A A

of the Company JE 1 5 At 2,974,821 2,331,231
Gearing ratio BELX N/A i F N/A 38

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



40.

OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The following tables represent details of financial instruments

subject to offsetting:

Notes to the Financial Statements

RN

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE-F—-—F=F=+—HILFE

40. EEHMEEREMAR

Related amounts
not set off in the
consolidated statement
of financial position

TREJNNATEHEZEMTAFSE:

Gross Net W#RAGEIBRRRREHS
amountsof  amounts of JHBELHE
recognised financial
financial assets
liabilities presented
Gross  setoff inthe in the
amountsof  consolidated  consolidated
recognised  statement of statement Cash
financial financial  of finandial Finandial collateral
Asset assets position position  instruments pledged Total
€E RERHE  RERHH
HRRBREH HRERES
ERACH ZCRASH <EREE BEARSE
EEEE  AEAER 38  eRIR i) aE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BETrn  A%TR BT A%t BETx
2021 Z3--F
Accounts receivable arising from: BUTEE 2 RIER
- clearing houses ~#EfH 31,315 - 31,315 - - 31,315
- margin clients -FREF 12,403 - 12,403 - - 12,403
2020 ~E-%
Accounts receivable arising from: BUTEEZRIER:
- clearing houses ~#Ef 5,743 - 5,743 - - 5,743
- margin clients -HREF 3,202 - 3,202 - - 3,202
Gross Net Related amounts
amountsof  amounts of not set off in the
recognised financial ~ consolidated statement
financial liabilities of financial position
assets  presented VRRGZEHHERRRREH
Gross  setoffinthe in the ZIEESE
amountsof  consolidated  consolidated
recognised  statement of statement Cash
financial financial  of finandial Financial collateral
Liability liabilities position position  instruments pledged Total
=k REREE REHE WNEEEE
MABKZS] WRBREE KRBRKZF
ZEREE 2ERASA 2ERAE BERRS
RE  BEAH RE  ERIA k) ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETL BETL BETL BB BETL BETL
2021 Z3=Z-F
Accounts payable arising from: BUTEEZENER:
- clearing houses ~BE 27,329 - 27,329 - - 27,329
— margin clients -HREP 571 - 571 - - 571
2020 Z3C%F
Accounts payable arising from: BUTEEZENER:
- clearing houses —&EH 9,977 - 9,977 - - 9,977
- margin clients -HREP m - m - - 7
RESHMMEERERAR(CEEHERBEEAN)
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A 1-FE

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

41. XAFIMBRAERE

RI\ERREAARAMB R R A
R

2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSET FRBEE

Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZKE - -
Total non-current assets EMEBEERLE - -

CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables &1t FUIE « 3% & K £ th 8 Yg 7 1B 5 57
Cash and bank balances Be RIRTHE 183,298 21,944
Total current assets BB ELE 183,303 22,001

CURRENT LIABILITIES DEIR=Ri
Other payables and accruals HiENS IE&J'E Jr”égﬁﬁ 1,273,130 648,720
Due to a subsidiary JRE 11 B 188 1 R K 9,403 -
Borrowings BE 2,906,862 2,725,687
Total current liabilities MEBERE 4,189,395 3,374,407
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (4,006,092) (3,352,406)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBERE (4,006,092) (3,352,406)

NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FRBEE

Borrowings BE 30,000 30,000
Total non-current liabilities RBEERE 30,000 30,000
Net liabilities BEFE (4,036,092) (3,382,406)

DEFICIENCY IN ASSETS EEEM
Issued capital BEITRA 18,682 18,682
Reserves R (4,054,774) (3,401,088)
Net deficiency in assets EEEBAMFEE (4,036,092) (3,382,406)
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of KARNREEER_T_—F X A=1+H

the Company on 30 June 2021 and were signed on its behalf

by:

Lau Fu Wing, Eddie
BEZ&
Director

EF

}tt}’%jﬁx%?'ﬁ* WHATALTRERAR
jé% = EA

Choi Wai Hong, Clifford
BERE
Director

BF

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)



THE COMPANY (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #t

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

Notes to the Financial Statements

RN

2-FC

41. X 2P BRLEER 2

—F=A=+—HIFE

Note: B 5
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RARREERRET
Convertible
Share Capital instruments
premium  redemption  Contributed equity  Distributable  Shareholder's ~ Share option  Accumulated
account reserve surplus* reserve reserve  contribution** reserve losses Total
TRRIE
RfVEEE EREEGHE AARRr  BERE THOREE RRuLE- BRERE  Z0EB 4%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
LS BT AT AR UL AT Lo AT BETT
1 April 2019 “5-NERA-A 2,135,292 485 39,521 297,074 874,114 15,000 97350 (1,611,625 2,447,211
Issue of shares %R 40,500 - - - - - - - 40,500
Derecognition of convertile BIERAARTE
instruments - - - (297,074) - - - 297,074 -
Share option lapsed BRELH - - - - - - (43,994) 43,994 -
Loss and total comprehensive s~ AEEFERZAFEAE
for the year - - - - - - - (5888799  (5888,799)
At 31 March 2020 and RZEZRE=A=1-8
1 April 2020 R=Z-%EmA-A 2,775,792 485 39,521 - 874,114 15,000 53,35  (7,159,356)  (3,401,088)
Share option lapsed ERELH - - - - - - (533%) 53,356 -
Cancellation of share premium ~~ FERHEE (2,77579) - - - - - - 2759 -
Loss and total comprehensive FEEERR2EBRLE
loss for the year - - - - - - - (653,686) (653,686
At 31 March 2021 RZB--FZF=1-H - 485 39,521 - 874,114 15,000 - (4,983,894)  (4,054774)
* Contributed surplus * AR
The contributed surplus represented the difference between the BABMIEARARRETHRAEERRR
nominal value of the share capital issued by the Company and AR—ANZFRBEEESHRENNE
the underlying net tangible assets value of subsidiaries which AREMEBEE L EEFE L BNERE-
were acquired by the Company pursuant to the group
reorganisation in 1992.
**  Shareholder’s contribution o REHE

This reserve represented capital contribution from the then

shareholders upon the acquisition of subsidiaries in prior years.

ZRBEBEFEERBHELRRERHR

ROHE-

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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42. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Proposed restructuring

References are made to the announcements of the Company
dated 26 May 2021, 17 June 2021 and 24 June 2021 and the
Circular dated 26 May 2021.

On 26 May 2021, the Circular containing, among others,
details of (i) the Restructuring Deed; (ii) the Specific Mandate;
(iii) the Whitewash Waiver; (iv) the Special Deals; (v) the letter
from the independent financial adviser to the Independent
Shareholders; and (vi) a notice of the EGM has been
despatched to the Shareholders.

On 17 June 2021, the Company held an EGM for the purpose
of considering and passing the special and ordinary resolutions
of the Company and all the resolutions contemplated under
the Restructuring Deed were duly passed by the Shareholders
or the Independent Shareholders (as the case may be) by way
of poll at the EGM.

On 17 June 2021, all Conditions Precedent have been fulfilled
for the release of the proceeds of the First Loan from the
Designated Account to the ListCo Account for repayment to
the LC Secured Lender.

Accordingly, on 24 June 2021:

(i)  the proceeds of the First Loan (less the Retention Money)
was released from the Designated Account to the ListCo
Account, and subsequently paid to the LC Secured
Lender;

(i) the LC Secured Lender, FFIC, Freeman Corporation, AUL,
FUIL, the Company and the Provisional Liquidators
entered into a consent deed, pursuant to which the LC
Secured Lender, among others, granted the Consent to
the effect and intent that none of the Retained
Subsidiaries shall be held by any company (whether
directly or indirectly) the shares of which (i) have been
mortgaged to the LC Secured Lender or (ii) are subject to
any form of encumbrances whether created under or
otherwise resulting from the Facility Agreement and/or
the Share Mortgage;

42. HEREER

BEEA
BRMARARNBHA T -_—FRA
Zt+REZEZ—FRNA+TEEREZE
T—FRAZTWNBEZAEUKBEAE S
E_—FERA-F+ A NBZBHK-

RZZE-_—FFA-1+B #B (EFg
) (WEARE: ()FRIRE: ()5 %H
o (WERIR S (VB BEMBUE L
BREZEME: RVIBRRFIAGRE 2F
BZREEBTFETRE-

R-B=—FXA++R ARFRTH
REAAEG AR RBBAL 257
REBRER BEEREETRET
AR RN R R T B E GRT R
T 55 ) 34 BSR4 B A DA B2 B R B
2 IERAiA -

R-ZZFB-—FXNA+TLEBR MAELREN
EREK UiGE - FERMBRAELE
ERPERE T ARKRPIAMIFEQA
BERMERAER-

Aty R —FA-+WAH:

(i) F—FEFMERERFRESR)
RETRFERE LM ARERF, B
BN TPHEARFERERA

(i) HERRAABEFERA-FFIC-ER
PRRG  AEEE  FUILS AN D 7 K Be iS5 8
ANEIRAERE  BHFELRHE
BHEFA(EhaE) AEMERSE
MEARBEEERGOHEERTHE
AR EEAERAK)ZRARE
R RROEREEREE 2T
MERACERABEMR 2 AGFA
(EmEEIEE) 2RI RER:

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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42. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(Continued)
Proposed restructuring (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

FSL as assignor and the LC Secured Lender as assignee
entered into a deed of assignment, pursuant to which all
the right, title, benefits and interest in and arising from or
in respect of the residue sum that is left after FSL
completes the SSCL Disposal and uses the proceeds
generated therefrom to repay to the SSCL Secured
Creditor to settle all outstanding liabilities owing to the
SSCL Secured Creditor was assigned by FSL to the LC
Secured Lender; and

FSL, FCL, FPWML, FCFL(HK), People and FTL, each as an
assignor; and DUL, HFSL, FCFL(BVI), FU Securities and
Freeman Agency Services Limited, each as an assignee,
entered into a deed of assignment, pursuant to which the
Assets were assigned by the assignors to the assignees to
the effect that such Assets were assigned to companies
the shares of which have been (directly or indirectly)
mortgaged to the LC Secured Lender.

42. HEWEFEE &)

BEEM (&)
(i) RF|FEF (ER/EZEAN) EFIEAQ T

(iv)

EERHERAN(EAZEAN)GILE
BEE - BLEREER#eE(BR
BEFEHNRBEFHESENER
BWESZFIBRIBREEESFFGE
HERABTAGERNEBEEZSE
HHERAZAEEREEL ) EL
TS EAEERN EEF
HHRBEFFEETRARERFE
RN R

REEFESR RRPE RREHUE
ERE RRLERE (BE) 81K
RIZEL (ZFEELSEREA) EDUL
LHIRRT - FCFL(BVI) * FU Securities &2
Freeman Agency Services Limited
(BEERXBEAN)FIVEZERE &
HZEEEREEAEETEAN
Ntz EEEEEE KD HEM
(EEZEE) PREQRAETE
RALZRNA] e

RBEEHPMRERAR QA (CSEEHFEEA)
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Five Year Financial Summary

TFEUBME

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the published audited financial statements and

restated/reclassified/re-presented as appropriate, is set out below.

miE) &I -

AEEMAEMBRFRZEENUNREE . A
BRI SR ME (Fixa 0 TIREEZY
BRERUBESEHHE/EFLH (RBER

RESULTS KR
Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=+—HLEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
B —E-TF —T-NEF —_ZT-N\F —_ZT—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT AT AT BA¥Tr BETT
REVENUE W 26,173 68,529 (74,633) 500,469 108,285
Profit/(loss) before tax B AR (EE) (701,787) (3,840,665) (2,149,801) 324,384 408,195
Income tax credit/(expense)  PEHiE % (B) 95 1,818 (3,394) (21,362) 10,013
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR HERIEFI (&H18) (701,692) (3,838,847) (2,153,195) 303,022 418,208
Attributable to: THIALFEA
Ordinary equity holders of ZA/NS B i) g
the Company BEA (701,690) (3,838,847) (2,160,250) 269,894 418,208
Non-controlling interests JEEfR M = (2) - 7,055 33,128 -
(701,692) (3,838,847) (2,153,195) 303,022 418,208
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING BE ARLEFEEERESR
INTERESTS
As at 31 March
MR=B=+—8H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
B —F ZE-FF ZT-NF ZZTE-N\F ZT—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT AT AT BA¥Trr BETT
TOTAL ASSETS EEHRE 1,418,303 1,119,583 6,079,314 8,591,122 4,435,749
TOTAL LIABILITIES EEHAE (4,393,126) (3,450,814) (2,953,023) (3,579,767)  (969,987)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS JEiZ=pR#E 2% 2 - (669,581)  (707,614) -
(2,974,821) (2,331,231) 2,456,710 4,303,741 3,465,762

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED (Provisional Liquidators Appointed)
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